
cLb

10010845

3c4tMi
jp%

\A4I

r1

ii

IiiiiII

IIt



Iqih

ips
rf

._

55

55

SS

S\



4\

44

5444

71

45

s4f

45

44

1Ia

4445
44

444

444c44y
S5444

44

55
544SS SS454 54144444S

S4 544

54b5

44
45

54SS
SS

5k

4s





FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

and shares in thousands except per
share data

Summary of Operations for
year

ended December 3i 2009 2oo8

Net sales $2196343 $2604307

Operating profit 208269 197489

Net income attributable to common shareholders 133856 135158

Net sales before special items 2177463 2604307

Operating profit before special items 204402 262534

Net income attributable to common shareholders before special items 126400 176717

Share Data

Net income attributable to common shareholders
per

diluted share $2.28 $2.24

Net income attributable to common shareholders
per

diluted share 2.15 2.93

before special items

Dividends 0.80 0.76

Average diluted shares outstanding 58812 60298

Average basic shares outstanding 58473 59667

Financial Position at December 3i

Assets $2712898 $2774488

Netdebta 26921 183261

Equity 893702 745821

Market value of equityb 1792089 1008364

Market capitalization 1819010 1191625

Key Statistics

Operating margin 95% 7.6%

Operating margin before special items 9.4% 10.1

Return on average equity 16.7% 14.8%

Return before special items on adjusted average equity
15.7% 19.3%

Net debt to net capitalization 2.9% 19.7%

Certain non-GAAP measures shown above and in the Letter to Shareholders have been

provided to facilitate comparison with the
prior year Reconciliation of such amounts is provided

in the fold out table on pages and

Net debt
represents

total debt lest cash and cash
equivalents

Market value of
equity is the number of shares of common stock outstanding multiplied by the

period-end closing
stock

price

Market
capitalization is the market value of

equity plus net debt

Average equity
has been

adjusted
for the impact of

special items in 2009 zooS and 2007

Net capitalization is net debt plus equity
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On Offense Investing in Our Future 2009 Financial Results

Strengthening the front end of our businesses developing Sales of billion decline of i6% from the prior year

new products and improving customer metrics is the triad reflected core sales decline of 17% and unfavorable currency

of strategies we are using to win in the marketplace and
gain translation of 3% partially offset by 4% related to the

market share You will read about specific examples of each additional revenues of businesses acquired in oo8
of these strategies in subsequent sections of this report

Each of our five segments experienced decline in sales in
including the new business model utilizing an expanded

oo9 Only Aerospace Electronics had an increase in
global sales force in our Fluid Handling business the

operating profit for the year Our
quarterly operating profit

development of new applications for fiberglass reinforced

bottomed in the first
quarter

of the year and improved in each
plastic in Engineered Materials major new products that are

sequential quarter primarily as result of cost reductions
moving out of development at our Aerospace Electronics

taking hold and slight improvement in demand late in the
groups and new line of vending machines that can help

year
in the recreational vehicle 1W end market for our

operators increase sales by as much as 44 /o from our

Engineered Materials segment In the fourth quarter
Merchandising Systems segment

operating profit also benefited from an $18.9 million

The review and evaluation process for each of our businesses settlement with the Boeing Company and GE Aviation

tracks market share gains as key indicator of success Systems LLC which resolved our claims relating to the brake

We believe that capturing additional market share during control monitoring system for the Boeing 787

these difficult times coupled with our reduced cost base will

Within the Aerospace Electronics segment the Electronics
allow us to produce higher margins when orders improve

Group had higher operating profit in OO9 driven by stable

demand in the defense electronics business strong program

Reducing Costs execution and cost reduction efforts Aerospace Group sales

were affected by softening of the long-cycle commercial
The

original goal was to reduce costs by $75 million and
aerospace market but

operating profit increased because
we far exceeded that reaching $i75 million or 8% of sales

of decline in engineering expenses and the settlement with

Importantly our cost reduction efforts were crafted shaped
Boeing The settlement agreement also provided that Crane

and executed by the individual business units while they
supply contract will now be direct to Boeing and Crane has

continued to invest in sales marketing and new product resumed work on funded basis on modified version of

development initiatives This balanced approach individually new brake control monitoring system for the 787
tailored to each business unit allowed us to emerge as

stronger competitor with lower cost structure This has The Engineered Materials segment had sharply lower sales

not been without pain as 3oo people or o% of the and operating profit for the year reflecting weak demand

workforce have been dismissed and salary freezes reduced in all its major marketsrecreational vehicles transportation

bonuses furloughs and elimination of the 4oik match and building products Profit increased in the second half

all contributed to the results of oo9 reflecting cost-reduction efforts and an increase

in sales to RV manufacturers This business is focused on
Our cost actions were focused in three areas restructuring

developing new uses for its products such as interior

engineering spending and general expense reductions
liners for marine containers and composite floors for

Restructuring savings totaled $43 million and consisted of
transportation applications

plant closings and consolidations notably in Engineered

Materials and Merchandising Systems and company-wide Sales of the Fluid Handling segment were weak in the longer-

personnel reductions Engineering spending in our cycle energy chemical and pharmaceutical businesses

Aerospace Group was reduced by approximately $44 million as well as the short-cycle Maintenance Repair and Overhaul

inoo as both the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM completed MRO business Sales declined $ii million io%
first flight and two other major development projects neared reflecting core sales decrease of $i49 million i3% and

completion Finally general expenses were reduced $88 million unfavorable foreign currency of $7i million 6%partially

as everyone everywhere all io ooo-plus employees offset by acquisitions of $i o8 million 9%Operating profit

focused on finding less expensive and better ways to run our also declined reflecting
unfavorable

currency translation

Company We were never fancy company but we have and
deleveraging which was partially offset by cost-reduction

become even better at identifying and eliminating what is programs Over the last two years we have effected internal

nice but not necessary mergers whose larger scale enabled us to build global sales

force to aggressively capture market share in the fast-growing

markets of the Middle East and Asia



Sales of Merchandising Systems were sharply lower in 2009 2010 Outlook

reflecting weak conditions in its markets for both vending
Sales for oio are expected to be relatively flat compared with

machines and payment systems We remained profitable in

2009 despite the strong deleveraging effect of the steep sales
2009 at approximately $2.2 billion Core sales in Fluid

Handling and Merchandising Systems are projected to be flat
decline in large part because of outstanding cost control

and sales decline in Aerospace is expected to be offset byOur vending machine business is clearly market leader

modest sales increases in Engineered Materials Controls and
with innovative products in an industry that will recover

Electronics Higher Electronics sales reflect the Merrimac
with improvement in the economy With an installed base

of five million machines being serviced without the benefit
acquisition which more than offsets the GTC divestiture

of modern technology we have an additional exciting Our aoio earnings guidance is $2.5-$2.35 per diluted share

opportunity to install wireless
systems

that enable operators The guidance reflects the lower 2009 year-end cost base

to manage their vending machines online drop in overseas further declines in Aerospace engineering expense continued

gaming in
part due to regulation changes coupled with

cost savings initiatives and tax rate of 3o On comparable

reduced demand in retail vending and transportation basis and before special items 2009 earnings per
diluted

end-markets resulted in decline in payment systems share were $2.15

sales of 29% in 2009
This year was difficult for Crane employees at every

level of

Sales of our small Controls segment which sells to the
responsibility and in

every
location throughout the world

severely affected oil and gas and transportation markets am very proud of what they have accomplished and want

were off 38% 1112009 and as consequence the segment to thank them for their hard work and dedication

generated small operating loss

Bill Lipner member of Cranes board since 1999 has

decided not to seek re-election in order to devote more time

Financial Condition
to his businesses thank him for his service and valuable

counsel over the years would also like to thank all the
am pleased with the $i6i million in free cash flow that

members of the Board of Directors for their counsel through
our businesses generated in 2009 This io% increase

this challenging period and for all they have done to make
over 2008 was achieved notwithstanding $z million

Crane Co stronger company
discretionary pension contribution We ended the year

with $373 million in cash

Sincerely
While we know that cash is king in these difficult times

and we have been able to invest as needed in our businesses

while some competitors had to cut back our strategy
is to

use our free cash flow for acquisitions In 2009 we were

absorbing and integrating the two Fluid Handling acquisitions

we made toward the end of the prior year We continued our Eric Fast

comprehensive acquisition process
that involves all of our President and Chief Executhe

Officer

business leaders and in December we signed definitive
FSBRUARY 24 2010

agreement to acquire Merrimac Industries Inc leader in

the design and manufacture of RF microwave components

assemblies and micro-multifunction modules for $i6 per

share in cash or approximately $56 million In early February

we completed the acquisition
and Merrimac is operating as

part of our Electronics Group In December we sold GTC

part of the Electronics Group which had annual sales of

$26 million for $14.2 million



Ii rL ci

$7 eV iv

ti

vi

it

11



ghy hqu baance sheet ha eriahL jn

CErtiflU ifl in 11 hd idIni

1Y1 ra Co ut

KrtIlodc d1 ik
gil ru1 fl red rge

v1c for ice ppi1a1 or

ich ie O\ ii iii pi Lw Ki oi

t1 Fod1Ji r1l lohal nirh \t rc

Iern id br hj r\p

CrdI uer ha nifici in

Lii taking Iconib pi ucis into nk

1111 nC poduc it using nC

rr it onibaci OCJE Wfl

flrl II ane in Pharni

tJI1 Cd itri OF5 i/ 11011 of th Jd

icn \dTE LILT

flr c\ hui ss rn of 1ì

l1i hch ri ied orsoI dat
rig

unLcr of siing uriis orii
ig

rila Let cu ha b-
TI pi su

UI

rid din product 1ire and hoc

dirlsForis Fi FddFIFOF rir has IfliFi trU

00 55 Fiproic ff15 nt lId apaFFciorL

11FF hFl
imO FL Si 00 tSlcF lcd

ohal iii ci inn

55

5/



Lower overhead1 as is suit cc nm id cog

iit pia is into lit help rigin cii ci

blaterials cone nih drastic si rh ing of

its is creati rl tehele trirsporta ion and

uiid iog mar Lets in 20 Thi se fiie pTa its

ham
supt iior ed cells it1 ml suilien it

apac ti1
hindle icreacs in ii ii

lien ii okets turn bus
ope at rng

1cm
rage

should he an importan Iaetui

ii Inn sal mu en to more noi nial let els

the meantime Enginee red ha rials

det eloping neo nnovalisc ar use its

ii

bergtass in plastl RP in non

traditional markets or insti tee RP is

helping to reduce signi lieaotlr the cost of

hippi ng ci mu ia marine ii rn

Ri it ed marine eor lainers ing built

in China air Ut i/log FliP mien its bmeh

oker high performance less eiohi and

savinm on fuel costs fIr the opeiator

1eseioprient of an all FliP tontainer

also on tht horiron

Signicantly lowering cnsts witl smaller V1V pu kaglig mat cots tia 121 Vi rat to net le Lsol

env ronmental footprint ard greater per
oocd ao lea Vdhoaid in ilucir and si

Jiif
ggp panels It team ha

custo er satisfaction ois ih hr iog he rin robe of eomp em sen ers to ic des etoped procc ss to address the piod uc tion

eomf co ion ma is snttect oni 09 tocrgs oosumnt or diffie
itty

thit pres iouslr ha nipemed effui

Katier men at ngi cit taterials hit mc cycle ERR It taLes onsti from the
In in of sc amon pi otessionat

focused on in moi og coo green \t ci ion ufacturi ng proc ss and gene males

Fr net red Materm toe is significant
snaIl ring all the that aifeete undo cm stream ol material that can hr used

portion ol ttit ii time on in naum hat nit
iii rococo tat iuipai lit bun ness it ith to no he pa or filler Thc goal is to esnarid

nod foi sustri ting hr simon it and
set coil nit miii in tud hr use of this technologs and olli et

goo 01 hnsin ss TIn serinenr Fat hr

is ta mon its tlor On reei log pi tessi te np asre otd Flip panels us omens
king to use more is mred PhV V/Oils Vr

bin ii ci ntua ly tui rung that ii ott to hr ci th pio its pro Vied1 fed roducing
aianuln turing to educe the use

supolir rs len it oas to lo Iger usahte hy henetits for both ranc and thc cot irorunent
in roche on als antI to

go usto mners



.s

-s-

.-

._

-A
-z

55

SS

55
555.- 4sç

StS
SSS

-- 5S5

fS 55

SS

IL



ooking dose the in icroocop he ion

01111101 fitS 1110 IlIddetO ed Ceo ne irons

010011 litre C0h to ondelS an 111 at

nual tosenihli 01110 he olon and
.a aject to

cr01 In the h05111 so us old Pc 9oiie

of tIO Coo hoT 011 it noold ic el to

001 iiii to P11 do tb 100110 the tarL tphiee

and Cr on stan so tih the In pi ot and

to mf o0dnt ostoniero Lacking 01 oIL he

id on hc ii oscO tam Boo 11 os

ior 111 1015 to 001001 IC
911 11UU

11 dine

ii co sig oa lea en of rio noun \f oh

dli 0011 10 aec th husi as hl to lie

11111 10 910910100 11 et 11 tO

ci eierdtn1f mode to otorun ioducoo

tlil1 110101

oi

Zeroing ir on ella 1101 cr11 1051 11 II ci io

at On Cr inc Osl ci

loaf en coc ii 1st 011 Kaiz nsit

loe ii 11 20 ida to aloe cOOl

.9111.1
010 lOdi 11001 anla

dPrIiIled sgrtilrn or iaoote 10 111111Cr 11

000 llIlatO
91 leoe

on nas too ouch aotc
fig genes red

lie 0100Cr ill ofaiastc aiithin the to

Sec 05I0 arid ntai tot Clii
191e

liii

1110 en heing lcngt In ned oa sOc

Par dloi0 nnthods trr plerneotil91 solit o1l

to if cse piohlems -oahled tin faeltt

iritproo ustot icr metrics ai coo ha

ahoot $ya anoulll 001inCs from

rho au iand thers like oir peanancoc

bin ausi of tin ii Focus on eha C0 505



cr

tsa

till

au a1



1/ido angr ad oit

Sf1 iiOIr11 \SI 00000

II Ii IIc Or if dOt fI IC SI

110 51 110 11 10 III lc 10

fl1 111 Jo ir ilFIll .51

11 110 101.0 00ff

IpdoIl1 10 cot 10 IF1I 11

11 01 III III 11

II If Fl Id 10 101

II 011 II If

tie iioj oo duo 010
if

III

110.01 Ri111151 rlUllIRf

II 11 110 II

Ill 001110 Ii

Wk ket ooce tar
111 lI

115
111 ii So LI

010 II lilIlIlj 111000 1001 01 511110
Of Cl OIr5 00 00 1IlI

\f hd0 10111 1111

11111 11 11 Fl

00 100 ifi

001 fll lId

III FIJI lIlI ill ci ii

4111111111

OlOf Ii
115

0001

flif 1111 1.111

ed Fl Di of. So 110 1111

od0 11 If ho if
ii

1d LFC foo

foi dl 00 ofi dii 1111 ir

II 1111115
ho 1l

Wder Ilerchondl ng pabI Itles 111

1111 II 10 ii od cii to 0111 Sf1 Fi III

011
11

f11
Sot So IL Siy 1l0 SOIl 11101 11

II li ill 10 too II Io Ii 00 11

II duo Oil 15 11 10

1011111 too 10 III 11 11

10 00 05 0.10101 Cii dcl 10 fIll1100
ii

II
Ifi

II SIc ufc 01 Iii

1101 100 11111001 IIi1

1101 0011011Ff ii OF II

1011 II Fl 10111 di



s--.-

00 00

G0
00



aaa

aaa

17

\a hp4fl

iiiui11

ovet ioo g1oba locations ie fin fin \i ii tat Fr de
tliitp an or tithe ncda oninirtp

it it It
ttft

ma na aciair in In CXI ian him hen tna feet aptndntl ft tip eni petpe

ra we at
fltn

nft ii me tie ni np iO ii pta ima ne itt no at it nop Fe an

af ni Lea Ia it tim amiraap wi ti nor \tiddl tat itt dat Ito tftre nit im to anlVI he to an toathe

limomi Pa flirt
ft meiti am tI ti atiha in it ci ma mit pna

Pp itititi tree fit Lit 01 trteaa
it ii no ii nnaa tea o\irtgi titm itm1 ipolilte ml aattea nit ltl\

in Chic oiitiae taft tent Fort ant pie
ta th mu idIt ili in 01 IC IF am op tod itt LI rita

LIt in hoPtm nirihn
Ci tietita ii tr Ft trttemr iii hit re net tr ittl cii ir

1t

attia etr

ttnnle poor plarti real Iti ttppnritt itt

elia tOO \htl In Me tie ni lit II
tI

liii lii
tp an it ui eta

Pt mrte \ttni ii dtitt unit atet

Jolt in in the nite the roe nlteitt iln Ci lathe ro an \t tap Ce

he ret at on rat et Ia lit tire am it rid are ii mat

nan cite lit in till tat ha iii let Mi nit in tail Ia

ftt iii hr Cftioa etritF

tgirtt
re

tilt lea Of liar eta wa oeuitth of all lila nina tili ttatl dpt

Mat it tla .haa aatm fteojtln eaaiog mo
thu ii ra \ttam Cu itt at ti iii

lit il ii ci 0tIt 01 tat ii ti Pc or Ia liP ire Peat ciii ktetaka

hIde Mt ten Fe tianmpit
ii ti ae to tic tta ne re iieiett Ic

liii
tel dl tai lie tttia

ft ni It
cm va pr nia an tpprta

rnammr liii ee tfii itt lip in tart lit/i \leitlaandtai iphiac ma Ictaitern
rh tile an ai ire aa lit tfte

eli
it iii tlitn ii tie it yr loittmo Chit clii lopotic i1a oh ti iei

pptmit tr aritiF imp toalttttln nt irni tP ttn irtix eae rtaan ante ti
Ilrtrri

tex hoar aa jn Pod it alit ma 11 Ii tnum Pt Ci tn he win in ii aipoi netrut oppe or ta ill

Ia tin ar it in Ox naae ren af na mint ltaa in rain Pt
tae

Fleteoriea

Fit ipn it ai ott he attn ice



IS

.s

ItI

fi

VL
VV

VVVSitu VV

VV VV

atV
VV

VVV
VV

VV

VVV
VV

VV

VV

iVV VV

VVVqU
VV

VVVV VVV

VV

VV VV

4L4V
\VV VV VV

VV tVJ\l1

VVV
VV



CRANE CO 100 FIRST STAMFORD PLACE STAMFORD CT 06902-6784

CHRISTOPHER DEE

DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL 203.363.7210

ASSISTANT SECRETARY cdee@craneco.com

March 2010

By FedEx

Securities and Exchange Commission

450 Fifth Street NW
Washington DC 20549

Attention 1934 Act Filing

Re Crane Co Proxy Solicitation Materials and Annual Report

Ladies and Gentlemen

Enclosed for filing pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 4a-6b please find eight definitive

copies of the Notice of Annual Meeting Proxy Statement form of proxy and all other
soliciting

materials relating to Crane Co.s annual meeting to be held on April 19 2010 in the same form

as the materials that are to be sent to shareholders beginning on March 2010 The Notice of

Annual Meeting Proxy Statement and form of proxy will also be filed electronically with the

Commission no later than the date such materials are first mailed to shareholders

Also enclosed solely for the information of the Commission pursuant to Exchange Act

Rule 14a-3c are seven copies of the Crane Co 2009 Annual Report which is to be mailed to

shareholders of Crane Co in connection with the annual meeting

Kindly acknowledge receipt of these materials by date-stamping the enclosed copy of

this letter and returning it in the enclosed postage-paid envelope

Verytruly yours

Christopher Dee

Enclosures

I\LEGAL\CD\17 SEC Corp Fin Tax\ProxyStatement\2010\Filing fetters20lO.doc
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PART ITEM

Part
Reference herein to Crane we us and our refer to Crane

Forward Looking Inform ati Co and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically states or

implies otherwise Amounts in the following discussion are pre
This Annual Report on Form io-K contains information about us

sented in millions except employee share and per
share data or

some of which includes forward-looking statements within the
unless otherwise stated

meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 995

Forward-looking statements are statements other than historical

information or statements about our current condition You can
Item Business

identify forward-looking statements by the use of terms such as We are diversified manufacturer of highly engineered industrial

believes contemplates expects may will could
products Comprised of five segmentsAerospace Electronics

should would or anticipates other similarphrases or the
Engineered Materials Merchandising Systems Fluid Handling and

negatives of these terms
Controls our businesses give us substantial presence

in focused

We have based the forward-looking statements relating to our oper- niche markets producing sustainable returns and excess cash flow

ations on our current expectations estimates and projections about Our primary markets are aerospace defense electronics recrea

us and the markets we serve We caution you that these statements are tional vehicle RV transportation automated merchandising

not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and chemical pharmaceutical oil gas power nuclear building serv

uncertainties These statements should be considered in conjunction ices and utilities

with the discussion in Part the information set forth under Item iA
Since our founding in 1855 when R.T Crane resolved to conduct

Risk Factors and with the discussion of the business included in

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Con- my business in the strictest honesty and fairness to avoid all

dition and Results of Operations We have based many of these
deception and trickery to deal fairly with both customers and

forward-looking statements on assumptions about future events that
competitors to be liberal and just toward employees and to put my
whole mind upon the business we have been committed to the

may prove to be inaccurate Accordingly our actual outcomes and

results may differ materially from what we have expressed or forecast
highest standards of business conduct

in the forward-looking statements Any differences could result from Our strategy is to grow the earnings of niche businesses with lead-

variety of factors including the following ing market shares acquire businesses that fit strategically with

Current economic conditions which are beyond our control existing businesses aggressively pursue operational and strategic

causing many of our existing and potential customers to linkages among our businesses build performance culture

continue to delay or reduce purchases of our products or focused on continuous improvement continue to attract and retain

services
committed management team whose interests are directly aligned

with those of our shareholders and maintain focused efficient

Our ability to properly size our cost base in relation to any
corporate structure

further declines in demand for our products

Competitive pressures including the need for technology
We use comprehensive set of business processes

and operational

improvement successful new product development and excellence tools that we call the Crane Business System to drive con

introduction and
any inability to pass

increased costs of raw tinuous improvement throughout our businesses Beginning with

materials to customers
core value of integrity the Crane Business System incorporates

Voice of the Customer teachings specific processes designed to

Our ability to successfully value and integrate acquisition
capture our customers requirements value stream analysis linking

candidates
customers and suppliers with our production cells prescriptive and

Economic social and political instability currency
fluctuation uniform visual management techniques and broad range of opera-

and other risks of doing business outside of the United States tional excellence tools into disciplined strategy deployment process

Delays in launching or supplying new products or an inability
that drives strong financial results by focusing on continuously

to achieve new product sales objectives
improving safety quality delivery and cost

Our ongoing need to attract and retain highly qualified We employ approximately ioooo people in North and South Amer

personnel and key management ica Europe the Middle East Asia and Australia Revenues from

outside the United States were approximately 4o% in both oo9The ability of the U.S government to terminate our contracts
and 2oo8 and 38% in oo7

The outcomes of legal proceedings claims and contract

disputes Business Segments
Investment performance of our pension plan assets and

fluctuations in interest rates which may affect the amount and
For additional information on recent business developments and

timing of future pension plan contributions
other infQrmation about us and our business you should refer to

the information set forth under the captions Managements Dis
Adverse effects on our business and results of operations as

cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

whole as result of further increases in asbestos claims or the
Operations in Part II Item of this

report as well as in Part II

cost of defending and settling such claims and
Item under Note 14 Segment Information to the Consolidated

Adverse effects as result of further increases in Financial Statements for sales operating profit and assets

environmental remediation activities costs and related claims employed by each segment
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Aerospace Electronics Our Microwave Systems solution set includes sophisticated elec

tronic radio frequency components and subsystems These prod-
The Aerospace Electronics segment has two groups the Aero

ucts are used in defense electronics applications that include radar

space Group and the Electronics Group The Aerospace Groups
electronic warfare suites communications systems and data links

products are organized into the following solution sets which are
We supply many U.S Department of Defense prime contractors and

designed manufactured and sold under their respective brand
foreign allied defense organizations with products that enable mis

names Landing Systems Hydro-Aire Sensing and Utility Systems
sile seekers and guidance systems aircraft sensors for tactical and

Eldec Fluid Management Lear Romec and Cabin Systems P.L
intelligence applications surveillance and reconnaissance mis-

Porter The Electronics Group products are organized into the
sions communications and self-protect capabilities for naval yes-

following solution sets Power Solutions Eldec Keltec Interpoint
sels sensors and communications capability on unmanned aerial

Microwave Systems Signal Technolor and Microelectronics

systems
and applications for mounted and dismounted land combat

Interpoint In 2oo8 Aircraft Electrical Power portion of the

troops
Facilities are located in Beverly Massachusetts and Chan

Eldec business was reclassified from the Aerospace Group to the
dler Arizona

Electronics Group as part of Power Solutions

Our Microelectronics solution set headquartered in Redmond
The Landing Systems solution set includes aircraft brake control

Washington designs manufactures and sells custom miniature
and anti-skid systems including electro-hydraulic servo valves and

hybrid electronic circuits for applications in commercial space
manifolds embedded software and rugged electronic controls

and military aerospace fiber optics and medical industries

hydraulic control valves landing gear sensors and fuel pumps as

original equipment to the commercial transport business region- The Aerospace Electronics segment employed approximately

al general aviation military and government aerospace repair and people and had assets of $436 million at December 31 2009

overhaul markets This solution set also includes similar systems The order backlog totaled $351.0 million and $418.4 million at

for the retrofit of aircraft with improved systems as well as December 31 2009 and 2oo8 respectively

replacement parts for systems installed as original equipment by

aircraft manufacturers All of these solution sets are proprietary to Engineered Materials

us and are custom designed to the requirements
and specifications

The Engineered Materials segment is largely comprised of the
of the aircraft manufacturer or program contractor These

systems
Crane Composites fiberglass-reinforced plastic panel business

and replacement parts are sold directly to aircraft manufacturers
The segment also includes the Polyflon business

Tier integrators company who makes products specifically for

an aircraft manufacturer airlines governments and aircraft Crane Composites manufactures fiberglass-reinforced plastic panels

maintenance and overhaul companies Manufacturing for Landing for the transportation industry in refrigerated and dry-van trailers

Systems is located in Burbank California and truck bodies RVs industrial building applications and the

commercial construction industry for food processing restaurants
The Sensing and Utility Systems solution set includes custom posi-

and supermarket applications Crane Composites sells the majority
tion indication and control systems proximity sensors pressure

of its products directly to trailer and RVmanufacturers and uses dis
sensors and true mass fuel flow meters for the commercial busi-

tributors and retailers to serve the commercial construction market
ness regional and general aviation military repair and overhaul

Since the fourth quarter of 2008 Crane Composites closed three
and electronics markets These products are custom designed for

facilities in connection with manufacturing consolidation initiatives

specific aircraft to meet technically demanding requirements of the
Crane Composites manufacturing facilities are located in Joliet

aerospace industry Our Sensing and Utility Systems products are
Illinois Jonesboro Arkansas Florence Kentucky Goshen Indiana

manufactured at facilities in Lynnwood Washington Northants
and Alton Hampshire United Kingdom

England and Lyon France

Noble Composites Inc Noble was acquired in September 2006
Our Fluid Management solution set includes lubrication and fuel

and during 2007 was integrated into Crane Composites Noble

pumps for aircraft and radar cooling systems
for the commercial

specializes in the manufacture and sale of premium high-gloss
and military aerospace industries It also includes fuel boost and

finished composite panels used by RV manufacturers Nobles
transfer pumps for commuter and business aircraft Our Fluid

manufacturing facility is located in Goshen Indiana In September
Management solutions are manufactured at facility located in

2007 we acquired the composite panel business of Owens Corning
Elyria Ohio

which produces high gloss fiberglass-reinforced plastic panels used

Our Cabin Systems solution set includes motion control products by manufacturers of RYs The acquired business was integrated into

for airline seating We hold leading positions in both electro the Noble business during 2008

mechanical actuation and hydraulic/mechanical actuation for air-

Polyflon is manufacturer of specialty components and materials
craft seating selling directly to seat manufacturers and to the

primarily microwave substrates utilized in antenna applications
airlines Our Cabin Systems solutions are primarily manufactured

Polyflon is located in Norwalk Connecticut

in Burbank California

The Engineered Materials segment employed approximately 6oo
Our Power Solutions solution set includes standard and custom

people and had assets of $262 million at December 31 2009 The

power converters and custom miniature hybrid electronic circuits

order backlog totaled $12.1 million and $6.9 million at

for applications across various markets including commercial
December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

space
and military aerospace

and fiber optics Facilities are located

in Redmond and Lynnwood Washington Ft Walton Beach Flori

da and Kaohsiung Taiwan
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Me rch rid sing Systems valve flow solutions for the power oil and gas and chemical mar

kets which complement our product offering in our global power
The Merchandising Systems segment is divided into two groups

Vending Solutions and Payment Solutions both of which were sig-

and energy infrastructure business particularly for larger diame

nificantly expanded in 2006 with our investment of over $2oo mu- ter highly-engineered valves In addition to Krombachs manu

lion for the acquisitions of four complementary businesses
facturing and headquarters location in Germany Krombach

currently has foundiy machining and assenThly facilities in

Our Vending Solutions business which is primarily engaged in the Slovenia and China

design and manufacture of vending equipment and related sol

utions creates customer value through innovation by improving
Delta Fluid Products Limited Delta was acquired in September

consumer experience and store profitability Our products are sold
2008 and has been integrated into our Building Services Utilities

to vending operators and food and beverage companies throughout
business unit Delta designs and manufactures products for the

the world Vending Solutions has leading positions in both the
natural gas and building services markets which are complementary

direct and indirect distribution channels Our solutions include
to Cranes Building Services Utilities product lines Deltas office

and manufacturing operation is located in St Helens England
vending management software to help customers operate their

businesses more profitably become more competitive and free
Crane Pumps Systems manufactures pumps under the trade

cash for continued business investment During 2009 facility names Deming Weinman Burks and Barnes Pumps are sold to

consolidation activities resulted in the closure of the St Louis
broad customer base that includes industrial municipal and

Missouri manufacturing facility Major production facilities for commercial water and wastewater commercial heating ventilation

Vending Solutions are located inWilliston South Carolina and and air-conditioning industries and original equipment manu
Chippenham England facturers and military applications Crane Pumps Systems has

Our Payment Solutions business provides high technology products
facilities in Piqua Ohio Bramalea Ontario Canada and Zhejiang

serving
four global vertical markets Retail Vending Gaming and China

Transportation Our payment systems solutions for these markets
Crane Supply distributor of valves fittings piping and plumbing

include coin accepters
and dispensers bill validators and bill

supplies maintains 31 distribution facilities throughout Canada

recyclers Major facilities are located in Buxtehude Germany

Concord Ontario Canada Kiev Ukraine and Salem New Hamp- The Fluid Handling segment employed approximately 5000 people

shire and had assets of $832 million at December 31 2009 Order backlog

totaled $249.9 million and $302.7 million at December 31 2009
The Merchandising Systems segment employed approximately

and 2008 respectively
1500 people and had assets of $297 million at December 31 2009
Order backlog totaled $23.5 million and $23.4 million at

Controls
December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

The Controls segment provides customer solutions for sensing and
Fluid Handling

control applications andhas special expertise in controlsolutions

The Fluid Handling segment consists of the Crane Valve Group for difficult and hazardous environments It includes five busi

Valve Group Crane Pumps Systems and Crane Supply The nesses Barksdale ride-leveling air-suspension control valves

Valve Group business units are as follows Crane ChemPharma Flow pressure temperature and level sensors Dynalco safe instru

Solutions Crane Energy Flow Solutions and Building Services ments and controls for industrial engine monitoring and

Utilities During 2009 Crane Valve Services was made part of protection Azonix ultra-rugged computers mobile rugged dis

Crane Energy Flow Solutions in order to better serve our global plays measurement and control systems and intelligent data

customers in the nuclear power market acquisition products Crane Environmental specialized water

purification solutions and Crane Wireless Monitoring Solutions
The Valve Group with manufacturing facilities in the United States

wireless sensor networks and covert radio products
as well as operations inAustralia Belgium Canada China Eng

land Finland France Germany Hungary India Indonesia Italy The Controls segment employed approximately 400 people and had

Japan Korea Mexico the Netherlands Northern Ireland Singa- assets of $70 million at December 31 2009 Order backlog totaled

pore Slovenia Spain Sweden Taiwan United Arab Emirates and $28.0 million and $30.5 million at December 31 2009 and 2008

Wales sells wide variety of industrial and commercial valves respectively

corrosion-resistant plastic-lined pipe pipe fittings couplings

connectors and actuators and provides valve testing parts and
Acquisitions

services for the chemical processing pharmaceutical oil and gas

power nuclear mining waste management general industrial and We have completed 12 acquisitions since the beginning of 2005

commercial construction industries Products are sold under the
On February 2010 we completed the acquisition of Merrimac

trade names Crane Saunders Jenkins Pacific Xomox Krombach
Industries Inc Merrimac designer and manufacturer of RF

DEPA ELRO REVO Flowseal Centerline Stockham Wask Viking Microwave components subsystem assemblies and micro
Johnson Hattersley Nabic Sperryn Wade Rhodes Brownall

multifunction modules by means of cash tender offer and sub
Resistoflex and Duochek

sequent merger Merrimacs 2009 sales were approximately $32

The Kronibach Group of Companies Krombach was acquired in million and the
aggregate purchase price was approximately $6

December 2008 and has been integrated into our Crane Energy million in cash Merrimac will be integrated into the Electronics

Flow Solutions business unit Krombach manufactures specialty Group within our Aerospace Electronics segment
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During 2oo8 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $79 In June 2oo6 we acq-uired certain assets of Automatic Products

million in cash and the assumption of $17 million of net debt International AP privately held manufacturer of vending

Goodwill for the 2oo8 acquisitions amounted to $14 million equipment In September oo6 additional assets of AP were

acquired and second payment made for total purchase price of

In December oo8 we acquired all of the capital stock of
$30 million The acquisition included APs extensive distribution

Krombach KronThach is leading manufacturer of specialty valve network product line designs and trade names manufacturing

flow solutions for the power oil and gas and chemical markets
equipment aftermarket parts business inventory and other related

Kronibachs 2oo8 full year sales were approximately $ioo million
assets The purchase did not include APs manufacturing facility

and the purchase price was $51 million in cash and the assumption located in St Paul Minnesota AP equipment production was con-

of $17 million of net debt Krombach was integrated into the Energy solidated into the Vending Solutions business in our Merchandis

Flow Solutions business within our Fluid Handling segment ing Systems segment AP had total annual sales of $40 million in

2oo6
In September 2oo8 we acquired all of the capital stock of Delta

leading designer and manufacturer of regulators and fire safe valves In September 2oo6 we acquired all the outstanding capital stock of

for the gas industry and safety valves and air vent valves for the Noble Composites Inc Noble for cash purchase price of $72

building services market for $28 million in cash Delta had full
year

million Noble located in Goshen Indiana specializes in the

sales of $39 million in oo8 and was integrated into the Building manufacture and sale of premium high-gloss finished composite

Services Utilities business within our Fluid Handling segment panels for use by RV manufacturers Noble had annual sales of $37

million in oo5 Noble was integrated into our Engineered Materi

During 2007 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $6 als segment
million Goodwill for the 2007 acquisitions amounted to $29 mil

lion
In October 2oo6 we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of

Dixie-Narco Inc Dixie-Narco for purchase price of $46 mil

In September 2007 we acquired the composite panel business of lion in cash Dixie-Narco is the largest can/bottle merchandising

Owens Corning which produces among other products high gloss equipment manufacturer in the world Dixie-Narcos customers

fiberglass reinforced plastic panels used in the manufacture of RVs include the major soft drink companies in addition equipment is

The purchase price was $38 million in cash The acquired business marketed to global vending operators Dixie-Narco had total annual

had $40 million of sales in 2006 and was integrated into the Noble sales of $155 million in 2006 Dixie-Narco was integrated into the

Composites business within our Engineered Materials segment Vending Solutions business in our Merchandising Systems seg
ment

In August 2007 we acquired the Mobile Rugged Business of Kon

tronAmerica Inc MRB which produces computers elec-
During 2005 we completed two acquisitions at total cost of $9

million Goodwill for the 2005 acquisitions amounted to $5 million
tronics and flat panel displays for harsh environment applications

The purchase price was $26.6 million The acquired business had
Divestitu res

sales of $25 million in 2006 and was integrated into the Azonix

business within our Controls segment During 2009 we sold General Technology Corporation GTC to

IEC Electronics Corp for $14.2 million GTC also known as Crane

During 2006 we completed five acquisitions at total cost of $283 Electronic Manufacturing Services was included in ourAero
million Goodwill for the 2006 acquisitions amounted to $148 mil-

space Electronics segment as part of the Electronics Group GTC
lion had $26 million in sales in 2009 and is located in Albuquerque

New Mexico
In January 2006 we acquired substantially all of the assets of Cash-

Code Co Inc CashCode manufacturer of bill validators In December 2007 together with our partner Emerson Electric

storage and recycling devices for use in variety of niche applica- Co we sold the Industrial Motion Control LLC IMC joint yen

tions invending gaming retail and transportation industries for ture generating proceeds to us of $33 million Our investment in

$86 million in cash CashCode had sales of $48 million in 2005 IMC was $29 million and we recorded income in 2007 and 2006 of

CashCode is located in Concord Ontario Canada and Kiev $5.3 million and $.6 million respectively

Ukraine serving global marketplace with 75% of its sales outside
In April 2006 we completed the sale of the outstanding capital

the United States ofwhichthe majority are in Europe and Russia
stock of Westad IndustriAlS Westad small specialtyvalve

CashCode was integrated into the Payment Solutions business
business located in Norway This business had $25 million in sales

within our Merchandising Systems segment fl 2005 Westad was included in our Fluid Handling segment In

In June 2006 we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of
May 2006 we completed the sale of substantially all of the assets of

Telequip Corporation Telequip for cash purchase price of $45
Resistoflex-Aerospace manufacturer of high-performance hose

million Telequip with headquarters in Salem New Hampshire
and high-pressure fittings located in Jacksonville FL This busi

ness had sales of $16 million in 2005 Resistoflex-Aerospace was
has manufactured coin dispensing solutions since 1974 Telequip

included in our Aerospace Electronics segment
provides embedded and free-standing coin dispensing solutions

principally focused on applications in supermarkets convenience
Cost Reduction Activities

stores quick-service restaurants and self-checkout and kiosk

equipment markets Telequip had total annual sales of $20 million During the fourth quarter
of 2008 in

response
to disruptions in the

in 2006 Telequip was integrated into the Payment Solutions busi- credit markets and substantially weakening global economy we

ness within our Merchandising Systems segment initiated broad-based restructuring actions in order to align our
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cost base to expected lower levels of demand These actions Our engineering and product development activities are directed

included headcount reductions and select facility consolidations primarily toward improvement of existing products and adaptation

As result in the fourth
quarter

of 2oo8 we recorded pre-tax
of existing products to particular customer requirements as well as

restructuring and related charges in the business segments totaling the development of new products While we own numerous patents

$40.7 million which at the end of 2oo8 correlated to an estimated trademarks copyrights trade secrets and licenses to intellectual

pre -tax savings of $37 million for 2009 Together with an antici- property none are of such importance that termination would

pated $25 million reduction in Aerospace engineering spending materially affect our business From time to time however we do

along with other general expense cost reduction efforts we engage in litigation to protect our intellectual property

expected at the end of 2oo8 aggregate
full

year 2009 savings of $75

million Research and Development

During 2009 as sales levels declined further than expected we Research and development costs are expensed when incurred

continually accelerated our productivity programs to ensure our These costs were $98.7 million $153.4 million and $io6.8 million

cost base was sized appropriately and to maximize cash flow Based
in 2009 2oo8 and 2007 respectively and were incurred primarily

on the traction of our cost savings initiatives including substantial
by the Aerospace Electronics segment Funds received from

reductions in engineering expense and other general expense cate-
customer-sponsored research and development projects were $8.i

gories we raised our initial 2009 savings target from $75 million to million $15.5 million and $8.4 million in 2009 2oo8 and 2007

in excess of $150 million for the full year We exceeded our revised
respectively and were recorded in net sales

target achieving full-year savings of approximately $175 million or

8% of2oo9 total sales Our Customers

Since December 2007 excluding the impact of acquisitions and
No customer accounted for more than io% of our consolidated

divestitures total headcount has been reduced by approximately
revenues in 2009 2oo8 or 2007

2300 or 20%

During the fourth
quarter

of 2007 we commenced implementation Raw Materials

of restructuring program designed to further enhance operating
Our manufacturing operations employ wide variety of raw materi

margins in the Fluid Handling segment The planned actions

als including steel copper cast iron electronic components
included ceasing the manufacture of malleable ironand bronze fit-

aluminum plastics and various petroleum-based products We
tings at our foundry operating facilities in the UK and Canada

respectively and exiting both facilities and transferring production
purchase raw materials from large number of independent sour-

to China In December 2007 pursuant to this program we sold our
ces around the world Although market forces have generally caused

foundry facility in the UK generating pre-tax gain of $28 million
increases in the costs of steel and petroleum-based products there

have been no raw materials shortages that have had material

For additional segment level information related to restructuring adverse impact on our business and we believe that we will gen
activities you should refer to the information set forth under the

erally be able to obtain adequate supplies of major raw material

caption Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial
requirements or reasonable substitutes at reasonable costs

Condition and Results of Operations in Part II Item of this

report as well as in Part II Item under Note i6 Restructuring Seasonal Nature of Business

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our business does not experience significant seasonality

Competitive Conditions

Our lines of business are conducted under highly competitive con-
Government Contracts

ditions in each of the geographic and product areas they serve We have agreements relating to the sale of products to government

Because of the diversity of the classes of products manufactured and
entities primarily involving products in our Aerospace Elec

sold they do not compete with the same companies in all geo- tronics business segment and our Fluid Handling business seg

graphic or product areas Accordingly it is not possible to estimate
merit As result we are subject to various statutes and regulations

the precise
number of competitors or to identify our competitive that apply to companies doing business with the government The

position although we believe that we are principal competitor
in

laws and regulations governing government contracts differ from

most of our markets Our principal method of competition is pro- those governing private contracts For example many government

duction of quality products at competitive prices in timely and
contracts require disclosure of cost and pricing data and impose

efficient manner certain sourcing conditions that are not applicable to private con-

Our products have primary application in the aerospace defense tracts Our failure to comply with these laws could result in

electronics RV transportation
automated merchandising suspension of these contracts criminal or civil sanctions admin

chemical pharmaceutical oil gas power nuclear building serv- istrative penalties and fines or suspension or debarment from

ices and utilities As such our revenues are dependent upon government contracting or subcontracting for period of time For

numerous unpredictable factors including changes in market example as previously disclosed we sold certain valves made by

demand general economic conditions and capital spending our Fluid Handling segment to private customers that ultimately

Because these products are also sold in wide variety of markets were delivered to U.S military agencies
which did not conform to

and applications we do not believe we can reliably quantify or pre-
certain contractual specifications relating to the place of manu

dict the possible effects upon our business resulting from such facture and the origin of component parts Subsequent to U.S

changes
Government investigation in July 2007 we executed settlement



PART ITRM

agreement with the Department of Justice providing for among In September 2003 we issued $2oo million of 5.50% notes that

other things the payment of $7.6 million to the United States For mature on September 15 a13 The notes are unsecured senior

further discussion of risks related to compliance with government obligations with interest payable semi-annually on March 15 and

contracting requirements please refer to Item iA Risk Factors September of each year The notes have no sinking fund

See Part Item Legal Proceedings regarding certain costs of requirement but maybe redeemed in whole or in part at our

compliance with federal state and local laws and regulations option These notes do not contain any material debt covenants or

involving the discharge of materials into the environment or
cross default provisions

otherwise relating to the protection of the environment
Available Information

Financing

In September 2007 we entered into five-year $300 million
We make available free of charge through our Internet website our

Amended and Restated CreditAgreement the facility which is
annual reports on Form io-K quarterly reports on Form io-Q

due to expire on September 26 2o12 This facility amends and
current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those

restates the five-year $450 million revolving credit agreement
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or i5d of the

entered into on January 21 2005 which included $io million term Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such

loan component that was terminated by the Company in May
material electronically with or furnishing such material to the U.S

The facility allows us to borrow repay or to the extent permitted by
Securities and Exchange Commission Also posted on our website

the agreement prepay and re-borrow at anytime prior to the stated
are our Corporate Governance Guidelines Standards for Director

maturity date and the loan proceeds may be used for general corpo
Independence the Summaryof the Board of Directors Committees

rate purposes including financing for acquisitions The original
the charters of each of the Audit Committee the Management

facility was amended and restated to capitalize on favorable bank Organization and Compensation Committee and the Nominating

market conditions and to extend the maturity of the facility In
and Governance Committee and the Crane Co Code of Ethics

December 2008 we executed Amendment No to the facility for the
These items are available in the Investors Corporate Gover

purpose of removing representation regarding our pension liability
nance section of our website at www.craneco .com The content of

and to amend certain other terms Interest is based on at our option
our website is not part of this report

LIBOR-based formula that is dependent in part on the Compa

nys credit rating LIBOR plus io5 basis points as of the date of this

Report up to maximumof LIBOR plus 145 basis points or the

greatest of the JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A.s prime rate iithe

Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points iii formula based on the

three-month CD Rate plus 100 basis points or iv an adjusted LIBOR

rate plus oo basis points The facility was only used for letter of

credit purposes in 2009 and was not used in 2008 or 2007 The

facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants for

credit facilities of this type including the absence of material

adverse effect and limitations on us and our subsidiaries with respect

to indebtedness liens mergers consolidations liquidations and

dissolutions sales of all or substantially all assets transactions with

affiliates and hedging arrangements The facility also provides for

customary events of default including failure to pay principal inter

est or fees when due failure to comply with covenants the fact that

any representation or warranty made by us is false in any material

respect default under certain other indebtedness certain insolvency

or receivership events affecting us and our subsidiaries certain

ERISA events material judgments and change in control The

agreement contains leverage ratio covenant requiring ratio of total

debt to total capitalization of less than or equal to 65% At

December3i 2009 Ourratiowas3i%

In November 2006 we issued notes having an aggregate principal

amount of $200 million The notes are unsecured senior obliga

tions that mature on November 15 2036 and bear interest at

6.55% per annum payable semi-annually on May and

November
15

of each year The notes have no sinking fund

requirement but may be redeemed in whole or part at our option

These notes do not contain
any

material debt covenants or cross

default provisions If there is change in control and if as con

sequence the notes are rated below investment grade by both

Moodys Investors Service and Standard Poors then holders of

the Notes may require us to repurchase them in whole or in part

for ioi% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Executive

Name Position Business
Experience During Past Five Years Age Officer Since

Eric Fast President and President and Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company 6o 1999

Chief Executive since April 2ool President and Chief Operating Officer from

Officer September 1999 to April 2ool

David Bender Group President President Electronics Group of Crane Aerospace Electronics 50 2007

Electronics segment of the Company since December 2005 Vice President

Operations Aerojet General Corporation division of GenCorp from

2004 to 2oo5 Executive Vice President GDXAutomotive division of

GenCorp from 2003 to 2004

ThomasJ Craney Group President Group President Engineered Materials segment of the Company since 54 2007

Engineered May 2oo7 From 1979 to 2007 with Owens Corning most recently

Materials Vice President of Sales North American Building Materials from oo
to oo and Vice President General Manager Commercial and

Industrial Insulation business from ooo to

Augustus duPont Vice President Vice President General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since 58 1996

General Counsel 1996

and Secretary

Bradley Ellis Group President Vice President Crane Business System since March 2009 Group 41 2000

Merchandising President Crane Merchandising Systems segment of the Company

Systems and Vice since December 2003
President Crane

Business System

Elise Kopczick Vice President Vice President Human Resources of the Company since January2001 2001

Human Resources

Andrew Krawitt Vice President Vice President Treasurer of the Company since September 2006 44 2006

Treasurer From 1998 to 2006 with PepsiCo most recently Director Financial

Planning Analysis from May 2005 to September 2006 Region

Finance Director Frito-Lay Division from January2003 to May 2005

Timothy MacCarrick Vice President Vice President Chief Financial Officer of the Company since July 44 2008

Chief Financial 2008 Corporate Vice President and Vice President Finance Xerox

Officer North America from 2006 to July 2008 Chief Financial Officer Xerox

Europe from 2003 to 2006

Richard Maue Vice President Vice President Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of the 39 2007

Controller Company since August 2007 Vice President Controller and Chief

Accounting Officer of Paxar Corporation from July 2005 to August

2007 Director Internal Audit Practice at Protiviti Inc from June

2003 to July 2005

Max Mitchell Group President Group President Fluid Handling segment of the Company since April 45 2004

Fluid Handling 2005 Vice President Operational Excellence of the Company from

March 2004 to April 2005 From 2001 to 2004 Senior Vice President

of Global Operations for the Pentair Tool Group

Thomas Noonan Vice President Vice President Taxes of the Company since November 2001 55 1999

Taxes

Anthony Pantaleoni Vice President Vice President Environment Health and Safety of the Company since 55 1989

Environment 1989

Health and Safety
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Executive

Name Position Business
Experience During Past Five Years Age Officer Since

Thomas Perlitz Vice President Vice President Corporate Strate since March 2009 and Group 41 2005

Corporate Strater President Crane Controls since October 2oo8 From oo to 2009
and Group Vice President Operational Excellence From 1995 to 2005 with

President Controls subsidiaries of Danaher Corp manufacturer of instrumentation

tools and components most recently Vice President Global

Marketing and Engineering-Imaging of KaVo Dental Lake Zurich IL

dental imaging products from August 2004 to August 2o05 Director

of Worldwide Service Fluke Corporation Everett WA electronic and

electrical test tools from February 2002 to August 2004

Curtis Robb Vice President Vice President Business Development of the Company since June 55 2005

Business 2oo5 From 2003 to 2005 founder and Managing Director of Robb

Development Associates LLP financial advisory services

Michael Romito Group President President Aerospace Group of Crane Aerospace Electronics 59 2009

Aerospace segment of the Company since March 2009 Consultant to several

divisions of Alliant Techsystems Inc from 2006 to 2009 Various

positions most recently Group Vice President Marketing and

Customer Support at Parker Hannifan from 1990 to 2006

10
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Item Risk Factors We have recorded liability for pending and reasonably anticipated

asbestos claims through 2o17 and while it is probable that we will

The following is description of what we consider the key chal-
incur additional liabilities for asbestos claims after 2017 which

lenges and risks confronting our business This discussion should
additional liabilities may be significant we cannot reasonably

be considered in conjunction with the discussion under the caption
estimate the amount of such additional liabilities at this time In the

Forward-Looking Information preceding Part the information
third quarter 2oo7 we updated and extended the estimate of our

set forth under Item Business and with the discussion of the
asbestos liability and recorded an additional pre-tax provision of

business included in Item Managements Discussion and
approximately $390 million which includes corresponding

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations These
insurance receivable

risks comprise the material risks of which we are aware If
any

of

the events or developments described below or elsewhere in this
Current economic conditions may harm our business results of

Annual Report on Form io-K or in any documents that we sub-
operations and stock price

sequently file publicly were to occur it could have material
Beginning in the second half of 2oo8 the U.S and global econo

adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of
mies slowed dramatically as result of variety of problems

operations including turmoil in the credit and financial markets concerns

regarding the stability and viability of major financial institutions
Risks Relating to Our Business

the state of the housing markets and volatility in fuel prices and

We are subject to numerous lawsuits for asbestos-related personal worldwide stock markets Given the significance and widespread

injury and costs associated with these lawsuits may adversely affect nature of these nearly unprecedented circumstances the U.S and

our results of operations cash flow and financial position global economies could remain significantly challenged in reces

We are subject to numerous lawsuits for asbestos-related personal sionary state for an indeterminate period of time While currently

injury Estimation of our ultimate exposure
for asbestos-related these conditions have not impaired our ability to access credit

claims is subject to significant uncertainties as there are multiple markets and finance our operations
there can be no assurance that

variables that can affect the timing severity
and quantity of claims there will not be further deterioration in financial markets and

Our estimate of the future expense of these claims is derived from confidence in the global industrial markets that we serve Con-

assumptions with respect to future claims settlement and defense tinued restrictions on credit availability could adversely affects the

costs which are based on experience during the last few
years

and
ability of our customers to obtain financing for significant pur

which may not
prove

reliable as predictors significant upward or chases and could result in further decreases in or cancellation of

downward trend in the number of claims filed depending on the orders for our products and services as well as impact the ability of

nature of the alleged injury the jurisdiction where filed and the our customers to make payments Similarly continued credit

quality of the product identification or significant upward or restrictions may adversely affect our supplier base and increase the

downward trend in the costs of defending claims could change the
potential for one or more of our suppliers to experience financial

estimated liability as would substantial adverse verdicts at trial or distress or bankruptcy These conditions would harm our business

on appeal legislative solution or structured settlement trans-
by adversely affecting our revenues results of operations cash

action could also change the estimated liability These uncertainties flows and financial condition See Specific Risks Relating to Our

may result in our incurring
future charges or increases to income to Business Segments below

adjust the carrying value of recorded liabilities and assets partic-
As of December 31 2009 we had $787 million of goodwill and

ularly if the number of claims and settlements and defense costs

intangible assets with indefinite lives The aforementioned dis
escalates or if legislation or another alternative solution is

ruptions in the credit markets and concerns about global economic

implemented however we are currently unable to predict such

growth have continued to impact our operating results in 2009 As

future events The resolution of these claims may take manyyears
of Decerniler 31 2009 there was no impairment of these assets

and the effect on results of operations
cash flow and financial

However declines in our stock price and market capitalization

position in
any given period from revision to these estimates

reduced future cash flow estimates within specific businesses and
could be material

slower growth rates in our target
markets are all factors that may

As of December 31 2009 we were one of number of defendants in indicate that the carryingvalue of our goodwill and other long-lived

cases involving approximately 66ooo pending claims filed in van- assets may not be recoverable and accordingly could result in

ous state and federal courts that allege injury or death as result of material noncash impairment charges at some point in the future

exposure to asbestos See Note ii of the Notes to our Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional information on Our operations expose us to the risk of environmental liabilities

costs litigation and violations that could adversely affect our
Our pending claims

financial condition results of operations cash flow and reputation

Our historical settlement and defense costs for asbestos Our operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations

claims in the jurisdictions in which they operate which impose limitations

The liability we have recorded in our financial statements for on the discharge of pollutants into the ground air and water and

pending and reasonably anticipated asbestos claims through
establish standards for the generation treatment use storage and

disposal of solid and hazardous wastes We must also comply with

2017
various health and safety regulations in the United States and

The asset we have recorded in our financial statements related
abroad in connection with our operations Failure to comply with

to our estimated insurance coverage
for asbestos claims and

any of these laws could result in civil and criminal monetary and

Uncertainties related to our net asbestos liability non-monetary penalties and damage to our reputation Inddition
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we cannot provide assurance that our costs related to remedial Demand for our products is variable and subject to factors beyond

efforts or alleged environmental damage associated with past or our control which could result in unanticipated events significantly

current waste disposal practices or other hazardous materials han- impacting our results of operations

dling practices will not exceed our estimates or adversely affect our substantial portion of our sales is concentrated in industries that

financial condition results of operations and cash flow For exam- are cyclical in nature or subject to market conditions which may

ple during 20o8 and 2007 we recorded charges of million and cause customer demand for our products to be volatile These

$19 million respectively related to increases in our expected industries often are subject to fluctuations in domestic and

liability at our Goodyear Arizona Superfund site pursuant to con- international economies as well as to currency fluctuations and

tinning changes in site conditions inflationary pressures Reductions in the business levels of these

industries would reduce the sales and profitability of the affected

Our businesses are subject to extensive governmental regulation business segments In ourAerospace Electronics segment for

failure to comply with those regulations could adversely affect our example significant decline in demand for air travel or decline

financial condition results of operations cash flow and reputation in airline profitability generally could result in reduced orders for

Primarily in our Aerospace Electronics and Fluid Handling seg- aircraft and could also cause airlines to reduce their purchases of

ments we are required to comply with various import and
export repair parts from our businesses Our aerospace businesses could

control laws which may affect our transactions with certain
also be impacted to the extent that major aircraft manufacturers

customers In certain circumstances export control and economic
encountered production problems or if pricing pressure from air-

sanctions regulations may prohibit the export of certain products craft customers caused the manufacturers to press their suppliers

services and technologies and in other circumstances we may be
to lower prices In our Engineered Materials segment sales and

required to obtain an export license before exporting the controlled
profits have been affected by declines in demand for truck trailers

item We are also subject to investigation and audit for compliance RVs or building products In our Fluid Handling segment further

with the requirements governing government contracts including slowing of the economy or major markets could reduce sales and

requirements related to procurement integrity export control
profits particularly if projects for which these businesses are sup-

employment practices the
accuracy

of records and the recording of
pliers or bidders are cancelled or delayed Results in our Controls

costs failure to comply with these requirements might result in
segment could decline because of an unanticipated decline in

suspension
of these contracts and suspension or debarment from demand for the businesses products from the oil and gas or heavy

government contracting or subcontracting In addition failure to truck markets or from unforeseen product obsolescence Results at

comply with any of these regulations could result in civil and
our Merchandising Systems business have been and will continue

criminal monetary and non-monetary penalties fines disruptions to be affected by employment levels office occupancy rates and
12

to our business limitations on our ability to export products and factors affecting vending operator profitability such as fuel con-

services and damage to our reputation For example in the 2007 fection and borrowing costs

third quarter we recorded $7.6 million charge related to civil

false claims proceeding by the U.S Government See the Civil False We may be unable to improve productivity reduce costs and align

Claims Settlement section under Item
manufacturing capacity with customer demand

We are committed to continuous productivity improvement and
Pension expense and pension contributions associated with the

continue to evaluate opportunities to reduce costs simplify or

Companys retirement benefit plans may fluctuate significantly
improve global processes and increase the reliability of order ful

depending upon changes in actuarial assumptions and future
fillment and satisfaction of customer needs During the fourth

market performance of plan assets
quarter of 2008 in response to disruptions in the credit markets

significant portion of our current and retired employee pop- and substantially weakened global economy we initiated broad
ulation is covered by pension and post-retirement benefit plans

based restructuring actions in order to align our cost base to then
the costs of which are dependent uponvarious assumptions

expected lower levels of demand At that time we anticipated 7%
including estimates of rates of return on benefit related assets

core revenue decline for 2009 During 2009 our sales declined
discount rates for future payment obligations rates of future cost

further than we anticipated with core revenues declining by 17%
growth and trends for future costs In addition funding require-

or $435 million from 2008 In response we continuously accel
ments for benefit obligations of our pension and post-retirement

erated our cost savings initiatives and reduced our cost base by
benefit plans are subject to legislative and other government regu-

approximately $175 million well ahead of our goal While we

latory actions Variances from these estimates could have sig-
exceeded our 2009 savings objective and considering in particular

nificant impact on our consolidated financial position results of
the current uncertainty in the U.S and global economies our fail-

operations and cash flow
ure to continue to anticipate further declines in global demand for

In 2009 we contributed $33 million into our defined benefit pen- our products and services and properly align our cost base would

sion plans compared to $io million in 2008 The increase in con- have an adverse effect on our financial condition results of oper
tributions primarily relates to higher contributions to our U.S ations and cash flow

defined benefit plan to comply with certain Pension Protection Act

provisions and resulted in part from declines in the market value of

investments during 2008 Of the $33 million $17 million was con

tributed to our U.S defined-benefit plan in December on discre

tionary basis to improve the funded status of this plan and to reduce

future expected contributions Our 2009 expense was $i8 million

higher than in 2008
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We may be unable to successfully develop and introduce new attempts to address the potential risks inherent in assessing the

products which would limit our ability to grow and maintain our value strengths weaknesses contingent or other liabilities sys

competitive position and adversely affect our financial condition tems of internal control and potential profitability of acquisition

results of operations and cash flow candidates as well as other challenges such as retaining the

Our growth depends in part on continued sales of existing prod- employees and integrating the operations of the businesses we

ucts as well as the successful development and introduction of new acquire Integrating acquired operations involves significant risks

products which face the uncertainty of customer acceptance and and uncertainties including

reaction from competitors Any delay in the development or launch
Maintenance of uniform standards controls policies and

of new product could result in our not being the first to market

which cod compromise our competitive position Further the
procedures

development and introduction of new products may require us to Distraction of managements attention from normal business

make investments in specialized personnel and capital equipment operations during the integration process

increase marketing efforts and reallocate resources away from

Expenses associated with the integration efforts and
other uses We also may need to modify our systems and strategy in

light of new products that we develop If we are unable to develop Unidentified issues not discovered in the due diligence

and introduce new products in cost-effective manner or other-
process including legal contingencies

wise manage effectively the operations related to new products our

results of operations and financial condition could be adversely
There can be no assurance that suitable acquisition opportunities

impacted
will be available in the future that we will continue to acquire

businesses or that any business acquired will be integrated

The prices of our raw materials can fluctuate dramatically which successfully or prove profitable which could adversely impact our

may adversely affect our profitability
growth rate Our ability to achieve our growth goals depends in part

The costs of certain raw materials that are critical to our profit-
upon our ability to identify and successfully acquire and integrate

ability are volatile This volatility can have significant impact on companies and businesses at appropriate prices and realize antici

our profitability In our Engineered Materials segment for exam- pated cost savings

ple profits could be adversely affected by unanticipated increases

in resin and fiberglass material costs and by the inability on the part
We face significant competition which may adversely impact our

of the businesses to maintain their position in product cost and results of operations and financial position in the future

functionality against competing materials The costs in our Fluid
While we are principal competitor

in most of our markets all of

13

Handling and Merchandising Systems segments similarly are our markets are highly competitive
The competitors in many of our

affected by fluctuations in the price
of metals such as steel While

business segments can be expected in the future to improve tech-

we have taken actions aimed at securing an adequate supply of raw nologies reduce costs and develop and introduce new products

materials at prices which are favorable to us if the prices of critical
and the ability of our business segments to achieve similar advances

raw materials increase our operating costs could be negatively
will be important to our competitive positions Competitive pres

affected
sures including those discussed above could cause one or more of

our business segments to lose market share or could result in sig

Our ability to obtain parts and raw materials from our suppliers is
nificant price erosion either of which could have an adverse effect

uncertain and any disruptions or delays in our supply chain could
on our results of operations

negatively affect our results of operations

Our operations require significant amounts of important parts and We conduct substantial portion of our business outside the United

raw materials We are engaged in continuous company-wide
States and face risks inherent in non-domestic operations

effort to concentrate our purchases of parts and raw materials on Net sales and assets related to our operations outside the United

fewer suppliers and to obtain parts from suppliers in low-cost States were 4o% and 33% in 2009 and 40% and 32% in 2oo8

countries where possible As this effort
progresses we are exposed respectively of our consolidated amounts These operations and

to an increased risk of disruptions to our supply chain which could transactions are subject to the risks associated with conducting

have significant effect on our operating results In addition if we business internationally including the risks of currency fluctua

are unable to procure these parts or raw materials our operations
tions slower payment of invoices adverse trade regulations and

may be disrupted or we could experience delay or halt in certain possible social economic and political instability in the countries

of our manufacturing operations
We believe that our supply man- and regions in which we operate

agement and production practices are based on an appropriate

balancing of the foreseeable risk and the costs of alternative We are dependent on key personnel and we may not be able to

practices Nonetheless supplier capacity constraints supplier retain our key personnel or hire and retain additional personnel

production disruptions supplier financial condition price vola- needed for us to sustain and grow our business as planned

tility or the unavailability of some raw materials may have an Certain of our business segments and corporate offices are depend

adverse effect on our operating
results and financial condition ent upon highly qualified personnel and we generally are depend

ent upon the continued efforts of key management employees We

We may be unable to identify or to complete acquisitions or to may have difficulty retaining such personnel or locating and hiring

successfully integrate the businesses we acquire
additional qualified personnel The loss of the services of any of our

We have evaluated and expect to continue to evaluate wide array key personnel many of whom are not party to employment agree

of potential acquisition transactions Our acquisition program ments with us or our failure to attract and retain other qualified
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and experienced personnel on acceptable terms could impair our among suppliers Sole source contracts are awarded when single

ability to successfully sustain and grow our business which could contractor is deemed to have an expertise or technologr that is

impact our results of operations in materially adverse manner superior to that of competing contractors reduction in Congres

sional appropriations that affect defense spending or the ability of

If our internal controls are found to be ineffective our financial the U.S government to terminate our contracts could impact the

results or our stock price maybe adversely affected performance of this business

We believe that we currently have adequate internal control proce
In addition we are required to comply with various export control

dures in place for future periods however increased risk of
laws which may affect our transactions with certain customers In

internal control breakdowns generally exists in business
certain circumstances export control and economic sanctions

environment that is decentralized In addition if our internal con-
regulations may prohibit the export of certain products services

trol over financial reporting is found to be ineffective investors
and technologies and in other circumstances we may be required to

may lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements
obtain an export license before exporting the controlled item

which may adversely affect our stock price
failure to comply with these requirements might result in suspen

sion of these contracts and suspension or debarment from
Specific Risks Relating to Our Business Segments

government contracting or subcontracting Failure to comply with

The macroeconomic climate
represents one of the most significant any

of these regulations could result in civil and criminal monetaiy

risks for oio and could cause our customers across our business and non-monetary penalties fines disruptions to our business

segments to delay forego or reduce the amount of their invest- limitations on our ability to export products and services and

ments in our products or delay payments of amounts due to us In damage to our reputation

addition declines in foreign currency exchange rates primarily the

euro the British pound or the Canadian dollar could adversely Engineered Materials

affect our reported results primarily in our Fluid Handling and In our Engineered Materials segment sales and profits could con-

Merchandising Systems segments as amounts earned in other tinue to fall if there are further declines in demand for truck trail-

countries are translated into U.S dollars for reporting purposes ers RVs and building products for which our businesses produce

fiberglass-reinforced panels We experienced declines in sales to

Aerospace Electronics RVmanufacturers through 2009 as the RVindustry continued to

difficult U.S economic environment continued to negatively curtail production in
response to fall-off in demand from their

impact the airline industry during 2009 Companies tightened customers The industry attributes this downturn to continued

14
corporate travel policies resulting in decline in business travel restrictions on credit availability generally weak consumer con-

and decrease in the percentage of full-fare purchases Fuel prices fidence and to lesser extent higher gas prices and inventory

also continued to impact the industry Although fuel prices were reductions on dealer lots While RV orders improved somewhat in

lower overall than in 2oo8 prices remained much higher than late 2009 future demand remains uncertain Similar to the BY

long-term historical averages These factors adversely impact the market we experienced declines in building products sales through

commercial aerospace industry as some larger domestic airline 2009 driven largely by the depressed U.S non-residential con-

carriers have reduced service and capacity including retiring their struction market and the industry expects further declines in 2010

older and less fuel efficient aircraft and cutting payroll costs while In addition profits could also be adversely affected by

several smaller carriers have either declared bankruptcy or ceased unanticipated increases in resin and fiberglass material costs by

operations In addition these conditions have in particular the loss of principal supplier or by any inability on the part of the

depressed manufacturing activity specific to business and regional businesses to maintain their product cost and functionality advan

jets Lower levels of air travel or decline in airline profitability tages when compared to competing materials

generally results in reduced aircraft orders and could also cause the
The Company is also defending series of five separate lawsuits

airlines to scale back on more of their purchases of our commercial
which have now been consolidated revolving around fire that

products which represents significant portion of the Aerospace
occurred in May 2003 at chicken processing plant located near

Electronics segment revenues Our businesses could also be
Atlanta Georgia that destroyed the plant The

aggregate damages
impacted to the extent that major aircraft manufacturers encounter

demanded by the plaintiff consisting largely of an estimate of lost

production problems or if pricing pressure from aircraft custom-
profits which continues to grow with the

passage
of time are cur

ers causes the manufacturers to press their suppliers to lower

rently in excess of $260 million These lawsuits contend that cer
prices Our sales and profits could also face erosion if pricing pres

tam fiberglass-reinforced plastic material manufactured by the
sure from competitors increased if finding new aerospace-

Company that was installed inside the plant was unsafe in that it

qualified suppliers became more difficult if required technical
acted as an accelerant causing the fire to spread rapidly resulting

personnel became harder to hire and retain if planned new aircraft

in the total loss of the plant and property In September 2009 the

programs were delayed while we incur engineering development
trial court entertained motions for summary judgment from all

expenses
for related products or if we are unable to effectively

parties and subsequently denied those motions In November
reduce our cost base in

response to additional unanticipated
2009 the Company sought and was granted permission to appeal

declines in demand for our products and services
the trial courts denial of its motions The Company expects the

Aportion of this segments business is conducted under U.S gov- appeal process to conclude in six to nine months The trial will be

ernment contracts and subcontracts These contracts are either stayed pending resolution of the appeal The Company believes that

competitively bid or sole source contracts Competitively bid con it has valid defenses to the underlying claims raised in these law

tracts are awarded after formal bid and proposal competition suits The Company has given notice of these lawsuits to its
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insurance carriers and will seek coverage
for

any resulting losses Item Un resolved Staff Corn rnents

The Companys carriers have issued standard reservation of rights

letters but are engaged with the Companys trial counsel to monitor
None

the defense of these claims If the plaintiffs in these lawsuits were

to prevail at trial and be awarded the full extent of their claimed

damages and insurance coverage were not fully available the

resulting liability could have significant effect on the Companys

results of operations and cash flow in the periods affected

Merchandising Systems

Results at our Merchandising Systems businesses could be reduced

by continued unfavorable economic conditions including lower

demand for our products and services inflation and continued

increases in fuel costs In addition delays in launching or supply

ing new products or an inability to achieve new product sales

objectives or unfavorable changes in gaming regulations affecting

certain of our Payment Solutions customers would adversely affect

our profitability as would failure to reduce our cost base in

response to further unanticipated declines in demand for our

products Furthermore any unanticipated operational

inefficiencies resulting from consolidation activities would also

adversely affect our profitability Results at our foreign locations

have been and will continue to be affected by fluctuations in the

value of the euro the British pound and the Canadian dollar versus

the U.S dollar

Fluid Handling

Our Fluid Handling businesses could face increased price competi

tion from larger competitors Further slowing of the economy or
15

major markets could reduce sales and profits particularly if proj

ects for which these businesses are suppliers or bidders are can

celled or delayed During oo9 we experienced slowing orders

from short- cycle North American businesses as well as continued

delays of several large valve projects into oio Continued weakness

in short-cycle North American businesses and/or further delays in

large valve projects may put further pressure on operating margins

in the Fluid Handling segment To the extent we are unable to

effectively reduce our cost base in response to further

unanticipated declines in demand for our products our operating

results would be adversely affected At our foreign operations

reported results in U.S dollar terms could be eroded by weaken

ing of
currency

of the respective businesses particularly where we

operate using the euro British pound and Canadian dollar

Controls

number of factors could affect operating results in our Controls

segment Lower sales and earnings could result if our businesses

cannot maintain their cost competitiveness encounter delays in

introducing new products or fail to achieve their new product sales

objectives Results could decline because of an unanticipated

decline in demand for the businesses products from the industrial

machinery oil and gas or heavy equipment industries or from

unforeseen product obsolescence portion of this segments

business is subject to government rules and regulations Failure to

comply with these requirements might result in suspension or

debarment from government contracting or subcontracting Failure

to comply with any of these regulations could result in civil and

criminal monetary and non-monetary penalties disruptions to our

business limitations on our ability to export products and services

and damage to our reputation
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Item Properties

Total Manufacturing Facilities Number Area sq.ft

Aerospace Electronics

United States 759000

International 76000

Engineered Materials

United States 905000

International 31000

Merchandising Systems

United States 1174000

International 199000

Fluid Handling

United States 854000

International 24 3650000

Controls

United States 238000

International 27000

Lease Expiring

Leased Manufacturing Facilities Through Number Area sq.ft

United States 2015 14 562000

International 2020 16 1101000

i6 Other Facilities Controls operates three leased service centers in the United

States

Aerospace Electronics operates three leased service centers in
Corporate has two leased properties in the United States

the United States Thss segment also operates two leased dis-

tribution centers outside the United States
In our opinion these properties have been well maintained are

in good operating condition and contain all necessaty equip-

Engineered Materials operates four distribution centers in the ment and facilities for their intended purposes As discussed in

United States of which are three are leased This segment also Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

operates one leased service center in the United States Financial Condition and Results of Operations five of our

properties were closed in 2009 as part of our Restructuring

Merchandising Systems operates
six service centers three in the

Program
United States of which two are leased and three outside the

United States which are leased This segment also operates nine
Item Legal Proceedings

distribution centers four in the United States which are leased Discussion of legal matters is incorporated by reference to Part

and five outside the United States of which four are leased II Item Note ii Commitments and Contingencies in the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fluid Handling operates 36 service centers four in the United

States of which three are leased and32 outside the United
Item Submission of Matters to Vote of

States of which 23 are leased This segment also operates 47
Security Holders

distribution centers three in the United States of which one is No matters were submitted to vote of security holders during

leased and 44 outside the United States of which 24 are leased the fourth quarter of 2009
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Part II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Crane Co common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol CR The following are the high and low sale

prices as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape and the quarterly dividends declared
per

share for each quarter of 2009 and poo8

MARKET AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION CRANE CO COMMON SHARES

NewYork Stock Exchange Composite Price per Share Dividends per Share

2009 2009 poo8 2008

Quarter High Low High Low 2009 2008

First $20.16 $12.46 $44.16 $33.54 $0.20 $0.18

Second $25.63 $15.98 $46.30 $37.58 0.20 0.18

Third $26.80 $20.24 $38.49 $28.14 0.20 0.20

Fourth $32.40 $24.42 $29.63 $10.87 0.20 0.20

$0.80 $0.76

On December 31 2009 there were approximately 3322 holders of record of Crane Co common stock

We did not make any open-market share repurchases of our common stock during the year ended December 31 2009 We routinely

receive shares of our common stock as payment for stock option exercises and the withholding taxes due on stock option exercises

restricted stock vestings and restricted share unit vestings from stock-based compensation program participants

Item Selected Financial Data

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the year ended December3s 17

inthousandsexceptpersharedata 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Net salesa $2196343 $2604307 $2619171 $2256889 $2061249

Operatingprofit lossb 208269 197489 107656 247936 213622

Interest
expense 27139 25799 27404 23015 22416

Income loss before taxesabc 184926 183647 118788 239504 196956

Provision benefit for income taxesd 50846 48694 56553 73447 60486

Net income loss attributable to common shareholdersd 133856 135158 62342 165887 136037

Earnings loss per
basic shared 2.29 2.27 1.04 2.72 2.27

Earnings loss per diluted shared 2.28 2.24 1.04 2.67 2.25

Cashdividendspercommonshare 0.80 0.76 0.66 0.55 0.45

Total assets 2712898 2774488 2877292 2436846 2145199

Long-term debt 398557 398479 398301 398122 298961

Accruedpensionandpostretirementbenefits 141849 150125 52233 59996 56649

Long-term deferred tax liability 29578 22971 31880 89595 71406

Long-term asbestos liability 730013 839496 942776 459567 526830

Long-term insurance receivable asbestos 213004 260660 306557 170400 224600

Includes $18880 from the Boeing and GE Aviation LLC settlement related to the Companys brake control systems in 2009

Includes $16360 from the above-mentioned settlement related to the Companys brake control systems in 2009 net charge of $7250 related to lawsuit settlement in

connection with our fiberglass-reinforced plastic material in 2009 restructuing charges of $5243 and $40703 in 2009 and 2008 respectively environmental provisions of

$24342 and $18912 in 2008 and 2007 respectively the foundry restructuring gain net of $19083 in 2007 the governmental settlement of $7600 in 2007 an asbestos

provisions of $390150 in 2007 and an environmental reimbursement of $4900 in 2006

Includes the effect of items cited in note and and gain on sale ofa joint venture of $4144 in 2007

Includes the tax effect of items cited in notes and as well as $5238 tax benefit related to divestiture in 2009 and $10400 tax
provision

in 2007 for the
potential

repatriation of $194000 of foreign cash
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of reductions and other related costs the Restructuring Program

Financial Condition and Results of Operations
At December 31 2oo8 we recorded pre-tax restructuring and

related charges in the business segments totaling $40.7 million

We are diversified manufacturer of highly engineered industrial The charges include workforce reduction expenses and facility exit

products Our business consists of five segments Aerospace costs of $.o million and $15.7 million related to asset write-

Electronics Engineered Materials Merchandising Systems Fluid downs

Handling and Controls Our primaly markets are aerospace

defense electronics recreational vehicle RV transportation
In 2009 we substantially completed our restructuring actions and

automated merchandising chemical pharmaceutical oil gas
recorded pre-tax restructuring and related charges in the business

power nuclear building services and utilities segments totaling $5.2 million The charges include workforce

reduction
expenses

and facility exit costs of $5.0 million and $o.2
Our

strategy
is to grow the earnings of niche businesses with lead-

million related to asset write downs
ing market shares acquire companies that fit strategically with

existing businesses aggressively pursue operational and strategic During the fourth quarter
of 2007 our Fluid Handling segment

linkages among our businesses build performance culture commenced implementation of restructuring program designed

focused on continuous improvement and committed management to further enhance operating margins through ceasing the manu

team whose interests are directly aligned with those of the share facture of malleable iron and bronze fittings at foundry operating

holders and maintain focused efficient corporate structure In facilities in the UK and Canada respectively and
exiting both

response
to disruptions in the credit markets and substantially facilities and transferring production to China The program pri

weakening global economy in the fourth quarter of 2008 we mi- manly included workforce reduction
expenses

and facility exit

tiated broad-based restructuring actions in order to align our cost costs all of which are expected to be cash costs In December 2007
base to expected lower levels of demand Our core sales declined by we recognized workforce reduction charges of $9 million and also

17% from 2008 which compared to our expectation of 7% at the in December 2007 pursuant to this program we sold our foundry

beginning of the
year and in response we continually accelerated facility in the UK generating pre-tax gain of $28 million The

our productivity programs across all areas of the business to ensure Foundry Restructuring was completed in 2009
our cost base was sized appropriately By the end of 2009 we

reduced targeted costs by $175 million compared to 2008 which
Environmental Charges

exceeded our goal for the year This full
year level of savings equates For environmental matters the Company records liability for

to approximately 8% of our 2009 sales which we view as sig- estimated remediation costs when it is probable that the Company
i8 nificant accomplishment and reflection of our cost sensitive cul- will be responsible for such costs and they can be reasonably esti

ture mated Generally third party specialists assist in the estimation of

remediation costs The environmental remediation liability at

Items Affecting Corn pa ra bi
ity

of Reported Results
December 31 oo9 and 2008 is substantially all for the former

The comparability of our operating results for the years ended manufacturing site in Goodyear Arizona the Goodyear Site

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 is affected by the following
discussed below

significant items
The Goodyear Site was operated by UniDynamics/Phoenix Inc

GE Aviation Systems LLC and The Boeing Company Settlement
UPI which became an indirect subsidiary of the Company in

During the fourth quarter of 2009 we executed agreements with GE 1985 when the Company acquired UPIs parent company Uni

Aviation Systems LLC and The Boeing Company resolving our
Dynamics Corporation UPI manufactured explosive and

claims relating to the brake control monitoring system being
pyrotechnic compounds including components for critical military

developed by ourAerospace Group for the Boeing 787 the 787 programs for the U.S government at the Goodyear Site from 1962

Settlement Claim As result of the agreement ourAerospace
to 1993 under contracts with the Department of Defense and other

Group recognized an increase in sales of $18.9 million and an government agencies and certain of their prime contractors No

after-tax benefit of $o.i8 per share in 2009 manufacturing operations have been conducted at the Goodyear

Site since The Goodyear Site was placed on the National

Fiberglass-Reinforced Plastics lawsuit Priorities List 1111983 and is now part of the Phoenix-Goodyear

On April 17 2009 we reached an agreement to settle lawsuit Airport North Superfund Goodyear Site In 1990 the EPA issued

brought by customer alleging failure of the Companys fiberglass-
administrative orders requiring UPI to design and

carry out certain

reinforced plastic material in RV sidewalls manufactured by such remedial actions which UPI has done Groundwater extraction and

customers In mediation we agreed to settlement aggregating
treatment systems

have been in operation at the Goodyear Site

$17.75 million payable in several installments through July 2009
since 1994 soil

vapor
extraction

system was in operation from

all of which have been paid Based upon both insurer commitments 1994 to 1998 was restarted in 2004 and is currently in operation

and liability estimates previously recorded in 2008 we recorded On July 26 2006 the Company entered into consent decree with

pre-tax charge of $7.25 million in connection with this settlement the EPA with
respect to the Goodyear Site providing for among

other things work plan for further investigation and remediationin 2009
activities at the Goodyear Site The Company recorded liability in

Restructuring and Related Costs 2004 for estimated costs through 2014 after reaching substantial

During the fourth quarter of 2008 we initiated broad-based agreement on the scope of work with the EPA At the end of Sep

restructuring actions to align our cost base to then current market tember 2007 the liability totaled $15.4 million During the fourth

conditions which included facility consolidations headcount quarter of 2OO7 the Company and its technical advisors



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

determined that changing groundwater flow rates and contaminant there have been significant actions taken by certain state

plume direction at the Goodyear Site required additional extraction legislatures and courts over the
past

several
years

that have

systems as well as modifications and upgrades of the existing sys- reduced the number and
types

of claims that can proceed to

tems In consultation with its technical advisors the Company trial which has been significant factor in stabilizing the

prepared forecast of the expenditures required for these new and asbestos claim activity
and

upgraded systems as well as the costs of operation over the forecast
we have entered into coverage-in-place agreements with

period through 2014 Taking these additional costs into consid-

majority of our excess insurers which enables us to project
eration the Company estimated its liability for the costs of such

more stable relationship between settlement and defense

activities through 2oi4 to be $41.5 million which resulted in
costs paid by us and reimbursements from our insurers

charge of $18.9 million during the fourth quarter of 2007 During

the fourth quarter of 2oo8 based on further consultation with our Taking all of these factors into account we believe that we can rea

advisors and the EPA and in
response to groundwater monitoring sonably estimate the asbestos liability for pending claims and

results that reflected continuing migration in contaminant plume future claims to be filed through 2o17 While it is probable that we

direction during the year the Company revised its forecast of will incur additional charges for asbestos liabilities and defense

remedial activities to increase the level of extraction systems and costs in excess of the amounts currently provided we do not believe

the number of monitoring wells in and around the Goodyear Site that
any

such amount can be reasonably estimated beyond 2oi7

among other things As of December 31 2oo8 the revised liability Accordingly no accrual has been recorded for
any costs which may

estimate was $65.2 million which resulted in an additional charge be incurred for claims made subsequent to 2017 The liability was

of $24.3 million during the fourth
quarter

of 2oo8 As of $821 million and $930 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008

December 31 2009 the liability estimate was $53.8 million respectively

On July 31 2006 the Company entered into consent decree with Civil False Claims Settlement

the U.S Department of Justice on behalf of the Department of
During 2007 we recorded $7.6 million charge related to civil

Defense and the Department of Energy pursuant to which among false claims proceeding by the U.S Government arising out of

other things the U.S Government reimburses the Company for 21
allegations that certain valves sold by our Crane Valves North

percent of qualifying costs of investigation
and remediation activ- America unit CVNA to private customers that ultimately were

ities at the Goodyear Site As of December 31 2009 the Company delivered to U.S military agencies did not conform to contractual

has recorded receivable of $i 1.3 million for the expected specifications relating to the place of manufacture and the origin of

reimbursements from the U.S Government in
respect

of the
component parts 19

aggregate liability as at that date In the first quarter of 2009 the

Company issued $35 million letter of credit to support require- Divestitures

ments of the consent decree for the Goodyear Site In December 2009 we sold General Technology Corporation

GTC generating proceeds of $14.2 million and after-tax gain of

$5.2 million GTC also known as Crane Electronic Manufacturing
Asbestos Charge

Services was included in our Aerospace Electronics segment as

With the assistance of outside experts during the third quarter of

part
of the Electronics Group GTC had $26 million in sales in 2009

2007 we updated and extended our estimate of our asbestos
and is located in Albuquerque New Mexico

liability including the costs of settlement or indemnity payments

and defense costs relating to currently pending claims and future In December 2007 together with our partner Emerson Electric

claims projected to be filed against us through 2017 Our previous Co we sold the Industrial Motion Control LLC IMC joint yen

estimate was for asbestos claims filed through 2011 As result of ture generating proceeds of $33 million and an after-tax gain of

this updated estimate we recorded an additional pre-tax provision $.8 million Our investment in IMC was $29 million and we

of $390.2 million during the third quarter of 2007 this amount recorded income in 2007 and 2006 of $5.3 million and $5.6 million

includes corresponding insurance receivable Our decision to respectively

take this action was based on several factors at the time including

Repatriation of Foreign Earnings

the number of asbestos claims being filed against us has During the fourth quarter
of 2007 we concluded that our cash balan

moderated substantially over the past several years
and in our ces overseas were in excess of our projected future needs outside

opinion the outlook for asbestos claims expected to be filed
the United States As result we established 10.4 million

and resolved in the forecast period should be reasonably deferred tax liability related to the estimated additional U.S federal

stable and state income taxes due upon the ultimate repatriation of $194

million of such cash balances

the stable outlook for future claims is particularly true for

mesothelioma claims which although constituting only 11% of In the
pages

that follow we discuss results along with the events

our asbestos claims account for approximately o% of our trends market dynamics and management initiatives that influ

aggregate settlement and defense costs over the past five years
enced them

federal legislation that would significantly change the nature

of asbestos litigation failed to pass in 2006 and in our

opinion the prospects for such legislation at the federal level

are remote
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2009 vs 2008 2008 VS 2007

Favorable Favorable

For the
year

ended December 31 Unfavorable Change Unfavorable Change

inmillionsexcept% 2009 2oo8 2oo7

Net Sales

Aerospace Electronics 590 639 629 49 10

Engineered Materials 172 255 331 83 33 76 23
Merchandising Systems 293 402 388 109 27 14

Fluid Handling 1050 1162 1136 112 10 26

Controls 92 147 135 55 38 12

Total Net Sales 2196 2604 2619 $408 16 15

Sales Growth

Core business 435 17 52
Acquisitions/dispositions

115 32

Foreign Exchange _________ _________ _________
88

Total Sales Growth
_________ __________ __________

$408 16 15

Operating Profit Loss

Aerospace Electronics 96 54 86 42 77 32 37
Engineered Materials 20 58 16 363 54 93
Merchandising Systems 21 32 40 ii 34 20
Fluid Handling 132 159 159 27 17

Controls 11 10 15 137 10

Total Segment Operating Profit Loss 265 260 353 93 26

Corporate Expense 56 39 52 17 44 13 25

Corporate Asbestos charge 390 390

Corporate Environmental charge 24 19 24

Total Operating Profit Loss 208 197 108 11 $305 282

Operating Margin
20

Aerospace Electronics 16.3% 8.5/a 13.7/o

Engineered Materials 11.4% 1.7/o 17.6%

Merchandising Systems 7.2% 0/o 10 .2/o

Fluid Handling 12.6% 13.7/o 14.0/a

Controls 4.8% 7.6/a 7.3/s

Total Segment Operating Profit Margin 12.0/o 10.0/a 13.5/a

Total Operating Margin 95Jo 7.6/a 4.1/a

The disclosure of total segment operating profit
and total segment operating profit margin provides supplemental information to assist management and investors in analyzing our

profitability but is considered non-GAAP financial measure when presented in any context other than the required reconciliation to operating profit
in accordance with ASC 280

Disclosures about Segments ofan Enterprise
and Related Information Management believes that the disclosure oftotal segment operating profit

and total segment operating

profit margin non-GAAP financial measures present
additional useful comparisons between current results and results in prior operating periods providing

investors with clearer

view of the underlying trends of the business Management also uses these non-CAAP financial measures in making financial operating planning
and compensation decisions and

in evaluating the Companys performance Non-GAAP financial measures which may be inconsistent with similarly captioned measures presented by
other companies should be

viewed in addition to and not as substitute for the Companys reported results prepared in accordance with GAAP

Restructuring
and related charges of $5 million $4 million and restructuring gain of $19 million in 2009 2oo8 and respectively

were included in segment operating profit as follows

For the year ended December 31

inmillions 2009 2008 2007

Restructuring

Aerospace Electronics

Engineered Materials 19

Merchandising Systems
13

Fluid Handling 19

Controls

Total Restructuring Charge Gain $41 $19
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2009 compared with 2008 Total operating profit was $208 million in 2009 compared to $197

Sales inoo decreased $408 million or i6%to $2.196 billion
million in 2oo8 In addition to the aforementioned segment

compared with $2604 billion in 2oo8 The sales decrease was
results 2009 operating

results included $7.3 million charge

drIven by core business decline of $435 million 17% and
related to the lawsuit settlement in connection with our fiberglass-

unfavorable foreign exchange of $88 million 3% partially offset
reinforced plastic business and 2oo8 operating results included an

by net increase in revenue from acquisitions and dispositions of
environmental provision

of $24.3 million related to an increase in

$115 million 4% The Aerospace Electronics segment reported
our expected liability at our Goodyear Arizona Superfund Site

sales decrease of $49 million or 8% Our Aerospace Group had an Net income attributable to common shareholders in 2009 was

iih/o sales decrease in 2009 compared to the prior year reflecting $133.9 million or $2.28 per share as compared with net income

lower commercial OEM activity particularly for regional and busi- attributable to common shareholders of $135.2 million or $2.24

ness jets as well as lower commercial aftermarket sales partially
per

share in 2008 In addition to the items mentioned above net

offset by $18.9 million of incremental sales in 2009 related to the income in 2009 included the after-tax gain associated with the

787 Settlement Claim The Electronics Group experienced 2% divestiture of GTC $5.2 million or $.o9 per share

sales decline
year- over-year driven by lower volumes of our Cus

tom Power Solutions products In our Engineered Materials seg- 2008 com pared with 2007

ment we continued to experience significantly lower volumes to RV

manufacturers and to lesser extent transportation and building
Sales in 2008 decreased $15 million or i% to $2604 billion corn-

products customers primarily due to the weak economy and in the pared with $2.619 billion in 2007 The sales decrease was primarily

due to core business decline of $52 million 2% offset by net

case of RVs continued restrictions on consumer credit Merchan

dising Systems segment revenue decreased 27% in 2009 due to
increase in revenue from acquisitions and dispositions of $32 mil

difficult world-wide market conditions in both our Vending and
lion i% and favorable foreign exchange of $5 million The Aero

Payment Solutions businesses Our Fluid Handling segments sales space
Electronics segment reported sales increase of $io

decreased $112 million or io%which was attributable to broad-
million or2% OurAerospace Group had 7% sales increase in

based volume declines across most businesses driven by poor
2008 compared to the prior year driven by continued strong pro

market conditions and unfavorable foreign exchange
duction levels at aircraft manufacturers as they continued to deliver

on record bookings The Electronics Group experienced 6% sales

Total segment operating profit increased million to $265 million
decline year- over-year driven largely by decrease in deliveries to

in 2009 compared to $260 million in 2008 Total segment operat- our Custom Power customers In our Engineered Materials seg

ing profit in 2009 included approximately $16.4 million of profit ment we continued to experience significantly lower volumes to RV

attributable to the 787 Settlement Claim and $5.2 million of
manufacturers and to lesser extent transportation and building

restructuring charges Total segment operating profit in 2008
products customers primarily due to the weak economy and in the

included $41 million of restructuring charges As percent of sales
case of RVs lack of credit available to consumers Our Merchandis

total segment operating margins increased to 12.0% in 2009 com-
ing Systems segment showed 3% revenue increase in 2008

pared to io.o% 1112008
primarily due to continued strong demand for our Payment Sol

The increase in segment operating profit over the prior year
was utions products as well as to lesser extent the successful

driven primarily by increases in operating profit in our Aero introduction of the BevMax III glass front vender in the first half of

space
Electronics and Engineered

Materials segments sub- 2008 Our Fluid Handling segments sales increased $26 million or

stantially offset by decreases in our Merchandising Systems Fluid 2% which was substantially attributable to $24 million of core

Handling and Controls segments Our Aerospace Electronics growth driven by increases in product prices

segment operating profit was $42 million higher or 77% in 2009
Total segment operating profit declined $93 million to $260 mil

compared to the prior year and our Engineered Materials segment
lion in 2008 compared to $353 million in 2007 Total segment

operating profit was $i6 million higher or 363% in 2009 com

pared to the prior year The significant improvement in the Aero-
operating profit in 2008 included $4 million of restructuring

space
Electronics segment reflected $44 million decrease in

charges in connection with the Restructuring Program Total seg

engineering expenses
related to decline in activities associated

ment operating profit in 2007 included net gain of $19 million in

connection with the Foundry Restructuring As percent of sales

with the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM programs the favorable

impact of the 787 Settlement Claim strong program execution in
total segment operating margins decreased to io.o% in 2008 com

pared to 13.5% in 2007
the Electronics Group and the impact

of cost reduction initiatives

The increase in Engineered Materials primarily reflected the $19 The decrease in segment operating profit over the prioryear
was

million decline in restructuring charges and savings associated with driven primarily by significant declines in operating profit in our

cost reduction initiatives partially offset by the impact of the sub- Engineered Materials and Aerospace Electronics segments Our

stantial volume declines mentioned above The decline in operating Engineered Materials segment operating profit was $54 million

profit in our Merchandising Systems segment primarily reflected lower or 93% in 2008 compared to the prior year and our Aero

the substantial volume declines associated with the aforementioned space
Electronics segment operating profit was $32 million low

unfavorable market conditions partially offset by $16 million er or 37% in 2008 compared to the prior year The decline in

decline in restructuring charges and the impact of cost reduction Engineered Materials primarily reflected the sharp decline in sales

initiatives The decline in our Fluid Handling segment was to our traditional RV customers coupled with $19 million in

attributable to the impact lower sales volumes and unfavorable for- restructuring costs associated with the Restructuring Program The

eign exchange partially offset by the impact of cost reduction decline in operating profit in Aerospace Electronics reflected

initiatives substantially higher engineering expense in the Aerospace Group



PART II ITIM

relatedto ourinvestments inthe Boeing787 andAirbusA4ooM 2009 comparedwith 2oo8 Sales of ourAerospace Electronics

programs Our Fluid Handling segment operating profit was $159 segment decreased $49 million or 8% in 2009 to $590 million

million in 2oo8 which is flat compared to 2007 operating profit in Sales in 2009 included $18.9 million related to the 787 Settlement

2oo8 included $6 million in charges in connection with the Claim The Aerospace Electronics segments operating profit

Restructuring Program operating profit in 2007 included net gain increased $42 million or 77% in 2009 The increase in operating

of $19 million related to the Foundiy Restructuring Merchandising profit was driven primarily by substantially lower engineering

Systems operating profit was $8 million lower or 20% in 2008 expense in the Aerospace Group which was $67 million in 2009

compared to the prioryear 2008 results included $13 million in compared to $111 million in 2008 In addition operating profit in

charges related to the Restructuring Program 2009 included approximately $16.4 million related to the 787

Settlement Claim The operating margin for the segment was 16.3%
Total operating profit was $197 million in 2008 compared to an

in 2009 compared to 8.5% in 2008
operating loss of $io8 million in 2007 In addition to the afore

mentioned segment results 2008 operating results included an Aerospace Group sales decreased ii%from $405 million in 2008 to

environmental provision of $24.3 million $i.8 million after-tax $360 million in 2009 Backlog at December 31 2009 decreased

related to an increase in our expected liability at our Goodyear 15% to $189 million from December 31 2008 The commercial

Arizona Superfund Site The total 2007 operating loss included the market accounted for 81% of Aerospace Group sales in 2009 while

following sales to the military market were 19% of total sales Sales in 2009 by

the Groups four solution sets were as follows Landing Systems
provision of $390.2 million $253.6 million after-tax to

31% Sensing and Utility Systems 31% Fluid Management 27%
update and extend our estimate of our asbestos liability

and.Cabin u%
an environmental provision of $08.9 million $12.3 million

OurAerospace Groups sales decreased in 2009 due to lower OEM
after-tax related to our expected liability at our Goodyear sales which were down 21% to $i8 million from $233 million in

Arizona Superfund Site and
2008 and to lesser extent commercial aftermarket volumes

provision of $7.6 million $5.4 million after-tax relating to
which decreased 6% to $i45 million in 2009 from $153 million in

civil false claims proceeding by the U.S Government 2008 these declines were partially offset by higher sales of military

product sales OEM and spares and modernization and upgrade
Net income attributable to common shareholders in 2008 was

product sales The lower commercial sales inparticular to our

$035.2 million or $2.24 per share as compared with net loss
business and regional jet customer base reflect the impact of

attributable to common shareholders of $62.3 million or $1.04 per generally weaker global economy which continued to negatively22
share in 2007 Net income in 2008 included the environmental

impact the airline industry during 2009 as companies tightened

provision $i.8 million or $0.26 per share The 2007 net loss

corporate travel policies resulting in decline in business travel

included
Fuel prices also continued to impact the industry These factors

the asbestos charge $253.6 million or $4.22 per share continue to adversely impact the commercial aerospace industry as

certain carriers have reduced service and capacity including retir

the environmental provision $12.3 million or $0.20 per ing their older and less fuel efficient aircraft Sales to OEMs were

share 6o% and 62% of total sales in 2009 and 2008 respectively

the civil false claims settlement $5.4 million or $0.09 per Aerospace Group 2009 operating profit however increased 99%
share and over the prior year as the $44 million decrease in engineering

an additional tax provision for undistributed foreign earnings
expense coupled with the $16.4 million favorable impact of the 787

Settlement Claim more than offset the unfavorable impact of the
$10.4 million or $0.17 per share

aforementioned lower sales levels The substantial decline in

These amounts were partially offset by the net gain resulting from
engineering expense was primarily related to the completion of key

the Foundry Restructuring $18.4 million or $0.31 per share and activities related to the Boeing 787 Dreamliner and Airbus A4ooM
the gain on the sale of the IMC jointventure $.8 million or $o.io programs Aerospace engineering expense was about 19% of sales

per share in 2009 versus 27% in the prior year Operating profit was also

favorably impacted by savings associated with broad-based cost

reduction initiatives

AEROSPACE ELECTRONICS Electronics Group sales decreased 2% from $235 million in 2008 to

$230 million in 2009 The Electronics Group was unfavorably

dollars in millions 2009 2008 2007 impacted by lower volumes of our Customer Power Solutions

Net Sales 590 639 629 products and to lesser extent lower volumes of our Micro

electronics Solutions products The decline in Custom Power Sol
Operating Profit 96 54 86

utions was driven largely by the downturn in the commercial
Restructuring Charge

aviation market the decline in Microelectronics Solutions was
Assets 436 472 467

primarily related to lower volumes of certain custom medical

Operating Margin 16.3% 8.50/o 13 .7/o

products Operating profit increased 52% over the prior year due to

strong program execution lower engineering spending and broad-

Net Sales and Operating Profit for 2009 include $18.9 million and $16.4 million
based cost savings associated with cost reduction programs At

respectively related to the 787 Settlement Claim

The restructuring charge is included in operating profit and operating margin December 31 2009 our Electronics Group backlogwas down 17%
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from prioryear levels 13% of which is attributed to the divesture of impacted by lower volumes of our Customer Power Solutions prod

GTC ucts and to lesser extent lower volumes of our Microwave Sys

tems Solutions products The decline in Custom Power Solutions

Electronics Group sales by market in 2009 were as follows miii-
was due to certain larger programs not being extended as well as

tarv/defense 65% commercial aerospace 27% medical 4% and
generally lower sales levels on multiple programs The decline in

space 4% Sales in 2009 by the Group solution sets were as fol-
Microwave Systems Solutions was primarily related to lower vol

lows Power 650/0 Microwave Systems i8%Electronic
umes of certain custom microwave products as well as lower

Manufacturing Services ii%and Microelectronics 6%
component sales Operating profit decreased i9

/o over the
prior

2008 compared with 2007 In 2008 Aircraft Electrical Power was year due to deleverage associated with the aforementioned decline

repositioned from the Aerospace Group to the Electronics Group as in volume in the Customer Power and Microwave Systems Solutions

part of Power Solutions and as result the discussion which fol- products and higher program costs on certain long-term contracts

lows reflects the related movement of $42 million in 2007 sales At December31 2008 Electronics Group backlog was up i2% from

from the Aerospace Group to the Electronics Group This change prioryear
levels

had no impact on the reported segment results as the repositioning Electronics Group sales by market in 2008 were as fol

was performed wholly within the segment The discussion and lows military/defense 62% commercial aerospace 29% medical

analysis on the 2007 comparison to 2006 remains unchanged 6% and space 30/0 Sales in 2008 by the Groups solution sets were

Sales of ourAerospace Electronics segment increased $io mu- as follows Power 68% Microwave Systems i8%Micro-

lion or 2% in 2008 to $639 million The Aerospace Electronics
electronics 8% and Electronic Manufacturing Services 6%

segments operating profit decreased $32 million or 37% in 2008

The decline in operating profit was driven primarily by sub- ENGINEERED MATE RIAILS

stantially higher engineering expense
in the Aerospace Group

which was $iii million in 2008 compared to $70 million in 2007
dollars in millions 2009 2008 2007

The increase in engineering expense was primarily related to our Net sales 172 255 331

investments in the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM programs In
Operating Profit 20 58

addition operating profit in 2008 included restructuring charges of
Restructuring Charge 19

$2 million The operating margin for the segment was in 2008
Assets 262 271 305

compared to
i3 7% in 2007

Operating Margin ii 4/o 7/o 17 6Io

Aerospace Group sales increased 7/o from $379 million in 2007 to The
reitructuring charge is included in operating profit

and
operating margin
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$405 million in 2008 Backlog at December 3i 2008 increased 2%
2009 compared with 2008 Engineered Materials sales decreased

to $223 million from December 3i 2007 The increase in sales was
by $83 million from $255 million in 2008 to $172 million in

driven by continued strong production levels at aircraft manu-

2009 Operating profit increased by $i6 million from $4 million in
facturers as they continued to deliver on record bookings The

2008 to $20 million in 2009 Operating profit in 2008 included
commercial market accounted for 84 /o of Aerospace Group sales in

restructuring charges of $19 million Operating margins were
2008 while sales to the military market were i6 /o of total sales

i1.4% in 2009 compared with .7% in 2008
Sales in 2008 by the Group four solution sets were as follows

Landing Systems 29% Sensing and Utility Systems 32% Fluid Sales declined $83 million or 33% reflecting substantially lower

Management 25% and Cabin i4% volumes to our traditional liv transportation and building products

customers when compared to the prior year We attribute these

OurAerospace Group sales increased in 2008 due to higher OEM
declines to the weak economy and in the case of RVs continued

sales which were up 8% to $25i million from $232 million in 2007
restrictions on consumer credit availability We experienced 40 /o

and to lesser extent aftermarket volumes which increased 5% to
decline in sales to RV manufacturers consistent with RVwholesale

$i53 million in 2008 from $i47 million in 2007 Higher sales were
shipment declines although sales strengthened in the second half

fueled by continued rowth in the
aerospace industry Sales to

of the year In addition we experienced 34 /o decline in our sales

OEMs were 62% of the total in 2008 and 2007 Successful modern-
to transportation-related customers generally in line with the

ization and ungrade nroorams resulted in favorable aftermarket
decline in the truck and trailer segments we serve and decline in

performance Commercial OEM build rates remained strong
building products sales of 27 /o generally in line with the decline in

throughout 2008 and approximately at the same level as 2007 the commercial building markets we serve International sales

OurAerospace Group 2008 operating profit decreased 48% over Europe China and LatinAmerica were also down 29% in 2009

the prior year driven primarily by the $4i million increase in compared to 2008 primarily resulting from the general global

engineering expense or 59% in 2008 compared to the prior year
economic slowdown

The significant levels of engineering spending is primarily related The 2009 operating profit increase was primarily attributable to the

to the Boeing 787 and Airbus A4ooM programs which together absence of the $i9 million restructuring charge we incurred in

accounted for 64% of total engineering expense
for the Aerospace 2008 substantial savings associated with cost reduction initiatives

Group Our Aerospace engineering expense was about 27% of sales
productivity improvements lower raw material costs and lower

in2008 and we anticipate decline in the second half of 2009 fol-
warranty costs offset by the deleverage associated with the sub

lowing commencement of test flights for the Boeing 787 aircraft
stantially lower volumes

Electronics Group sales decreased 6%from $250 million in 2007 to 2008 compared with 2007 Engineered Materials sales decreased

$235 million in 2008 The Electronics Group was unfavorably by $76 million from $331 million in 2007 to $255 million
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in 2oo8 Operating profit decreased by $54 million from $58 end markets began largely in the second half of 2oo8 Larger

million in 2007 to $4 million in 2o08 Operating profit in 2oo8 industry declines across all businesses were partially mitigated by

included restructuring charges of $19 million Operating margins revenues generated from the successful introduction of key new

were izio in 2oo8 compared with 17.6% in 2oo7 products including the BevMax4 cold beverage vendor the

Sales declined $76 million or 23% reflecting substantially lower
Currenza Recycler and Currenza Clip payment solutions devices

and the Merchant snack vendor as well as share gains at several keyvolumes when compared to the prioryear Core business sales were
customers

down $94 million or 28% related to lower volumes to RV manu

facturers transportation and building products customers We
Operating profit of $21 million decreased $11 million in 2009 ver

attribute these declines to the weak economy and in the case of SUS 2008 The operating profit decrease was primarily attributable

RVs lack of credit available to consumers We experienced 48% to deleverage associated with the substantially lower sales and to

decline in sales to our RV customers generally in line with the con- lesser extent the impact of unfavorable foreign exchange partially

tinued softness in the RV industry In addition we experienced offset by $i6 million decline in restructuring expenses and sig

29% decline in our sales to transportation-related customers nificant cost savings that included the successful consolidation of

slightly better than reduced trailer build rates and 9% decline to four manufacturing locations into two during 2009 and continued

our building products customers International sales Europe headcount reductions we reduced employment levels by 120/s in

China and Latin America were also down 13% in 2008 compared to 2009 and by 24% compared to year-end 2007 Operating profit in

2007 primarily resulting from the general economic slowdown 2009 also included approximately $3 million of favorable legal set-

These core business declines compared to the prior year were tiements associated with protecting certain patents on key tech-

partially offset by an increase of $19 million or 6% related to the
nologies

September 2007 acquisition of the composite panel business of

Owens Corning
2008 compared with 2007 Merchandising Systems sales

increased by $14 million from $388 million in 2007 to $402 million

The 2008 operating profit decrease was primarily attributable to in 2008 Operating profit decreased by $8 million from $40 million

deleverage associated with the substantially lower sales compared in 2007 to $32 million in 2008 Operating profit in 2008 included

to the prioryear As result of the significantly lower sales levels
restructuring charges of $13 million Operating margins were 8.o

we reduced employment levels in 2008 by 34% and in addition in 2008 compared with 0.2% in 2007
during the fourth quarter of 2008 we approved plan to undertake

further cost reduction initiatives substantially focused on facility

Sales were up $14 million compared to the prior year or 3%

consolidation and to lesser extent additional headcount reduc- primarily due to growth in the Payment Solutions business offset

24
tions As discussed above our Engineered Materials segment

slightly by sales decrease in the Vending Solutions business The

operating profit includes $19 million of restructuring charges in Payment Solutions Group revenue increase was attributable to

connection with these initiatives strong global demand for coin and bill validation and our coin dis

pensing products in the first nine months of 2008 during the

fourth
quarter

of 2008 however unfavorable market conditions

MERC H.A.N DISING SYSTEMS resulted in lower Payment Solutions product sales when compared

to the same prior year period Vending Solutions experienced
dollars in millions 2009 2008 2007

strong
sales in the first half of 2008 when compared to the same

Net Sales 293 402 388 prioryear period led by the successful introduction of the BevMax

Operating Profit 21 32 40 III glass front vender similar to Payment Solutions albeit earlier

Restructuring Gain Charge 13
and more pronounced our Vending Solutions business experi

Assets 297 302 349
enced substantially lower volumes beginning in the third

quarter
of

Operating Margin 7.2% 8.0/n 10.2/o
2008 as customers curtailed orders in

response to the difficult

economy and generally unfavorable market cpnditions As result

The restructuring gain charge is included in operating profit and operating margin of the slowing demand in the second half we reduced employment

2009 compared with 2008 Merchandising Systems sales levels by i4% in 2008

decreased by $109 million from $402 million in 2008 to $293 mil
Operating profit of $32 million decreased $8 million in 2008 versus

lion in 2009 Operating profit decreased by $i million from $32
2007 In

response to the generally unfavorable market conditions
million in 2008 to $21 million in 2009 Operating profit included

during the fourth quarter of 2008 we approved plan to undertake

restructuring gains charges of $3 million net in 2009 and $13
further headcount reductions as well as certain facility con-

million in 2008 decline of $i6 million compared to 2008
solidation activities As result as discussed above Merchandising

Operating margins were 7.2% in 2009 compared with 8.o%
Systems operating profit included $13 million of restructuring

2008
charges in connection with these initiatives To lesser extent

Sales were down $109 million compared to the prior year or 27% deleverage associated with lower volumes in our Vending Solutions

primarily reflecting substantially lower volumes in both Vending business adversely impacted our year-over-year
results

Solutions and Payment Solutions and to lesser extent

unfavorable foreign exchange The lower volumes reflect continued

difficult global economic conditions While sales declined approx

imately 37% in the first half of the year we progressively improved

reporting fourth quarter decline of approximately 8% when

compared to the fourth quarter of last year the downturn in our
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FLUID HANDLING tings piping
and plumbing supplies To lesser extent revenues

were lower due to unfavorable foreign exchange

dollars in millions 2009 2oo8 2007
Operating profit was down million or lz% compared to 2oo8

Net Sales 1050 1162 1136
The operating profit decline was primarily driven by deleverage

Operating Profit 132 159 159
associated with aforementioned lower sales volumes and to lesser

Restructuring Charge Gain 19 extent the impact of unfavorable foreign exchange partially offset

Assets 832 889 869
by disciplined pricing savings associated with broad-based cost

Operating Margin 12 .6/o 13 14.00/0

reduction programs and the full
year impact of the late 2oo8

acquisitions
of Krombach and Delta Fluid Products

The restructuring charge gain induded in
operating profit and

operating margin 2oo8 compared with 2007 Fluid Handling sales increased by $26

2009 compared with 2oo8 Fluid Handling sales decreased by $112 million from $1.136 billion in oo to 162 billion in

million from $1.162 billion in 2oo8 to $i.o5o billion in 2oo8 Operating profit was $159 million in 20o8 and 2oo7 The

2009 Operating profit decreased by million from $159 million 2oo7 operating profit included the net gain of $19 million related to

in 2oo8 to $132 million 2009 The 2009 operating profit included the Foundry Restructuring operating profit in 20o8 included

restructuring charges of $5 million operating profit in 2008 restructuring charges of $6 million Operating margin was 13.7% in

included restructuring charges of $6 million Operating margins
2008 compared with 14.o% in 2007

were 12.6% in 2009 compared with 13.7% in 2008
Sales increased $26 million or 2% compared to 2007 The sales

Sales decreased $112 million or io% including core sales decline
increase was primarily due to $24 million or 2% of core growth

of $149 million or 13% and unfavorable foreign currency
trans

driven by increases in product prices which more than offset year

lation of $71 million or 6% partially offset by net increase in over-year
volume declines Backlog was $303 million at

sales from two acquired businesses of $io8 million or 9% Backlog
December 31 2008 up 25% from $243 million at December 31

was $250 million at December 312009 down 17% from $303 mil- 2007

lion at December 31 2008 but stable when compared to Sep- Operating profit was $159 million in 2008 and 2007 The 2007

tember 30 2009 and June 30 2009 when backlog was $252 million
operating profit included the net gain of $19 million related to the

and $256 million respectively Foundry Restructuring as discussed above Operating profit was

Our Crane Valve Group Valve Group includes the following
strong in the first half of 2008 compared to the same 2007 period

businesses Crane ChemPharma Flow Solutions Crane Energy Flow reflecting improvements across all major business units in the

Solutions and Building Services Utilities Valve Group revenues
segment due to strong global demand in the chemical
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decreased 5.9% to $822 million from $873 million in 2008 driven
pharmaceutical and energy industries coupled with throughput

by lower volumes 14.1% and unfavorable foreign exchange
efficiencies pricing discipline and to lesser extent favorable for

6.8% partly offset by revenues contributed from the Krornbach
eign exchange Operating profit was adversely impacted during the

and Delta Fluid Products acquisitions 12.5% and higher pricing
second half of 2008 by slowing orders from short-cycle North

2.5% Crane Energy Flow Solutions revenues increased compared
American businesses delays of several large valve projects into

to the prioryear primarily due to the full
year impact of the 2009 higher operating costs inefficiencies associated with Hurri

December2008 Kronibach acquisition partially offset by volume
cane Ike and unfavorable foreign exchange In addition during the

declines associated with softness in our North American industrial
fourth quarter of 2008 we approved plan to reduce headcount

markets and compounded by general weakness in our global refin-
across several Fluid Handling businesses in response to potential

ing and power markets The Crane ChemPharma Flow Solutions
continued weakness in global demand for industrial products

business experienced significant volume declines due to reduced
which would in turn put further pressure on our operating mar-

capital investment in the chemical industry in particular in mature
gins In the fourth quarter 2008 as discussed above our Fluid

markets such as North America Europe and Japan Our Building
Handling segment operating profit includes $6 million of

Services Utilities revenues also declined and was driven largely by
restructuring charges in connection with these initiatives

unfavorable foreign exchange and core volume declines primarily Our Crane Valve Group Valve Group includes the following

in the building services market partially offset by the benefit of the businesses Crane ChemPharma Flow Solutions Crane Energy Flow

full year impact
of the September 2008 acquisition of Delta Fluid Solutions Building Services Utilities and Crane Valve Services

Products Valve Group revenues increased 3.8% to $873 million from $841

Crane Pumps Systems revenue decreased $i million or i8%to

million in 2007 driven by higher pricing 4.2% and an increase in

$71 million from $86 million in 2008 reflecting continued softness
revenues due to acquisitions net of divestitures o.9% partly

in the housing municipal and Industrial and HVAC markets not-
offset by lower volumes a.o% and unfavorable foreign exchange

withstanding market challenges modest share gains were noted
o.3% The Valve Group revenue growth was due primarily to solid

across the business
pricing discipline across the businesses partially offset by volume

declines which began during the second quarter of 2008 Crane

Crane Supply revenue decreased $45 million to $157 million or Energy Flow Solutions experienced substantial volume declines in

22% from $203 million in 2008 due primarily to volume declines the NorthAmerica bio-fuel market which was more than offset by

and to lesser extent the impact of unfavorable foreign exchange price increases and stronger sales to the Middle East and China

The substantially lower volumes reflect soft market activity in both markets Valve Services experienced strong core growth when

the contractor and maintenance repair and overhaul MRO compared to 2007 driven largely by increases in services for

businesses reflecting softness in end-user markets requiring fit- nuclear power plants and to lesser extent increases in after-
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market valves and parts The Crane ChemPharma Flow Solutions CO RPO RATE
business experienced generally flat volumes with growth primarily

through strong pricing discipline when compared to 2007 Building dollars in millions 2009 2oo8 2007
Services Utilities benefited from strong growth across most tar

geted markets building services water and gas as well as from the
Corporate expense 56 39 52

acquisition of Delta Fluid Products in September 2oo8 Corporate expense
Asbestos 390

Corporate expense
Environmental 24 19

Crane Pumps Systems revenue decreased $io million or 10% to

$86 million from $96 million in oo reflecting an $8 million
Total Corporate 56 63 461

decline in sales resulting from divestiture coupled with the
Interest income 10

impact of softness in the housing and municipal markets These Interest expense 27 26 27

unfavorable impacts more than offset stronger military sales and Miscellaneous 10

strongpricing discipline when compared to the prioryear Effective tax rate 27.5Jo 26.5Io 47.6/o

Crane Supply revenue increased $4 million to $203 million or 2%
2009 compared with 2oo8 Total Corporate expense

decreased $7
from $199 million in 2007 due primarily to strong pricing dis-

million in 2009 due to the absence of an environmental provi
cipline increased contractor activity during the first half of 2oo8

sion of $24.3 million related to our expected liability at our Good-

and to lesser extent favorable foreign exchange notably volumes
year Arizona Superfund Site recorded in 2oo8 the absence of

decreased substantially during the fourth quarter when compared
$4.4 million of recoveries in 2oo8 included in corporate expense

to the same period last year reflecting softness in end-user mar-
in connection with environmental remediation activities offset by

kets requiring fittings piping and plumbing supplies
$7.3 million related to the settlement of lawsuit brought against

us by customer alleging failure of our fiberglass-reinforced plastic

CONTROLS
material and higher corporate pension expense driven primarily

by lower pension asset returns in 2oo8

dollars in millions 2009 2oo8 2007 Interest income Despite higher cash balances interest income

Net Sales 92 147 135 decreased from $io million to $3 million due to lower interest rates

Operating Profit Loss 11 10
Our effective tax rate is affected by recurring items such as tax rates

Restructuring Charge in foreign jurisdictions and the relative amount of income we earn in

26 Assets 70 83 84 different jurisdictions It is also affected by discrete items that may

Operating Margin 4.8% 7.6/o 7.3/o occur in any givenyear but are not consistent fromyear to year The

following items increased/decreased our effective tax rate when
The

restructuring charge is included in operating profit
and

operating margin

compared to the statutory U.S federal income tax rate of 35%

2009 compared with 2oo8 Our Controls segment sales of $92

million decreased million or 38% in 2009 as compared with
dollars in mfflions 2009 2oo8

2008 The lower revenues reflect substantial volume declines to

customers in the oil and gas and transportation end markets Statutory U.S federal tax at 35% 65 64

Segment operating loss of $4 million in 2009 decreased $15 mil- Increase reduction from

lion compared to 2008 and was driven by the aforementioned Rate differences between non-U.S and

volume declines partially offset by savings associated with cost U.S jurisdictions 13
reduction initiatives State and local taxes net of federal

2008 compared with 2007 Our Controls segment sales of $147
benefit

million increased $12 million or 9% in 2008 as compared with Valuation allowance on state deferred tax

2007 The increase was driven by sales contributed by the August
assets

2007 acquisition of the Mobile Rugged Business of KontronAmer- U.S domestic manufacturing deduction

ica Inc MRB and to lesser extent price increases both off- Dividends from non-U.S subsidiaries

set by volume declines related primarily to softness in the oil and net of U.S foreign tax credits

gas
and transportation markets Segment operating profit of $i

Deferred taxes on unremitted earnings
million in 2008 increased io% compared to 2007 primarily due to

of certain non-U.S subsidiaries

full
year profit contribution from the MRB acquisition and the

U.S research and development tax credit

absence of related integration costs incurred in 2007 as well as
Tax benefit from the sale of GTC

targeted pricing actions and production efficiencies These factors

more than offset the volume decreases associated with the afore-
Sundry other items in the aggregate

mentioned market softness Operating profit was also impacted by
Provision benefit for income taxes 51 49

$i million charge in the fourth quarter related to the 2008 Effective tax rate 275% 26.5/o

Restructuring Program

2008 compared with 2007 Total Corporate expense decreased

$398 million in 2008 due to the absence of the provision of

$390.2 million to update and extend the estimate of our asbestos

liability in 2007 an environmental provision of $24.3 million
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and $18.9 million related to our expected liability at our Goodyear new product development activities in order to grow our market

Arizona Superfund Site recorded for the year ended December 31 share With respect to core growth while we continue to see

oo8 and oo7 respectively the absence of $7.6 million
uncertainty in several of our target markets for example in the

provision included in corporate expense relating to the civil false
longer-cycle energy chemical and pharmaceutical and commercial

claims proceeding by the U.S Government in 207 and $4.4 aerospace markets we also see signs of stabilization in some of our

million of recoveries in 2oo8 included in corporate expense in shorter cycle businesses In summary we expect sales to be gen
connection with environmental remediation activities

erally flat compared to 2009 We expect core sales in Fluid Han

Interest income in 2oo8 was $4 million higher than 2007 primar-
dling and Merchandising Systems to be flat and sales decline in

our Aerospace Group is expected to be offset by modest increases in
ily reflecting higher average cash balances

sales in the Electronics Group Engineered Materials and Controls
Miscellaneous income was $1.7 million fl 2008 compared to $10.0 businesses Segment level details with respect to our 2010 outlook
million in 2007 The 2007 amount included $4.1 million gain for sales and operating profit are provided below
from the December 2007 sale of the IMCjointventure as well as

$5.3 million of income earned in 2007 from the 1MG joint venture

prior to divestiture Aerospace Electronics

Our Aerospace Electronics segment has experienced significant

The effective tax rate of 26.5% for 2008 reflected tax provision on increase in operating profit 1112009 when compared to last year
pre-tax income compared to an effective tax rate of 47.6% for 2007 This increase was driven by substantially lower

engineering
which reflected tax benefit on pre-tax loss Our effective tax rate

expense in the Aerospace Group as we completed key activities

for 2008 reflects more tax expense when compared to 2007 related to the development of new products for the Boeing 787 and
primarily as result of

Airbus A4ooM programs the favorable impact of the 787

Settlement Claim and in our Electronics Group stable demandthe asbestos charge recorded in the third quarter of 2007
in the defense electronics business strong program execution and

the impact on our deferred taxes of favorable tax legislation
aggressive cost reduction programs Specific to our Aerospace

enacted in Canada Germany and the United Kingdom during Group pursuant to the settlement agreement our supply contract

2007 will now be direct to Boeing and we have resumed work on

deferred tax benefits recognized in 2007 as part of the sale of
funded basis on modified version of the brake control monitor-

our foundry facility in the UK and the sale of our 49 interest ing system With this new arrangement we expect continued

in the 1MG joint venture and declines in
engineering expense in the Aerospace Group through

2010 Partially offsetting the expected benefit of lower engineering
27

reduction in the U.S federal tax benefit on domestic
expense volumes and profits are expected to be unfavorably

manufacturing activities in 2008 due to lower federal taxable
impacted by further softening of long-cycle sales to commercial

income
aerospace customers In summary we expect decline in Aerospace

These items were partially offset by the establishment of $10.4 Group sales driven by both the softening commercial
aerospace

million deferred tax liability in 2007 related to the estimated addi- market and the absence of the 787 Settlement Claim and modest

tional U.S federal and state income tax due upon the ultimate
repa-

decline in
operating profit driven by the impact of the lower sales

triation of $194 million of the previously undistributed earnings of and the absence of the 787 Settlement Claim partially offset by
certain of our non-U.S subsidiaries lower

engineering expense In the Electronics Group considering

both the acquisition of Merrimac and the divestiture of GTC sales
Asbestos and Environmental

Charges See discussion of the 2007
are expected to be slightly higher and

operating profit generally flat
asbestos charge and the 2008 and 2007 environmental charges

beginning on the first
page of Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Engineered Materials

Our Engineered Materials business segment experienced sig

OutJook nificant improvement in operating profit ill 2009 when compared

to last year notwithstanding higher than expected 33% decline in

General sales The increase in operating profit primarily reflected the

Concerns about global economic growth for industrial businesses absence of $19 million restructuring charge recorded in 2008 as

and disruptions in the financial markets had significant adverse well as the favorable impact of culturally embedded cost discipline

impact on our end markets and correspondingly our results of and
productivity savings The sales decline reflected substantially

operations and cash flow in 2009 We experienced 17% core sales lower volumes to RV manufacturers coupled with sharp declines in

decline during 2009 which far exceeded our initial expectation of our building product and transportation customers While the RV
7% decline Notwithstanding the corresponding deleverage on and transportation end markets are showing signs of stabilization

operating profit and impact on cash flow was substantially miti- we expect continued pressure in our building products business as

gated by our aggressive cost reduction programs As described the U.S non-residential construction industry is forecasted to

above we ended 2009 with approximately $175 million in cost say- decline further in 2010 Considering all of the foregoing which

ings We have culturally embedded disciplined approach to includes our expectation of targeted market share gains and new

ensuring our cost structure is properly aligned to demand and we product introductions that we expect to largely offset potential fur-

have planned modest declines in headcount and
manufacturing ther deterioration in our end markets in 2010 coupled with our

infrastructure during 2010 At the same time we are continuing to leaner organizational structure we expect modest increase in both

make investments in additional front end resources and support sales and operating profit
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Merchandising Systems LIQUIDITYAND CAPITAL
Depressed conditions in end markets for our Vending Solutions

and Payment Solutions businesses has put pressure on our operat-
RESOURCES

ing margins within our Merchandising Systems segment Specifi-
Cash and cash equivalents increased by $141 million to $373 million

cally we experienced z%and 34% decline in sales and operating
at December 31 2009 compared with $232 million at December 31

profit respectively this comparison includes $i6 million
2oo8 Our operating philosophy is to deploy cash provided from

decrease in restructuring charges compared to 2oo8 In response
operating activities when appropriate to provide value to share-

we have taken aggressive steps to reduce costs across the business
holders by paying dividends and/or repurchasing shares by

including reducing headcount by 12% during 2009 which follows
reinvesting in existing businesses and by making acquisitions that

14% reduction in 2oo8 compared to 2007 and within Vending
will complement our portfolio of businesses Concerns about global

Solutions completing the consolidation of our two large North
economic growth for industrial businesses and disruptions in the

American plants Notably demand for higher margin Payment
financial markets had significant and adverse impact on our

Solutions products declined substantially through the second half
operating results in 2009 In response we have initiated variety of

of the
year as end-market applications including retail trans

actions to generate operating cash and maintain liquidity

portation and non-U.S gaming declined sharply However while

still at very depressed levels we experienced sequential quarterly
These actions include restructuring initiatives which

increase in fourth quarter sales for our Vending Solutions products
commenced in December 2oo8 engineering expense

We anticipate stabilization inVending Solutions product demand in reductions and other discretionary cost reduction initiatives

201 but continued market weakness for our Payment Solutions As part of these efforts we have reduced company-wide

products With planned new product introduction and targeted employment excluding the impact of acquisitions by 2300

market share gains we expect sales in oio to be generally flat with people since December 2007 representing decline of 2o%

2009 We also expect operating profit to be generally flat based Through our cost reduction initiatives in 2009 we achieved

largely upon full
year

of savings related to 2009 consolidation cost savings of approximately $175 million

activities and other productivity improvements offset by lower We reduced our level of capital expenditures to $28 million in

sales of higher margin Payment Solutions products 2009 which compares to $45 million in 2008

We did not repurchase shares in the open-market in 2009
Fluid Handling

Our Fluid Handling segment experienced $27 million decline in
We have no borrowings outstanding under our five-year $300
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operating profit or 17% compared to 2008 The operating profit

million Amended and Restated Credit Agreement which

decline was driven by deleverage associated with volume declines expires in September 2012 of which $35 million was

across substantially all businesses Softness in the North American
committed to secure letter of credit to support requirements

of the consent decree for the Goodyear AZ site and we have
industrial market and general weakness in global refining and

power markets resulted inproject deferrals and lower MRO sales
no significant debt maturities coming due until the third

Continued weakness in the non-residential construction market quarter of 2013 when senior unsecured notes having an

also contributed to lower levels of demand for certain of our prod-
aggregate principal amount of $200 million mature

ucts and services globally The impact of the lower volumes was in Our current cash balance of $373 million together with cash gen

part mitigated through the successful execution of broad-based erated from future operations and $265 million available under our

cost reduction programs While we expect demand to remain weak
revolving credit facility are expected to be sufficient to finance our

in the longer- cycle energy chemical and pharmaceutical busi- short- and long-term capital requirements as well as fund cash

nesses with reduced capital investment particularly in the chem-
payments associated with our asbestos and environmental exposures

ical industry in mature markets such as North America Europe and and pension contributions While we believe our cost reduction mi
Japan we expect our short-cycle MRO business to stabilize in 2010 tiatives have had meaningful impact on our cost structure and

In addition with our expanded sales office in the Middle East and
operating cash requirements to the extent global demand for

additional sales personnel inAsia as well as Russia and other CIS industrial products and services declines further we will have lower

countries coupled with our increased presence in Eastern Europe operating profit than we currently expect and we may need to

that was enhanced by the December 2008 acquisition of Krornbach implement additional restructuring initiatives both of which could

we expect to offset potential further weakness in western markets have an adverse impact on our 2010 operating cash flow

with share gains in the above mentioned growing target markets
We have an estimated liability of $821 million for pending and rea

Considering all of the foregoing we expect both sales and operating

profit to be generally flat compared to 2009
sonably anticipated asbestos claims through 2017 and while it is

probable that we will incur additional liabilities for asbestos claims

after 2017 which additional liabilities may be significant we cannot

Controls reasonably estimate the amount of such additional liabilities at this

Our Controls segment experienced $i5 million decline in operat- time Similarly we have an estimated liability of $54 million related

ing profit in 2009 compared to 2008 driven largely by continued to environmental remediation costs projected through 2014 related

softness in the oil and gas and transportation end markets We to our Superfund Site in Goodyear Arizona

anticipate level of stabilization in certain of our target end mar

kets in 2010 which we expect will result in modest increase in Operating Activities

sales and together with more aligned cost base an operating
Cash provided by operating activities key source of our liquidity

profit approaching break-even was $189.0 million in 2009 decrease of $2.4 million or .2%
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compared to 2oo8 This slight decrease resulted from higher pen- of open-market share repurchases which compares to $6o.o mil

sion contributions and lower cash-based earnings substantially lion of open-market share repurchases in 20o8 Offsetting this

offset by reduced working capital and lower tax payments favorable comparison in 2009 $15.1 million of short-term debt was

Pension plan estimates and assumptions included in our 2009
repaid and $7.9 million less cash was received for stock options

financial statements were estimated as of December 31 2oo8 con-
exercised

sistent with current accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States U.S GAAP These assumptions were based on FinancingArrangements

managements best estimates in consultation with its pension
At December 31 2009 we had total debt of $400 million as corn-

advisors at that time The significant decline in the funded status
pared to $415 million at December 31 2oo8 Net debt decreased by

which occurred in 2oo8 largely driven by lower asset returns
$156 million to $27 million at December 31 2009 primarily

resulted in pension expense
that was $i8 million higher in 2009

reflecting higher cash balances The net debt to net capitalization

when compared to 2008 was 2.9% at December 31 2009 down from 19.7% at December 31

2008
In addition we made contributions of $33.4 rnfflion to our defined

benefit plans which compares to contributions of $io million in
In September 2007 we entered into five-year $300 million

2008 The increase in contributions primarily related to higher con-
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement the facility which is

tributions to our U.S defined benefit plan to complywith certain
due to expire September 26 2012 This facility amends and restates

Pension Protection Act provisions and resulted in part from the five-year $450 million revolving credit agreement entered into

declines in the market value of investments during 2008 Of the on January 21 2005 which included $io million term loan

$33.4 million in 2009 $17 millionwas contributed to our u.s component that was terminated by the Company in May 2005 The

defined benefit plan in December on discretionary basis to improve
facility allows us to borrow repay or to the extent permitted by the

the funded status of this plan and to reduce future expected con- agreement prepay
and re-borrow at

any
time prior to the stated

tributions We currently expect to make pension contributions of maturity date and the loan proceeds maybe used for general

approximately $i6 million in 2010 In addition we expect that based corporate purposes including financing for acquisitions The

on current information pension contributions in 2011 will exceed original facility was amended and restated to capitalize on favorable

2010 contributions
bank market conditions and to extend the maturity of the facility In

December2008 we executed Amendment No ito the facility for

Total net asbestos payments were $55.8 million which included

$14.5 million insurance settlement receipt from the Highlands

the
purpose of removing representation regarding our pension

Insurance Company This compares to net asbestos payments of

liability and to amend certain other terms Interest is based on at

$8.i million in 2008 Cash payments related to asbestos settle-

our option LIBOR-based formula that is dependent in part on 29

ment and defense costs net of related insurance recoveries are

the Companys credit rating LIBOR plus io5 basis points as of the

date of this Report up to maximum of LIBOR plus 145 basis

expected to be approximately $6 million in 2010
points or the greatest of the JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A.s

InvestingActivities
prime rate ii the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points iii

Cash flows relating to investing activities consist primarily of cash
formula based on the three-month CD Rate plus 100 basis points or

used for capital expenditures and cash flows from divestitures of
iv an adjusted LIBOR rate plus ioo basis points The facility was

businesses or assets Cash used in investing activities was $5.7 mu- only used for letter of credit purposes in 2009 and was not used in

lion in 2009 compared to $117.7 million used in the comparable
2008 or 2007 The facility contains customary affirmative and neg

period of 2008 The lower levels of cash flows used in investing
ative covenants for credit facilities of this type including the

activities were primarily due to the absence of $76.5 million of
absence of material adverse effect and limitations on us and our

payments we made for the Delta and Krombach acquisitions in
subsidiaries with respect to indebtedness liens mergers con-

2008 Also contributing to the decline was decrease in capital

solidations liquidations and dissolutions sales of all or sub

spending of $i6.8 million capital expenditures were $28.3 111
stantially all assets transactions with affiliates and hedging

2009 down from $45.1 million III 2008 Capital expenditures are
arrangements The facility also provides for customary events of

made primarily for increasing capacity replacing equipment
default including failure to pay principal interest or fees when

supporting new product development and improving information
due failure to comply with covenants the fact that any representa

systems We expect our 2010 capital expenditures to approach $35
tion or warranty made by us is false in any material respect default

million compared to $28 million in 2009
under certain other indebtedness certain insolvency or receiver

ship events affecting us and our subsidiaries certain ERISA events
In February 2010 we made payment of $56 million to complete material judgments and change in control The agreement con-

our acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares through tains leverage ratio covenant requiring ratio of total debt to total

short-form merger of Merrimac designer and manufacturer of
capitalization of less than or equal to 65% At December 31 2009

RF Microwave components subsystem assemblies and micro-
our ratio was 31%

multifunction modules

In November 2006 we issued notes having an aggregate principal

FinancingActivities amount of $2oo million The notes are unsecured senior obliga

Financing cash flows consist primarily of
repayments of indebted- tions that mature on November 15 2036 and bear interest at

ness share repurchases and payments of dividends to share- 6.55% per annum payable semi-annually on May 15 and

holders Cash used in financing activities was $62.0 million in November 15 of each year The notes have no sinking fund

2009 compared to $95.6 million in 2008 The lower levels of cash requirement but maybe redeemed in whole or in part at our

flows used in financing activities in 2009 was driven by the absence option These notes do not contain
any

material debt covenants or



PART II ITEM

cross default provisions If there is change in control and if as Contractual Obligations

consequence
the notes are rated below investment grade by both Under various agreements we are obligated to make future cash

Moodys Investors Service and Standard Poors then holders of payments in fixed amounts These include payments under our

the notes may require us to repurchase them inwhole or in part long-term debt agreements and rent payments required under

for ioiO/s of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest operating lease agreements The following table summarizes our

Debt issuance costs are deferred and included in Other assets and fixed cash obligations as of December 31 2009

then amortized as component of interest
expense over the term of

Payment due by Period

the notes Including debt issuance cost amortization these notes
4osi 2053

After

have an effective annualized interest rate of 6.67% inthousands Total ioso -loll -2014 2014

In September 2003 we issued notes having an aggregate principal Long-term

amount of $2oo million The notes are unsecured senior obliga-
debts 400000 $200000 $200000

Fixed interest

tions that mature on September 15 oi3 and bear interest at

payments 397700 24100 48200 37200 288200

5.50% per annum payable semi-annually on March 15 and Sep-
Operating

tember of each year The notes have no sinking fund require- lease

merit but maybe redeemed in whole or part at our option These payments 47317 13570 17667 8382 7698

notes do not contain any
material debt covenants or cross default

Purchase

obligations 39765 36036 2945 779

provisions Debt issuance costs are deferred and included in Other
Pension and

assets and then amortized as component of interest
expense over

postretirement

the term of the notes Including debt issuance cost amortization benefits2 419546 34608 73305 89438 222195

these notes have an effective annualized interest rate of 5.7o% Other long-

term

All outstanding senior unsecured notes were issued under an liabilities

indenture dated as of April 1991 The indenture contains certain reflected on

limitations on liens and sale and lease-back transactions
Consolidated

Balance

We have domestic unsecured uncommitted money market bid rate Sheets3

credit lines for $6o million at December 31 2009 Total $1304328 $108314 $142117 335799 718098

As of December3i 2009 we had various local currency credit
Excludes original issue discount

lines with maximum available borrowings of $12 million under Pension benefits are funded by the respective pension trusts The postretirement

benefit component of the obligation is approximately $2 million per year for which

written by banks primarily ifl the United States and Europe These
there is no trust and will be directly funded by us Pension and postretirement benefits

credit lines are typically available for borrowings up to 364 days and are included through 2019

As the timing of future cash outflows is uncertain the following long-term liabilities

are renewable at the option of the lender There was $i million out
and related balances are excluded from the above table Long-term asbestos liability

standing under these facilities at December 3i 2009 $730013 and long-term environmental liability $41069

At December 31 2009 we had open standby letters of credit of $44
Capital Structure

million issued pursuant to $6o million uncommitted Letter of
The following table sets forth our capitalization

Credit Reimbursement Agreement and certain other credit lines

substantially all of which expire in 2oio
dollars sn thousands December 31 2009 2008

We have an effective shelf registration filed on Form in May
Short-term borrowings 078 16 622

2007 with the Securities and Exchange Commission allowing us to

Long-term debt 398 557 398 479
issue in one or more offerings an indeterminate amount of either

senior or subordinated debt securities Total debt 399 635 415 101

Less cash and cash equivalents 8727I4 231 840

Credit Ratings Net debt 26 921 183 261

As of December3i 2009 our senior unsecured debt was rated BBB
Equity 898702 745 821

by Standard Poor and Baa2 by Moody Investors Service We

believe that these ratings afford us adequate access to the public and
Net capitalization 920623 929 082

private markets for debt
Net debt to Equity 0% 24 6/o

Net debt to net capitalization 2.91o 19.7/o

Net debt non.GAAP measure represents total debt less cash and cash equivalents

The presentation of net debt provides useful information about our ability to satisfy

our debt obligation with currently available funds

In 2009 equity increased $148 million primarily as result of net

income of $134 million and favorable currency impacts of $6 mil

lion offset by cash dividends of $46 million
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements are stated at either the lower of cost or market using the last- in

We are party to contractually committed off-balance sheet chattel first-out method LIFO or the lower of cost or market using the

paper financing facility that enabled our Crane Merchandising first-in first-out FIFO method We use LIFO for most domestic

Systems CMS business to offer various sales support financing locations which is allowable under U.S GAAP primarily because

programs to its customers At December 31 2009 and 2oo8 $io this method was elected for tax
purposes

and thus required for

million and $19 million respectively were outstanding This financial statement reporting purposes Inventories held in foreign

facility was terminated in June of 2009 Recourse to Crane Co for locations are primarily stated at the lower of cost or market using

all uncollectible loans made to CMS customers by the banks under the FIFO method The LIFO method is not being used at our foreign

this agreement is limited to $5 million locations as such method is not allowable for tax purposes Liqui

dations of LIFO inventories have increased cost of sales by $0.3
We do not have

any majority-owned subsidiaries that are not
million and $2.2 million for the

years
ended December 31 2009

included in the consolidated financial statements nor do we have
and 2008 respectively The portion of inventories costed using the

any
interests in or relationships with any special purpose LIFO method was 36% and 37% of consolidated inventories at

off-balance sheet financing entities
December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively If inventories that were

valued using the LIFO method had been valued under the FIFO

method they would have been higher by $16.9 million and $i6.8
APPLI GATI ON OF RITI CAL

million at December 31 aoo9 and 2008 respectively

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets We review our long-lived assets for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable Examples
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of events or changes in circumstances could include but are not

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in limited to prolonged economic downturn current period operat

Note Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies
ing or cash flow losses combined with history of losses or fore-

to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Certain
cast of continuing losses associated with the use of an asset or asset

accounting policies require us to make estimates and assumptions group or current expectation that an asset or asset group
will be

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date sold or disposed of before the end of its previously estimated useful

of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue life Recoverability is based upon projections of anticipated future

and expense during the reporting period On an on-going basis we undiscounted cash flows associated with the use and eventual dis

evaluate our estimates and assumptions and the effects of revisions
posal of the long-lived asset or asset group as well as specific

31

are reflected in the financial statements in the period in which they appraisal in certain instances Reviews occur at the lowest level for

are determined to be necessary The accounting policies described which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows

below are those that most frequently require us to make estimates associated with other long-lived assets or asset groups If the future

and judgments and therefore are critical to understanding our undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value then the

results of operations We have discussed the development and
long-lived asset is considered impaired and loss is recognized

selection of these accounting estimates and the related disclosures based on the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the

with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors estimated fair value Judgments we make which impact these

Revenue Recognition Sales revenue is recorded when product is

assessments relate to the exected useful lives of long-lived assets

and our ability to realize any undiscounted cash flows in excess of
shipped title riskof loss passes to the customer and collection of

the resulting receivable is reasonably assured Revenue on long-
the carrying amounts of such assets and are affected primarily by

term fixed-price contracts is recorded on percentage of corn-
changes in the expected use of the assets changes in technology or

pletion basis using units of delivery as the measurement basis for
development of alternative assets changes in economic conditions

progress toward completion Sales under cost-reimbursement-
changes in operating performance and changes in expected future

cash flows Since judgment is involved in determining the fair value
type contracts are recorded as costs are incurred

of long-lived assets there is risk that the carrying value of our long-

Accounts Receivable We continually monitor collections from lived assets may require adjustment in future periods due to either

customers and in addition to providing an allowance for changing assumptions or changing facts and circumstances

uncollectible accounts based upon customers financial condition
Income Taxes We account for income taxes in accordance with

we record provision for estimated credit losses when customer

accounts exceed 90 days past due We aggressively pursue collection
Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 740 Income

Taxes which requires an asset and liability approach for the finan
efforts on these overdue accounts The allowance for doubtful

cial accounting and reporting of income taxes Under this method
accounts at December 31 2009 and 2008 was $9 million and $8

deferred income taxes are recognized for the expected future tax
million respectively

consequences of differences between the tax bases of assets and

Inventories Inventories include the costs of material labor and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements

overhead and are stated at the lower of cost or market We regularly These balances are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to

review inventory values on hand and record provision for excess apply in the years in which these temporary differences are

and obsolete inventory primarily based on historical performance expected to reverse The effect on deferred income taxes of change

and our forecast of product demand over the next two years As in tax rates is recognized in income in the period when the change

actual future demand or market conditions vary from those pro- is enacted

jected by us adjustments will be required Domestic inventories
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Based on consideration of all available evidence regarding their assumptions are projected by each reporting unit based on the cur-

utilization net deferred tax assets are recorded to the extent that it rent cost structure and anticipated net cost increases/reductions

is more likely than not that they will be realized Where based on There are inherent uncertainties related to these assumptions

the weight of all available evidence it is more likely than not that including changes in market conditions and managements judg

some amount of deferred tax asset will not be realized valuation ment in applying them to the analysis of goodwill impairment In

allowance is established for that amount that in our judgment is addition to the foregoing for each reporting unit market multiples

sufficient to reduce the deferred tax asset to an amount that is more are used to corroborate our discounted cash flow results where fair

likely than not to be realized value is estimated based on EBITDA multiples determined by avail

able public information of comparable businesses While we believe

We account for unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC
we have made reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate the

Topic 740 which prescribes minimum probability threshold that

fair value of our reporting units it is possible material change
tax position must meet before financial statement benefit is

could occur If actual results are not consistent with managements
recognized The minimum threshold is defined as tax position

estimates and assumptions goodwill and other intangible assets

that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the

may be overstated and charge would need to be taken
against net

applicable taxing authority including resolution of
any

related

earnings Furthermore in order to evaluate the sensitivity of the fair

appeals or litigation based solely on the technical merits of the
value calculations on the goodwill impairment test we applied

position The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest

hypothetical reasonably possible io% decrease to the fair values of

amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being
each reporting unit The results of this hypothetical a% decrease

realized upon ultimate settlement
would still result in fair value calculation exceeding our carrying

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax value for each of our reporting units No impairment charges have

benefits within the income tax expense line of the Consolidated been required during 2007 2oo8 and 2009

Statement of Operations while accrued interest and penalties are
Contingencies The categories of claims for which we have esti

included within the related tax liability line of the Consolidated
mated our liability the amount of our liability accruals and the

Balance Sheets
estimates of our related insurance receivables are critical account-

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets As of December 31 2009 we ing estimates related to legal proceedings and other contingencies

had $787 million of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Please refer to Note ii Commitments and Contingencies of the

lives Our business acquisitions typically result in the acquisition of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

goodwill and other intangible assets We follow the provisions under
Pension Plans In the United States we sponsor defined benefit

32 ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ABC 350 as it

pension plan that covers approximately 450/i of all U.S employees
relates to the accounting for goodwill in our Consolidated Financial

The benefits are based on years
of service and compensation on

Statements These provisions require that we on at least an annual
final

average pay basis except for certain hourly employees where
basis evaluate the fair value of the reporting units to which goodwill

benefits are fixed per year
of service This plan is funded with

is assigned and attributed and compare that fair value to the carrying
trustee in respect to past and current service Charges to expense

value of the reporting unit to determine if impairment exists
are based upon costs computed by an independent actuary Our

Impairment testing takes place more often than annually if events or
funding policy is to contribute annually amounts that are allowable

circumstances indicate change in the impairment status report-
for federal or other income tax purposes These contributions are

ing unit is an operating segment unless discrete financial
intended to provide for future benefits earned to date and those

information is prepared and reviewed by segment management for

expected to be earned in the future number of our non- U.S
businesses one level below that operating segment component

subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans that cover
in which case the component would be the reporting unit In certain

approximately 18% of all non-U.S employees The benefits are

instances we have aggregated components of an operating segment
typically based upon years

of service and compensation These
into single reporting unit based on similareconomic character-

plans are generally funded with trustees in respect to past and cur
istics At December 31 2009 we had reportingunits

rent service Charges to expense are based upon costs computed by

When performing our annual impairment assessment we compare independent actuaries Our funding policy is to contribute annu

the fair value of each of our reporting units to their respective carry- ally amounts that are allowable for tax purposes or mandated by

ing value Goodwill is considered to be potentially impaired when local statutory requirements These contributions are intended to

the net book value of reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair val- provide for future benefits earned to date and those expected to be

ue Fair values are established primarily by discounting estimated earned in the future

future cash flows at an estimated cost of capital which varies for each
The net periodic pension cost was $8 million in 2009 $0 in 2008

reporting unit and which as of our most recent annual impairment
and $9 million in 2007 Employer cash contributions were $33 mil

assessment ranged between 9.5% and 12.5% reflecting the
lion in 2009 $io million in 2008 and $5 million in 2007 We

respective inherent business risk of each of the reporting units

expect based on current actuarial calculations to contribute cash of

tested This methodologr for valuing the Companys reportingunits
approximately $i6 million to our pension plans in 2010 Cash con

commonly referred to as the Income Method has not changed
tributions in subsequent years will depend on number of factors

since the prioryear The determination of discounted cash flows is

including the investment performance of plan assets however we
based on the businesses strategic plans and long-range planning

expect pension contributions in 2011 will exceed 2010 con-

forecasts which change from year to year The revenue growth rates

tributions
included in the forecasts represent our best estimates based on

current and forecasted market conditions and the profit margin
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For the pension plan holding all other factors constant decrease Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

in the expected long-term rate of return of plan assets by 0.25 per- about Market Risk

centage points would have increased U.S 2009 pension expense by

$0.5 million for U.S pension plans and $o.6 million for Non-U.S Our cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctuations from

pension plans Also holding all other factors constant decrease changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates We

in the discount rate used to measure plan liabilities by 0.25 manage our exposures to these market risks through internally

percentage points would have increased 2009 pension expense by
established policies and procedures and when deemed appro

$i.o million for U.S pension plans and $0.4 million for Non-U.S priate through the use of interest-rate swap agreements and for-

pension plans See Note Pension and Postretirement Benefits ward exchange contracts We do not enter into derivatives or other

to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for details of financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes

the impact of one percentage point change in assumed health care
Total debt outstanding of $400 million at December 31 2009 was

trend rates on the postretirement health care benefit
expense

and
generally at fixed rates of interest ranging from 5.500/0 to 6.55%

obligation

The following is an analysis of the potential changes in interest

The following key assumptions were used to calculate the benefit rates and currency exchange rates based upon sensitivity analysis

obligation and net periodic cost for the periods indicated that models effects of shifts in rates These are not forecasts

Pension Benefits Our year-end portfolio is comprised primarily of fixed-rate

debt therefore the effect of market change in interest rates

DeCember3l 2009 2008 2007
_____________________________________ _______ _______ ________ would not be sigrnficant

Benefit Obligations
If on January 2010 currency exchange rates were to decline

Plans i% against the dollar and the decline remained in place

Discount rate 10% 75% 25fo for 2010 based on our year-end 2009 portfolio net income

Rate of compensation increase 65% 91% 15% would not be materially impacted

Non-U Plans

Discount rate 76% 40/o 82/o

Rate of compensation increase 72% 76/o 26Io

Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Plans

Discount rate 75% 25/o 00/o

Expected rate of return on plan assets 75% 750/a 75Io

Rate of compensation increase 91% 15% 65/o

Non-U Plans

Discount rate 40% 78/o 14/o

Expected rate of return on plan assets 25% 12/o 78/o

Rate of compensation increase 3.62M 3.27/o 3.29/o

The long term expected rate of return on plan assets assumptions

were determined with input from independent investment con

sultants and plan actuaries utilizing asset pricing models and con

sidering historic returns The discount rates we used for valuing

pension liabilities are based on review of high quality corporate

bond yields with maturities approximating the remaining life of the

projected benefit obligation

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions We and certain of our

subsidiaries provide postretirement
health care and life insurance

benefits to current and former employees hired before January

i990 who meet minimum
age

and
years

of service requirements

We do not pre-fund these benefits and retain the right to modify or

terminate the plans We expect based on current actuarial calcu

lations to contribute cash of $1.7 million to our postretirement

benefit plans in 2010 The weighted average discount rates assumed

to determine postretirement benefit obligations were 5.30%

7.00% and 5.75% for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

health care cost trend rates assumed was 9.00% for 2009 2008 and

2007
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Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY

FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Crane Co

and subsidiaries have been prepared by management in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

of America and in the judgment of management present fairly and

consistently the Companys financial position and results of oper

ations and cash flows These statements by necessity include

amounts that are based on managements best estimates and judg

ments and give due consideration to materiality

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adeqnate internal control over financial reporting The Companys
internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assur

ance to the Companys management and board of directors regard

ing the preparation and fair presentation of published financial

statements

All internal control systems no matter how well designed have

inherent limitations Therefore even those systems determined to

be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to

financial statement preparation and presentation

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 oo9 In mak

ing this assessment it used the criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on

34 our assessment we believe that as of December 31 oo9 the

Companys internal control over financial reporting is effective

based on those criteria

Deloitte Touche LLP the independent registered public account

ing firm that also audited the Companys consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form io-K audited

the operating effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 oo9 and issued their related attes

tation report which is included on page 35

Eric Fast

President and Chief Executive Officer

Timothy MacCarrick

Vice President Chief Financial Officer

The Section 3o certifications of the Companys President and

Chief Executive Officer and its Vice President Chief Financial

Officer have been filed as Exhibit 31 to the Companys Annual

Report on Form io-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements
Crane Co

Stamford CT Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over finan

cial reporting including the possibility of collusion or improper
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of

Crane Co and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31
management override of controls material misstatements due to

error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis

oo9 and 2oo8 and the related consolidated statements of oper
Also projections of anyevaluationof the effectiveness of the

ations cash flows and equity for each of the three years in the
internal control over financial reporting to future periods are sub-

period ended December 31 oo9 We also have audited the

ject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of

Companys internal control over financial reporting as of
changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

December 31 OO9 based on criteria established in Internal Con-
policies or procedures may deteriorate

trol Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsor

ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to

management is responsible for these financial statementsfor above present fairly in all material respects the financial position

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and of the Crane Co and subsidiaries as of December 31 OO9 and

for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 2oo8 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements each of the three
years

in the period ended December 31 oo9 in

Responsibility for Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on United States of America Also in our opinion the Company main-

the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on tamed in all material respects effective internal control over

our audits financial reporting as of December 31 oo9 based on the criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Commission
Those standards require

that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

//4
are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
Stamford CT 35

respects Our audits of the financial statements included examin-
FEBRUARY 24 2010

ing on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and dis

closures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management

and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our

audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and

evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal con

trol based on the assessed risk Our audits also included perform

ing such other procedures as we considered
necessary

in the

circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process

designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal

executive and principal financial officers or persons performing

similarfunctions and effected by the companys board of directors

management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and proce

dures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures

of the company are being made only in accordance with author

izations of management and directors of the company and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For year ended December 31

inthousands except per share data 2009 2008 2ooz

Net sales 2196343 $2604307 2619171

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales 1466030 1751036 1776157

Asbestos charge 390150

Environmental charge 24342 18912

Restructuring charge gain 243 40703 19083

Selling general and administrative 516801 590737 560691

1988074 2406818 2726827

Operating profit loss 208269 197489 107656

Other income expense

Interest income 2820 10263 6259

Interest
expense 27139 25799 27404

Miscellaneous income 976 1694 10013

23343 13842 11132

Income loss before income taxes 184926 183647 118788

Provision benefit for income taxes 50846 48694 56553

Net income loss before allocations to noncontrolling interests 134080 134953 62235

Less Noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries earnings losses 224 205 107

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders 133856 135158 62342

36 Basic earnings loss per share 2.29 2.27 1.04

Average basic shares outstanding 58473 59667 60037

Diluted earnings loss per share 2.28 2.24 1.04

Average diluted shares outstanding 58812 60298 60037

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Balance at December3i

in thousands except shares and per share data 2009 p0 o8

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 372714 231840

Current insurance receivable asbestos 35300 41300

Accounts receivable net 282463 334263

Inventories net 284552 349926

Current deferred tax assets 58856 50457

Other current assets 12461 13454

Total current assets 1046346 1021240

Property plant and equipment net 285224 290814

Insurance receivable asbestos 213004 260660

Long-term deferred tax assets 204386 233165

Other assets 83229 80676

Intangible assets net 118731 106701

Goodwill 761978 781232

Totalassets $2712898 $2774488

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 1078 16622

Accounts payable 142390 182147

Current asbestos liability 100300 91000

Accrued liabilities 218864 246915

U.S and foreign taxes on income 4150 1980

Total current liabilities 466782 538664

Long-term debt 398557 398479

Accrued pension and postretirement benefits 141849 150125

Long-term deferred tax liability 29578 22971

Long-term asbestos liability 720713 839496

Other liabilities 61717 78932

Commitments and Contingencies Note ii

Equity

Preferred shares par value $.oi 5oooooo shares authorized

Common shares parvalue $i.oo

200000000 shares authorized 72426139 shares issued

58526750 shares outstanding 58489766 in poo8 72426 72426

Capital surplus 161409 157078

Retained earnings 1022838 935460

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 5130 45131

Treasury stock 13899389 treasury shares 13936373 in poo8 376041 381771

Total shareholders equity 885762 738062

Noncontrolling interest 7940 7759

Total equity 893702 745821

Total liabilities and equity $2712898 $2774488

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Foryear ended December3i

inthousands OO9 oo8 OO7

Operating activities

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders 133856 135158 62342

Noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries earnings losses 224 205 107

Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interests 134080 134953 62235

Asbestos charge 390150

Environmental charge 24342 18912

Restructuring non cash 15745 27838

Gain on sale ofjoint venture 4i44

Gain loss on divestitures 932 975

Income from joint venture 5322

Depreciation and amortization 58204 57162 61310

Stock-based compensation expense
9166 13327 15247

Deferredincometaxes 26284 13296 112641

Cash provided from used for operating working capital 47403 17560 7322

Payments for asbestos-related fees and costs net of

insurance recoveries 55827 58083 10198

Other 30296 25978 24061

TOTAL PROVIDED FROM OpERATING ACTIVITIES 189014 191392 232833

Investing activities

Capital expenditures
28346 45136 47169

Proceeds from sale of equity
investment 32996

Proceeds from disposition of capital assets 4768 1871 48437

Payments for acquisitions net of cash and liabilities assumed of

$16716 in oo8 and $1689 in oo 76527 65498

Proceeds from divestitures 17864 2106 2005
38

TOTAL GSED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES 5714 117686 29229

Financing activities

Equity

Dividends paid 46783 45203 39651

Reacquisition of shares on open market 60001 50001

Stock options exercised net of shares reacquired 1070 8955 15057

Excess tax benefit exercise of stock Options 224 1996 6978

Debt

Net decrease increase in short-term borrowings 16474 1371 8992

TOTAL DSED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES 61963 95624 76609

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 19537 29612 17768

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 140874 51530 144763

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 231840 283370 138607

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
year

372714 231840 $283370

Detail of cash provided from used for operating working capital

Net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 55166 29650 2069

Inventories 67732 10183 767

Other current assets 1345 1097 529

Accounts payable
43797 2720 7430

Accrued liabilities 30514 16886 9121

U.S and foreigntaxes on income 2529 14976 25704

Total 47403 17560 7322

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Interest paid 27140 25882 27315

Income taxes paid 10744 46459 68949

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



PART II ITEM

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Common Accumulated

Shares Other Total

Issued at Capital Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders Noncontrolling Total

in thousands except per share data Par Value Surplus Earnings Loss Income Loss Income Stock Equity Interest Equity

BALANCE JANUARY 2007 $72426 $134798 946077 73175 $3o7s7a $918603 $8033 $926636

Net loss 62342 62342 62342 107 62235
Cash dividends 39642 39642 39642

Reacquisition on open market 1247130
shares 00001 50001 50001

Exercise of stock options net of shares

reacquired 845498 18211 18211 18211

Stock option amortization 6737 6737 6737

Tax benefit stock options and

restricted stock 6978 6978 6978

Restricted stock awarded 90365 shares net 1771 3586 5357 5357

Change in pension and postretirement plan

assets and benefit obligation net of tax 30027 30027 30027 35027

Currencytranslationadjustment
________ _______ ________

50875 50875
________ 50875 254 51129

Comprehensive income 18560

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2007 72426 145813 845864 154077 336077 884803 8394 893197

Net income 035158 135158 135158 205 134953

Cash dividends 45562 45562 45562

Reacquisition on open market 2290976
shares 60001 60001 60051

Exercise of stock options net of shares

reacquired 426346 13414 13414 13404

Stock option amortization 5623 5623 5623

Tax benefit stock options and

restricted stock 685 685 685 39
Restricted stock awarded

193045 shares net 2257 893 3150 3150

Changes in pension and postretirement plan

assets and benefit obligation net of tax 95896 95896 95896 95596

Currency translation adjustment
___________ _________ ___________

003312 103302
__________

103312 430 103742

Comprehensive loss 64550

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2008 72426 157078 935460 45131 3s17n 738062 7759 745521

Net income 133856 133886 138886 224 134080

Cash dividends 46478 46478 46478
Exercise of stock options net of shares

reacquired 010050 2447 2447 2447

Stock option amortization 4.850 4350 4350

Tax benefit stock options and restricted

stock 224 224 224

Restricted stock net 243 3283 3040 3040

Changes in pension and postretirement plan

assets and benefit obligation net of tax 5676 5676 5676 5676
Currency translation adjustment _________ _________ 55917 55937

_________
55937 43 55894

Comprehensive income 184117

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2009 $72426 $161409 $1022838 5130 $aTs041 885762 $7940 893702

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

Financial Statements amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period

Actual results may differ from those estimated Estimates and

Note Nature of Operations and Significant assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of revisions

Accounting Policies are reflected in the financial statements in the period in which they

Nature of Operations Crane Co the Company is diversified
are determined to be necessary

Estimates are used when account-

manufacturer of highly engineered industrial products
ing for such items as asset valuations allowance for doubtful

accounts depreciation and amortization impairment assessments

The Companysbusiness consists of five reporting segments Aero-
restructuring provisions employee benefits taxes asbestos

space
Electronics Engineered Materials Merchandising Sys-

liability and related insurance receivable environmental liability

tems Fluid Handling and Controls and contingencies

The Aerospace Electronics segment consists of two groups the
Currency Translation Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that

Aerospace Group and the Electronics Group Aerospace products
prepare financial statements in currencies other than the U.S dol

include
pressure

fuel flow and position sensors and subsystems
lar are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance

brake control systems coolant lube and fuel pumps and seat
sheet date results of operations are translated at the average rates

actuation Electronics products include high-reliability power of exchange prevailing during the year The related translation

supplies and custom microelectronics for aerospace defense
adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive

medical and other applications and electrical power components income loss in separate component of eqnity

power management products electronic radio frequency and

microwave frequency components and subsystems for the defense Revenue Recognition Sales revenue is recorded when product is

space
and military communications markets shipped title risk of loss passes

to the customer and collection of

the resulting receivable is reasonably assured Revenue on long-
The Engineered Materials segment consists of Crane Composites

term fixed-price contracts is recorded on percentage of corn-

and Polyflon Crane Composites representing almost the entire

segment manufactures fiberglass reinforced plastic panels for the
pletion basis using units of delivery as the measurement basis for

truck trailer and recreational vehicle RV markets industrial
progress toward completion Sales under cost-reiursement

markets and the commercial construction industry Polyflon is

contracts are recorded as costs are incurred

manufacturer of specialty components primarily microwave sub- Cost of Goods Sold Cost of goods sold includes the costs of

40 strates utilized in antenna applications inventory sold and the related purchase and distribution costs In

The Merchandising Systems segment consists of two groups Vend-
addition to material labor and direct overhead inventoried cost

ing Solutions and Payment Solutions Vending Solutions products
and accordingly cost of goods sold include allocations of other

include food snack and beverage vending machines and vending
expenses that are part of the production process

such as inbound

machine software Payment Solutions products include coin freight charges purchasing and receiving costs inspection costs

changers and validators coin dispensers and bill validators warehousing costs amortization of production- related intangible

assets and depreciation expense We also include costs directly

The Fluid Handling segment manufactures and sells various types associated with products sold such as warranty provisions

of industrial and commercial valves and actuators provides valve

testing parts
and services manufactures and sells pumps and water Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and

purification solutions distributes pipe pipe fittings couplings and administrative expense is charged to income as incurred Such

connectors and designs manufactures and sells corrosion- expenses include the costs of promoting and selling products and

resistant plastic-lined pipes and fittings
include such items as compensation advertising sales commissions

and travel In addition compensation for other operating activities

The Controls segment produces ride-leveling air-suspension
such as executive office administrative and engineering functions are

control valves for heavy trucks and trailers pressure temperature
included as well as general operating expenses

such as office sup
and level sensors ultra-rugged computers measurement and con-

plies non-income taxes insurance and office equipment rentals

trol systems and intelligent data acquisition products Controls

products also include engine compressor monitoring and diag- Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes in accord

nostic systems water treatment equipment wireless sensor net- ance with Accounting Standards Codification ASC 740 Income

works and covert radio products primarily for the military and Taxes which requires an asset and liability approach for the finan

intelligence markets cial accounting and reporting of income taxes Under this method

deferred income ta

Please refer to Note 14 Segment Information of the Notes to the
xes are recognized for the expected future tax

Consolidated Financial Statements for the relative size of these
consequences

of differences between the tax bases of assets and

segments in relation to the total Company both net sales and total
liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements

These balances are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to

assets
apply in the years in which these temporary differences are

Significant Accounting Policies expected to reverse The effect on deferred income taxes of change

in tax rates is recognized in income in the period when the change

Use of Estimates The Companys consolidated financial statements
is enacted

are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of.America U.S GAAP These Based on consideration of all available evidence regarding their

accounting principles require management to make estimates and utilization net deferred tax assets are recorded to the extent that it
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is more likely than not that they will be realized Where based on Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are

the weight of all available evidence it is more likely than not that limited due to the large number of customers and relatively small

some amount of deferred tax asset will not be realized valuation account balances within the majority of the Companys customer

allowance is established for that amount that in managements base and their dispersion across different businesses The Com

judgment is sufficient to reduce the deferred tax asset to an amount pany periodically evaluates the financial strength of its customers

that is more likely than not to be realized and believes that its credit risk exposure is limited

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits in accordance Inventories Inventories consist of the following

with ASC Topic 740 which prescribes minimum probability

threshold that tax position must meet before financial statement
in thousands December 2009 2o08

benefit is recognized The minimum threshold is defined as tax

position
that is more likely than not to be sustained upon exarrnna

Finished goods 88555 97 496

tion by the applicable taxing authority including resolution of
any

Finished parts and subassembhes 23844 41 345

related appeals or litigation based solely on the technical merits of Work in process 53126 60 106

the position The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the Raw materials 119 027 150 979

largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of
Total inventories $284 552 $349 926

being realized upon ultimate settlement

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecog-
Inventories include the costs of material labor and overhead and

nized tax benefits within the income tax expense
line of its Con- are stated at the lower of cost or market Domestic inventories are

solidated Statement of Operations while accrued interest and
stated at either the lower of cost or market using the last-in

penalties are included within the related tax liability line of its
first- out method LIFO or the lower of cost or market using the

Consolidated Balance Sheets
first-in first-out FIFO method The Company uses LIFO for most

domestic locations which is allowable under U.S GAAP primarily

Earnings Losses Per Share The Companys basic earnings per because this method was elected for tax purposes and thus required

share calculations are based on the weighted average number of for financial statement reporting purposes Inventories held in

common shares outstanding during the year Diluted earnings per foreign locations are primarily stated at the lower of cost or market

share gives affect to all potential dilutive common shares out-
using

the FIFO method The LIFO method is not being used at the

standing during the year For the year
ended December3i 2007 Companys foreign locations as such method is not allowable for

io93000 shares attributable to the potential exercise of out- tax purposes Liquidations of LIFO inventories have increased cost

standing options were excluded from the calculation of diluted of sales by $0.3 million and $2.2 million for the
years

ended

earnings per share because the effect was anti-dilutive December 3i 2009 and 2008 respectively The portion of

inventories costed using the LIFO method was 36% and 37% of

in thousands except per share data For consolidated inventories at December 31 2009 and 2008
yearendedDecember3l 2009 2008 2007

respectively If inventories that were valued using the LIFO method

Net income loss attributable to had been valued under the FIFO method they would have been

commonshareholders $133856 $135 158 $62 342 higherby$i6 9millionand$i6 8millionatDecember3i 2009

and 2008 respectively

Average basic shares outstanding 58473 59667 60037

Effect of dilutive stock options 339 631 Property Plant and Equipment net Properly plant and equip-

Average diluted shares outstanding 58 812 60 298 60 037
ment net consist of the following

Basic earnings losses per share 29 27 04 inthousands December31 2009 2008

Diluted earnings losses per
share 28 24 04 Land 65 138 58879

Buildings and improvements 180877 172 157

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include
Machinery and equipment 525 132 555 490

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months

or less that are readily convertible to cash and are not subject to
Gross property plant and equipment 771 147 786 526

significant risk from fluctuations in interest rates As result the Less accumulated depreciation 485 923 495 712

carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair
Property plant and equipment net $285224 $290 814

value

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost Depreciation is

Accounts Receivable Receivables are carried at net realizable value
calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated usefid

summary of allowance for doubtful accounts activity follows lives of the respective assets which range from ten to twenty-five

years
for buildings and improvements and three to ten years

for

inthousands December31 2009 2008 2007
machinery and equipment

Balance at beginning of year
081 988 192 Goodwill and Intangible Assets The Company business acquis

Provisions 7203 356
itions have typically resulted in the recognition of goodwill and

Deductions 6378 263 179
other intangible assets The Company follows the provisions under

ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ASC 350 as

Balance at end of year 8906 8081 8988
it relates to the accountingfor goodwill in Consolidated Financial



PART II ITEM

Statements These provisions require that the Company on at least and through other sources In the months after closing as the

an annual basis evaluate the fair value of the reporting units to Company obtains additional information about these assets and

which goodwill is assigned and attributed and compare that fair liabilities and learns more about the newly acquired business it is

value to the carrying value of the reporting unit to determine if able to refine the estimates of fair value and more accurately allo

impairment exists The Company performs its annual impairment cate the purchase price Factors and information that the Company

testing during the fourth
quarter Impairment testing takes place uses to refine the allocations include primarily tangible and

more often than annually if events or circumstances indicate intangible asset appraisals The Company finalized its purchase

change in status that would indicate potential impairment price allocations in 2009 associated with its 2oo8 acquisitions of

reporting unit is an operating segment unless discrete financial Delta Fluid Products Limited Delta and Friedrich Krombach

information is prepared and reviewed by segment management for GmbH Company KGArmaturenwerke and Krombach Interna

businesses one level below that operating segment tional GmbH Kronibach and has made appropriate adjustments

component in which case the component would be the report- to the purchase price allocation prior to the one-year anniversary of

ing unit In certain instances the Company has aggregated compo- the acquisition as required Effective January oo9 the Corn

nents of an operating segment into single reporting unit based on pany adopted the new provisions under ASC 8io- io Business

similareconomic characteristics At December 31 2009 and 2oo8 Combinations which establishes principles and requirements for

the Company had twelve reporting units how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial state

ments the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed and
When performing its annual impairment assessment the Company

any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and recognizes and

compares the fair value of each of its reporting units to its

measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or

respective carrying
value Goodwill is considered to be potentially

gain
from bargain purchase These provisions also set forth the

impaired when the net bookvalue of the reporting unit exceeds its

disclosures required to be made in the financial statements to

estimated fair value Fair values are established primarily by
evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business

discounting estimated future cash flows at an estimated cost of
combination

capital which varies for each reporting unit and which as of the

Companys most recent annual impairment assessment ranged Changes to goodwill are as follows

between 9.5% and i2.5% reflecting the respective inherent

business risk of each of the reportingunits tested This inthousands December3s 2009 2008

methodology for valuing the Companys reporting units commonly
Balance at beginning of

year $781232 $766 550
referred to as the Income Method has not changed since the

42
adoption of the provisions under ASC 350 The determination of

Additions 47 981

discounted cash flows is based on the businesses strategic plans
Adjustments to purchase price

allocations 22601

and long-range planning forecasts which change from year to year
Translation and other adjustments 3347 33 299

The revenue growth rates included in the forecasts represent best Balance at end of year $761978 $781 232

estimates based on current and forecasted market conditions

Profit margin assumptions are projected by each reporting unit Goodwill decreased $22 million during the
year

ended

based on the current cost structure and anticipated net costs December 31 2009 due to the finalization of purchase price alloca

increases/reductions There are inherent uncertainties related to tions associated with the acquisitions of Krombach in December

these assumptions including changes in market conditions and 2008 and of Delta in September 2008 Goodwill increased $48 mil

managements judgment in applying them to the analysis of lion during the year
ended December 31 2008 due to the prelimi

goodwill impairment In addition to the foregoing for each nary
valuation allocations of the aforementioned acquisitions of

reporting unit market multiples are used to corroborate its Krombach and Delta

discounted cash flow results where fair value is estimated based on
Changes to intangible assets are as follows

earnings multiples determined by available public information of

comparable businesses While the Company believes it has made
in thousands December3s 2009 2008

reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of

its reporting units it is possible material change could occur If Balance at beginning of
year net of

actual results are not consistent with management estimates and accumulated amortization $106 701 $128 150

assumptions goodwill and other intangible assets maybe Additions 22601

overstated and charge would need to be taken against net
Amortization

expense 14 067 14 668

earnings Furthermore in order to evaluate the sensitivity of the
Currency translation 496 757

fair value calculations on the goodwill impairment test performed
Asset write-downs 024

during the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company applied

hypothetical reasonably possible io% decrease to the fair values of Balance at end of
year

net of accumulated

each reportingunit The effects of this hypothetical io% decrease amortization $118731 $106701

would still result in the fair value calculation exceeding the carrying

value for each reporting unit

The Company makes an initial allocation of the purchase price at

the date of acquisition based upon its understanding of the esti

mated fair value of the individual acquired assets and liabilities and

that the Company obtains this information during due diligence
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summary of the intangible assets are as follows

OO9 oo8
Weighted Average

Amortization Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

in thousands December3i Period inyears Asset Amortization Net Asset Amortization Net

Intellectual rights 10.5 99921 53022 $46899 91355 $48858 42497

Customer relationships and backlog 5.6 97545 39075 58470 85204 30325 54879

Drawings 0.7 10825 10283 542 10825 10144 681

Other 4.1 25888 13068 12820 17913 9269 8644

7.8 $234179 $115448 $118731 $205297 $98596 $106701

Amortization expense for these intangible assets is expected to be the notional principal amounts The changes in the fair value of

$13.1 million in oio $12.9 million in oii $so.6 million in 2oi2 these derivatives are recognized in other comprehensive income

$io.6 million in 2013 and $46.3 million in 2014 and thereafter for qualifying cash flow hedges

Of the $118.7 million of net intangible assets at December 31

oo9 $25.2 million of intangibles with indefinite useful lives Recently Issued Accounting Standards

consisting of trade names are not being amortized under the In October oo9 the Financial Accounting Standards Board

provisions of ASC 350 FASB issued new revenue recognition standards for

Valuation of Long- Lived Assets The Company reviews its long-
arrangements with multiple deliverables where certain of those

deliverables are non-software related The new standards permit
lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in

entities to initiall

circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
use managements best estimate of selling

recoverable Examples of events or changes in circumstances
price to value individual deliverables when those deliverables do

not have vendor- specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value
could include but are not limited to prolonged economic

or when third-party evidence is not available Additionally these
downturn current period operating or cash flow losses combined

new standards modify the manner inwhich the transaction
with history of losses or forecast of continuing losses asso

consideration is allocated across the separately identified
elated with the use of an asset or asset group or current expect-

deliverables by no longer permitting the residual method of allo
ation that an asset or asset group will be sold or disposed of before

the end of its previously estimated useful life Recoverability is
eating arrangement consideration These new standards are

effective for annual periods ending after June 15 2010 however
based upon projections of anticipated future undiscounted cash

flows associated with the use and eventual disposal of the long-
early adoption is permitted We are currently evaluating the

lived asset or asset group as well as specific appraisal in certain
impact of adopting these new standards on our consolidated

financial position results of operations and cash flow including
instances Reviews occur at the lowest level for which identifiable

possible early adoption
cash flows are largely independent of cash flows associated with

other long-lived assets or asset groups If the future undiscounted
In June 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Codification

cash flows are less than the carryingvalue then the long-lived MCTopic 105-10 GenerallyAccepted Accounting Principles
asset is considered impaired and aloss is recognized based on the

Overall ASC 105-10 ASC 105-10 establishes the FASB
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair

Accounting Standards Codification the Codification as the
value Judgments that the Company makes which impact these

source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the
assessments relate to the expected useful lives of long-lived assets

FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparaand its ability to realize
any

undiscounted cash flows in excess of
tion of financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP Rules

the carrying amounts of such assets and are affected primarily by
and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal

changes in the expected use of the assets changes in technology or
securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC

development of alternative assets changes in economic con

ditions changes in operating performance and changes in
registrants All guidance contained in the Codification carries an

expected future cash flows Since judgment is involved in
equal level of authority The Codification superseded all existing

non-SEC accounting and reporting standards The Codification
determining the fair value of long-lived assets there is risk that

does not change current U.S GAAP but is intended to simplify
the carrying value of our long-lived assets may require adjustment

user access to all authoritative U.S GAAIP by providing all author-
in future periods

itative literature related to particular topic in one place The

Financial Instruments The Company does not hold or issue adoption changed certain disclosure references to U.S GAAP but

derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative pur-
did not have any other impact on the Companys financial state

poses The Company periodically uses forward foreign exchange ments References made to FASB guidance throughout this

contracts as economic hedges of anticipated transactions and firm document have been updated for the Codification

purchase and sale commitments These contracts are marked to

market on current basis and the respective gains and losses are In June 2009 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting

recognized in other income expense The Company also Standards No 167 Amendments to FASB Interpretation

periodically enters into interest-rate swap agreements to moder- No 46R SFAS No 167 As of December 31 2009 SFAS

ate its
exposure

to interest rate changes Interest-rate swaps are No 167 had been codified underAccounting Standard Update

agreements to exchange fixed and variable rate payments based on ASU 2009-17 SFAS No 167 amends FASB Interpretation
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No 46 revised December 2003 Consolidation of Variable Inter- Note Miscellaneous Income

est Entities FIN 46R to require an enterprise to qualitatively

inthousands Foryear ended December 2000 oo8 oo
assess the determination of the

primary beneficiary of variable

interest entity VIE based on whether the entity has the Gains on sales of assets $134 $1 063 410

power to direct the activities of VIE that most significantly impact Equity Joint venture income 322

the entity economic performance and has the obligation to
Other 842 631 281

absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the

entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE Also SFAS
$976 $1694 $10013

No i67 requires an ongoing reconsideration of the primary
Income from Industrial Motion Control Holdings LLC IMC joint venture The

beneficiary and amends the events that
trigger reassessment of

Company sold its investment in this joint venture on December 18 2007 for net

whether an entity is VIE Enhanced disclosures are also required proceeds of $33 million The
resulting gain of $4.1 million is included in Gaini on

to provide information about an enterprises involvement in VIE
sales of assets

This statement shall be effective as of the beginning of each report

ing entitys first annual reporting period that begins after Note Income Taxes

November 2009 for interim periods within that first annual
Income loss before taxes is as follows

reporting period and for interim and annual
reporting periods

thereafter Earlier application is prohibited The Company is cur
in thousands For year ended

rently evaluating the impact that SFAS No i67 will have on the
December 35 2009 2oo8 oo7

Companys financial statements upon its effectiveness

operations 69050 14 107 $286 826

In June 2009 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Non-U operations 115876 169 540 168 038

Standards No i66 AccountingforTransfers of FinancialAssets
$184 926 $183 647 118 788

anAmendment of FASB Statement No 840 SFAS No i66 As

of December 3i 2009 SFAS No i66 had been codified under ASU
The

provision benefit for income taxes consists of

2009-i6 SFAS No i66 removes the concept of qualifying special-

purpose entity from Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
in thousands For year ended

No 540 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial December31 2009 2008 2007

Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities establishes new

participating interest definition that must be met for transfers of
Current

portions of financial assets to be eligible for sale accounting clan
federal tax 4187 498 28 020

fies and amends the derecognition criteria for transfer to be
State and local tax 050

accounted for as sale and changes the amount that can be recog
Non tax 28744 42 846 42 356

nized as gain or loss on transfer accounted for as sale when 24 562 35 398 70 299

beneficial interests are received by the transferor Enhanced dis

Deferred
closures are also required to provide information about transfers of

federal tax 19 879 283 124 684
financial assets and transferor continuing involvement with

transferred financial assets This statement must be applied as of
State and local tax 720 96

the beginning of an entity first annual reporting period that
Non-U tax 685 024 072

begins after November 55 2009 for interim periods within that 26 284 13 296 126 852

first annual reporting period and for interim and annual reporting
Provision benefit for

periods thereafter Earlier application is prohibited The Company
income taxes $50846 $48694 56553

is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS No i66 will have on the

Companys financial statements upon its effectiveness

In May 2009 the FASB issued ASC Topic 855-ia Subsequent

Events Overall ASC 8-so ASC 855-ia defines the period

after the balance sheet date during which reporting entitys man

agement should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for

potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements the

circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or

transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial

statements and the disclosures an entity should make about events

or transactions that occurred after-the balance sheet date ASC

8-so is effective for interim and annual periods ending after

June 15 2009 and the Company has appliedASC 855-so effective

June 30 2009 Subsequent events have been evaluated through the

date of which the Company issued its financial statements
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The reconciliation of the statutoiy U.S federal rate to the effective The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities included on

tax rate is as follows the balance sheet are as follows

inthousands Foryear ended
inthousands December3i 2009 2oo8

December31 2009 2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Statutory U.S federal tax at 35% $64646 64348 41613
Asbestos-related liabilities 224276 247543

Increase reduction from
Tax loss and credit carryforwards 76954 37566

Non-U.S taxes 9205 13159 20019
Environmental 13318 17257

State and local tax net of

federal benefit 5151 3006 15575 Inventories 17946 16873

Valuation allowance on state Accrued bonus and stock-based

deferredtaxassets 3378 1967 15463 compensation 13234 10948

U.S domestic manufacturing Pension and post-retirement benefits 32620 42924

deduction 1045 893 2107
Restructuring reserves 3737 13701

Foreign dividend net of
Other 15592 16540

credits 8348 3673 5040
Total 397677 403352

Deferred taxes on earnings of

Less valuation allowance on
non-U.S subsidiaries 3300 200 10400

Research and development tax
non-U.S and state deferred tax

credit 4177 6656 3512 assets tax loss and credit

Tax benefit from sale of carryforwards 74182 66150

subsidiary 5238 Total deferred tax assets net 323495 337202

Other 956 142 4630
Deferred tax liabilities

Provision benefit for income taxes $50846 $48694 56553
Depreciation 41605 39921

Effective tax rate 27.5/o 26.5/s 47.6/s
Intangibles 48746 37211

As of December 2009 the Company has recorded deferred tax
Total deferred tax liabilities 90351 77132

liability of $6.2 million which reflects the additional U.S federal Net deferred tax asset $233144 $260070

and state income tax due upon the ultimate repatriation of approx- Balance sheet classification

imately $6 million of the undistributed earnings of its non-U.S
Current deferred tax assets 58856 50457

subsidiaries Deferred taxes have not been provided on the

remainder of the non-U.S subsidiaries undistributed earnings of
Long-term deferred tax assets 204386 233165

Accrued liabilities 520 581
approximately $216.8 million since these earnings have been and

under current plans will continue to be indefinitely reinvested Long-term deferred tax liability 29578 22971

outside the U.S If these earnings were distributed in the form of Net deferred tax asset $233144 $260070

dividends or otherwise the Company would be subject to U.S

income taxes and foreign withholding taxes however it is not
As of December 31 2009 the Company had U.S federal U.S state

practical to estimate the amount of taxes that would be payable upon and non-U.S tax loss and credit carsyforwards that will expire if

remittance of these earnings because such tax if any is dependent
unused as follows

on circumstances existing if and when remittance occurs

In 2009 income tax benefits attributable to equity-based compen-
U.S U.S

Federal State U.S Non-U.S Non-U.S
sation transactions were less than the amounts recorded based on

inthousandsYear Tax Tax StateTax Tax Tax

grant date fair value As result shortfall of $0.4 million was of expiration Credits Credits Losses Credits Losses Total

charged to equity In 2008 and 2007 income tax benefits attribut
DoIo-2o14 1482 77974 $11326

able to equity-based compensation transactions exceeded amounts
After2ol4 30879 3474 307257 21688

recorded at grant date and accordingly were credited to equity in
Indefinite 11872 213 28475

_______
the amount of $o.7 million and $7.0 million respectively

Total $30879 $16828 $385231 $213 $61489
_______

Tax expense/benefit of $o .7 million in 2009 $47.3 million in Deferred tax asset

2008 and $13 million in 2007 related primarily to changes in ontax
carry

pension and post-retirement plan assets and benefit obligations
forwards $30879 $10938 17612 $213 $17312 $76954

were included in accumulated other comprehensive income
Of the $76.9 million deferred tax asset for tax loss and credit

carry-

forwards at December 2009 $45 million has been offset by

valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of the Company ulti

mately realizing future tax benefits from these carryforwards In

addition the Company considers it unlikely that portion of the tax

benefit related to various U.S and non-U.S deferred tax assets will

be realized Accordingly $29.1 million valuation allowance has

been established against these U.S and non-U.S deferred tax
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assets The Companystotal valuation allowance at December 31 In the next twelve months it is reasonably possible that the Compa

2009 15 approximately $74 million nys unrecognized tax benefits could change by $5.3 million due to

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the Compa-
payments for the expiration of the statute of limitation on or reso

nys gross unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest and penal-
lution of federal U.S state and non-U.S tax matters

tiesisasfollows Note Accrued Liabilities

inthousands OO9 oo8
in thousands December 31 OO9 oo8

Balance of liability as of Januaryi $6 778 $4 402
Employee related expenses 81707 82 743

Increase as result of tax positions taken
Warranty 18728 27 305

duringaprioryear Lii 182
Other 118429 136 867

Decrease as result of tax positions taken

$218864 $246 915
during prioryear 816 164

Increase as result of tax positions taken The Company accrues warranty liabilities when it is probable that

during the current year 1210 1649 an asset has been impaired or liability has been incurred and the

Decrease as result of settlements with taxing amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated Warranty provision

authorities 315 291 is included in Cost of sales in the Consolidated Statements of

Reduction as result of lapse of the statute Operations

of limitations 31 summary of the warranty liabilities is as follows

Balance of liability as of December3i $6 937 $6 778

in thousands Foryear ended December 31 2009 2oo8

The total amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits that if recognized
Balance at beginning of period 27305 32 218

would affect the Company effective tax rate was $7 million $7
Expense 722 19 158

million and $4 million as of December
3i 2009 2oo8 and oo

Additions deletions through
respectively The difference between these amounts for the years

ended December3i 2009 and 2oo8 and the amounts reflected in
acquisition/divestitures 383 450

the tabular reconciliation above relates to deferred federal Payments/deductions 17244 23 653

income tax benefits on unrecognized tax benefits related to Currency translation 328 868
46

state income taxes interest expense net of deferred federal Balance at end of period 18728 27 305

U.S state and non-U.S tax benefits and deferred non-U.S

income tax benefits on unrecognized tax benefits related to Note Other Liabilities

non-U.S income taxes

During the years ended December 31 2009 December 31 2008
in thousands Foryear ended December 2009 2008

and December3i 2007 the Company recognized $o $0 and Environmental $41069 $52 396

$o million respectively of interest expense related to unrecog- Other 20648 26 536

nized tax benefits in its consolidated statement of operations At
61 717 $78932

December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 the Company recog

nized $o.8 million and $0.7 million respectively of interest

expense related to unrecognized tax benefits in its consolidated
Note Research and Development

balance sheet Research and development costs are expensed when incurred

The Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of both
These costs were $98.7 million $153.4 million and $io6.8 million

ongoing examinations and future examinations for the current and
in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Funds received from

prior years
in order to ensure the Companys provision for income customer-sponsored research and development projects were $8.i

taxes is adequate The Company believes that adequate accruals
million $15.5 million and $8.4 million received in 2009 2008 and

have been provided for all open years
2007 respectively and were recorded in net sales

The Companys income tax returns are subject to examination by Note Pens ion and Postreti rement Benefits

the Internal Revenue Service IRS as well as U.S state and local
In the U.S the Company sponsors defined benefit pension plan

and non-U.S taxing authorities The IRS has completed its

that covers approximately 45% of all U.S employees The benefits
examinations of the Companys federal income tax returns for all

are based on years of service and compensation on final average

years through 2005 During 2009 the IRS commenced an
pay basis except for certain hourly employees where benefits are

examination of the Companys 2007 and 2008 federal income tax
fixed per year of service This plan is funded with trustee in

returns
respect of past and current service Charges to expense are based

With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S state upon costs computed by an independent actuary The Companys
and local or non-U.S income tax examinations by taxing authorities funding policy is to contribute annually amounts that are allowable

for years before 2004 During 2009 certain U.S state and for federal or other income tax purposes These contributions are

non-U.S income tax examination were completed and as of intended to provide for future benefits earned to date and those

December3i 2009 the Company is currently under audit by van- expected to be earned in the future number of the Companys

ous U.S state and non-U.S taxing authorities non-U.S subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans that
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cover approximately 18% of all non-U.S employees The benefits summary of benefit obligations fair value of plan assets and

are typically based upon years
of service and compensation These funded status is as follows

plans are funded with trustees in
respect

of
past

and current serv

ice Charges to expense are based upon costs computed by
Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits

independent actuaries The Companys funding policy is to

contribute annually amounts that are allowable for tax purposes or thousands December3i 0O9 20o8 0O9 oo8

mandated by local statutory requirements These contributions are
Change in benefit

intended to provide for future benefits earned to date and those
obligation

expected to be earned in the future Beginning of year $539015 629241 14457 18960

Service cost 10023 13118 106 137

Non-union employees hired after December 31 OO5 are no longer Interest cost 35722 35772 891 918

eligible for participation in the Companys domestic defined bene-
Plan participants

fit pension plan or the ELDEC and Interpoint money purchase plan contributions 1330 2018

Instead qualiring employees receive an additional Company Amendments 2472

contribution to their 4oiK plan accounts Certain of the Compa- Actuarial loss gain 66517 39366 1361 3324

nys non-U.S defined benefit pension plans were also amended Settlement 642 381

whereby eligibility for new participants will cease Benefits paid 37675 32062 1843 2159

Foreign currency
Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits are provided

exchange impact 26181 76271 53

for certain employees hired before January 1990 who meet
Acquisition/divestitures/

minimum age and service requirements The Company does not curtailment 562 4474

pre-fund these benefits and has the right to modiI5 or terminate Benefit obligation at end

the plan of year $641033 539015 15025 14457

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year $448256 689081

Actual return on plan

assets 90871 136823

Foreign currency

exchange impact 31354 88099

Employer contributions 33388 10047

Acquisition/transferred

liability 4475

Plan participants

contributions 1330 2018

Settlement 642 381
Benefits paid 37675 32062

________ __________

Fair value of plan assets at

end of
year $566882 448256

Funded status 74151 90759 $15025 $14457

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

in thousands

December3i 009 oo8 009 oo8

Other assets 54894 47329

Current liabilities 545 507 1676 1913
Accrued pension and

postretirement

benefits 128500 137581 13349 12544

74151 90759 $15o25 $14452
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive cal
year are $7.4 million and $0.5 million respectively The esti

income loss consist of mated net gain for the postretirement plan that will be amortized

from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

___________________ ___________________ benefit cost over the next fiscal
year is million

inthousandsDecember3i 2009 2o08 2009 2oo8
The weighted average assumptions used to deternune benefit obliga

Net loss gain $128645 $121704 $2466 $4328 tions are as follows

Prior service cost

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
credit 1828 2376 ____________________ _____________________

Transition asset 23 DecenTher3i 2009 oo8 2007 2009 oo8 zoo

$130475 $124 103 $z 466 $4 328 Plans

Discount rate 6.10% 6.7S0/o 6.2S0/a 5.300/s 7.000/0 5.7S/a

The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit obligation
Rate of compensation

and fair value of plan assets for the U.S and Non-U.S plans are as
increase 1.65% 3.92/a 4.1S/a

follows
Non-U.S Plans

Discount rate S.76% S.40/o 5.82/a

Pension Obligations/Assets Rate of compensation

U.S Non-U.S Total
increase 3.72/o 3.76/a 3.26/a

in millions
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic

December3i 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
benefit cost are as follows

Projected benefit

obligation $355.8 $307.4 $285.2 $231.6 $641.0 $539.0 PensionBenefits PostretirementBenefits

Accumulated

benefit
December31 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

obligation 344.0 291.8 264.1 214.8 608.1 506.6 U.S Plans

Fairvalue of plan Discount rate 6.75% 6.2S/a 6.00/a 7.000/a 5.75/a S.75/o

assets 260.4 197.4 306.5 250.9 566.9 448.3 Expectedrateofreturn

on plan assets 8.75% 8.75/a 8.7S/a

Information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obliga- Rate of compensation

48 tion in excess of plan assets is as follows increase 3.91% 4.iS/a 3.65/a

Non-U.S Plans

Pension Benefits Discount rate 6.40% S.78/a S.14/a

Expected rate of return
in thousands December 31 2009 2000

onplanassets 7.25/s 7.i2/a 6.78/a

Projected benefit obligation $404046 $338370 Rate of compensation

Accumulated benefit obligation 387680 319901 increase 3.62/s 3.27/a 3.29/a

Fair value of plan assets 285591 207875
The long term expected rate of return on plan assets assumptions

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost are as follows were determined by the Company with input from independent

investment consultants and plan actuaries utilizing asset pricing

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits models and considering historical returns The discount rates used

in thousands by the Company for valuing pension liabilities are based on review

December 2009 loo8 2007 2009 ioo8 2007 of high quality corporate
bond yields with maturities

approximating

Net Periodic
the remaining life of the projected benefit obligations

Benefit Cost
In the U.S the 8.75% expected rate of return on assets assumption

Service cost 10370 13754 16961 106 137 i53
for 2009 reflected long-term asset allocation target comprised of

Interest cost 35722 35772 34047 891 918 i013

Expected return on
60% equity securities i9% fixed income securities 2o% alter-

plan assets 37312 50826 44681
native assets and i% cash In November of 2009 the Companys

Amortization of pension investment committee modified the plans long term

prior service cost 530 492 516 So 84 investment objectives to reflect an asset allocation
range

of

Amortization of net 25%_75% equity securities i5%-35%fixed income securities

gain loss 8357 707 604 514 286 i28 io%_35% alternative assets and o%-io% cash Reflecting the

Settlement costs 172 210
updated asset allocation ranges the expected rate of return on

Special termination
assets assumption for 20i0 has been reduced to 8.25% As of

benefits 428 1207 1870 December 31 2009 the actual asset allocation for the U.S plan was

Net periodic 5o% equity securities 21% fixed income securities 22% alternative

benefit cost 18267 298 9317 .L ..iYJL assets and 7% cash

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit For the Non-U.S Plans the 7.25% expected rate of return on assets

pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other com- assumptionfor 2009 reflected weighted average
of the long-term

prehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fis- asset allocation targets for our various international plans As of
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December 31 2009 the actual weighted average asset allocation for Additional information pertaining to the changes in the fair value of

the non-U.S plans was 5o/s equity securities 450/s fixed income the Pension Plans assets classified as Level for the
year

ended

securities 3% alternative assets and 2% cash December 31 2009 is presented below

The assumed health care cost trend rates are as follows
Asset Category dollars in thousands Alternative Assets

December3s 2009 2oo8 BalanceatJanualyl2oo9 8181

Total Realized and Unrealized Gains/Losses 1704
Health care cost trend rate assumed for ne

year
9.000/s 9.00/s

Purchases Sales Settlements Transfers in or
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to

outofLevel3 5000
decline the ultimate trend rate 4.7% 4.75Io

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2019 2014 Balance at December 31 2009 $14885

Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect on the The Companys pension investment committees and trustees as

amounts reported for the Companys health care plans applicable exercise reasonable care skill and caution in making

investment decisions Independent investment consultants are

one-percentage-point change in assumed health.care cost trend
retained to assist in executing the plans investment strategies

rates would have the following effects
number of factors are evaluated in determining if an investment

strategy will be implemented in the Companys pension trusts

One One
These factors include but are not limited to investment style

Percentage Percentage investment risk investment manager performance and costs

Point Point

in thousands Increase Decrease
The primary investment objective of the Companys various pen
sion trusts is to maximizethe value of plan assets focusing on capi

Effect on total of service and interest tal preservation current income and long-term groh of capital

cost components 60 55 and income The plans assets are picafly invested in broad

Effect on postretirement benefit range of equity securities fixed income securities alternative

obligation 771 707 assets and cash instruments The companys investment strategies

across its pension plans worldwide results in global target asset

allocation range of 4o%-6o% ec securities 25%-45/s fixed
Plan Assets

income securities o%-25% alternative assets and o%-5% money

The Companys pension plan target
allocations and weighted- market as noted in the table above

average asset allocations by asset category are as follows
Equity securities include investments in large-cap mid-cap and

ActualAllocation small-cap companies located in both developed countries and

Target
emerging markets around the world Fixed income securities

Asset Category December 31
Allocation 2009 2oo8

include government bonds of various countries corporate bonds

Equity securities 40/o-60/o 50% 43/o that are primarily investment-grade and mortgage-backed secu

Debt securities 25/o45/o 34/s 36/o rities Alternative assets include investments in hedge funds with

Alternative assets 0/o25/o 11/s 11/o
wide variety of strategies and real estate funds

Money market 0/o5/o 50/a 10/s The Company periodically reviews investment managers and their

performance in relation to the plans investment objectives The
The fair value of the Companys pension plan assets at

Company expects its pension trust investments to meet or exceed
December 31 2009 by asset category are as follows

their predetermined benchmark indices net of fees Generally

however the Company realizes that investment strategies should be

Quoted
given full market cycle normally over three to five-year time

Prices in

Active
period to achieve stated objectives

Markets Significant Equity securities include Crane Co common stock which repre
for Other Significant sents 40/s and 3% of plan assets at December 31 2009 and 2008

Identical Observable Unobservable
respectively

Assets Inputs Inputs Total Fair

dollars in thousands Levels Level Level Value Cash Flows The Company expects based on current actuarial

calculations to contribute cash of approximately $i6 million to its

PlanAssets $221350 $330647 $14885 $566882
defined benefit pension plans and $1.7 million to its other post-

retirement benefit plan in 2010 Cash contributions in subsequent

years will depend on number of factors including the investment

performance of plan assets however the Company expects pension

contributions in 2011 will exceed the planned 2010 contributions
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments The following benefit
pay- facility was amended and restated to capitalize on favorable bank

ments which reflect expected future service as appropriate are market conditions and to extend the maturity of the facility In

expected to be paid December 2oo8 the Company executed Amendment No ito the

facility for the
purpose

of removing representation regarding its

Pension Postretirement
Estimated future payments pension liability and to amend certain other terms Interest is based

in thousands Benefits Benefits on at the Companys option LIBOR-based formula that is

32895 1713
dependent in part on the Companys credit

rating LIBOR plus io5

basis points as of the date of this Report up to maximum of LIBOR
oii 34293 1702

plus 145
basis points or the

greatest of the JPMorgan Chase
oi 35708 1602

Bank N.A.s prime rate ii the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis

0i3 48014 1566
points iiiaformulabasedonthethree-monthCD Rateplus tOO

2014 38364 1494 basis points or iv an adjusted LIBOR rate plus ioo basis points The

0i50i9 215558 6637
facilitywas onlyused for letter of credit purposes

in 2009 and was

Total payments $404832 $14714 not used in 2oo8 The facility contains customary affirmative and

negative covenants for credit facilities of this type including the

The Company participates in several multi- employerpension plans absence of material adverse effect and limitations on the Company
which provide benefits to certain employees under collective bar- and its subsidiaries with

respect to indebtedness liens mergers
gaining agreements Contributions to these plans were $0.9 mil-

consolidations liquidations and dissolutions sales of all or sub

lion .o million and $o.8 million in 2009 2oo8 and 2007 stantially all assets transactions with affiliates and hedging

respectively arrangements The facility also provides for
customary events of

The Companys subsidiaries ELDEC Corporation and Interpoint default including failure to pay principal interest or fees when due

Corporation have money purchase plan to provide retirement failure to comply with covenants the fact that any representation or

benefits for all eligible employees The annual contribution is 5% of warranty
made by the Company is false in any material respect

each eligible participants gross compensation The contributions default under certain other indebtedness certain insolvency or

were $2.4 million in 2009 $2.6 million in 2oo8 and $2.5 million in receivership events affectingthe Company and its subsidiaries cer

tain ERISA events material judgments and change in control The2007

The Company and its subsidiaries
sponsor savings and investment

agreement contains leverage ratio covenant requiring ratio of total

debt to total capitalization of less than or equal to 65% At
plans that are available to eligible employees of the Company and its

December 31 2009 the Companys ratio was 31%50 subsidiaries The Company made contributions to the plans of $4.6

million in 2009 $6.4 million in 2008 and $6 million in 2007 As of December 31

in thousands 2009In addition to participant deferral contributions and Company

matching contributions on those deferrals the Companyprovides Short-term borrowings 1078

2% non-matching contribution to participants who are not eligible Long-term debt 398557
to participate in the Company-sponsored defined benefit pension

Total Indebtedness 399635
plan or the ELDEC money purchase pension plan due to freezing of

participation in those plans effective Januaryi 2006 The Company
Total indebtedness 399635

made contributions to these plans of $2.0 million in 2009 $o.8 Total Shareholders Equity 885762

million in 2008 and $0.2 million in 2007 Capitalization $1285397

Note Long-Term Debt and Notes Payable Total Indebtedness to Capitalization 31/o

in thousands December3i 2009 2008 In November 2006 the Company issued notes having an aggregate

principal amount of $200 million The notes are unsecured senior

Long-term debt consists of
obligations of the Companythat mature on November 2036 and

5.5o% notes due
2013 $199464 199319 bear interest at 6.55% per annum payable semi-annually on May

6.55% notes due 2036 199093 199060 and November
i5

of eachyear The notes have no sinking fund

Other 100
requirement but may be redeemed inwhole or in

part at the

Total Long-term debt $398557 $398479 option of the Company These notes do not contain
any material

debt covenants or cross default provisions If there is change in
Short-term borrowings 1078 16622

control and if as consequence the notes are rated below invest

In September 2007 the Company entered into five-year $300 mil ment grade by both Moodys Investors Service and Standard

lionAmended and Restated Credit Agreement the facilitywhich Poors then holders of the notes may require the Company to

is due to expire September 26 2012 This facility amends and restates repurchase them in whole or in part for ioi% of the principal

the five-year $450 million revolving credit
agreement entered into amount plus accrued and unpaid interest Debt issuance costs are

on January21 2005 which included $i5o million term loan deferred and included in Other assets and then amortized as

component that was terminated by the Company in May 2005 The component of interest
expense over the term of the notes Includ

facility allows the Company to borrow repay or to the extent permit- ing debt issuance cost amortization these notes have an effective

ted by the agreement prepay and re-borrow at any time prior to the annualized interest rate of 6.67%

stated maturity date and the loan proceeds may be used for general In September 2003 the Company issued notes having an aggregate

corporate purposes including financing for acquisitions The original principal amount of $200 million The notes are unsecured senior
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obligations of the Company that mature on September 2013 and Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no

bear interest at 5.5o% per annum payable semi-annually on market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets

March 15 and September of each year The notes have no sinking or liabilities

fun4 requirement but may be redeemed in whole or part at the

During the year ended December 31 oo9 the Company completed

option of the Company These notes do not contain any
material

debt covenants or cross default provisions Debt issuance costs are
its purchase price allocation process

which reflected the fair value

at acquisition date of intangible assets of $a.6 million using Level

deferred and included in Other assets and then amortized as

component of interest expense over the term of the notes Includ-
inputs for Delta which was acquired in September 2oo8 and

Krombach which was acquired in December 2oo8
ing debt issuance cost amortization these notes have an effective

annualized interest rate of 5.70% The Company has forward contracts outstanding with related receiv

All outstanding senior unsecured notes were issued under an
ables of $0.7 million and payables of $4.7 million as of

December 31 2009 which are reported at fair value using Level
indenture dated as of April 1991 The indenture contains certain

limitations on liens and sale and lease-back transactions
inputs

The Company has an effective shelf registration
filed on Forms-3

The carryingvalue of the Companys financial assets and liabilities

with the Securities and Exchange Commission allowing it to issue including cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts

in one or more offerings an indeterminate amount of either senior payable and short-term loans payable approximate fair value

or subordinated debt securities
without being discounted due to the short periods during which

these amounts are outstanding Long-term debt rates currently
The Company has domestic unsecured money market bid rate

available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining
credit lines for $6o million at December 31 oo9

maturities are used to estimate the fair value for debt issues that are

As of December 31 2009 the Company or its subsidiaries had not quoted on an exchange The estimated fair value of long-term

various local
currency

credit lines with maximum available debt was $411.1 million at December 31 2009

borrowings of $11.8 million underwritten by banks primarily in the

United States and Europe These credit lines are typically available
The Company adopted the provisions under ASC Topic 825

for borrowings up to 364 days and are renewable at the option of the
Financial Instruments as of January 2oo8 These provisions

lender There was $i.i million outstanding under these facilities at provide companies with an option to report
selected financial

December 31 009
assets and liabilities at fair value The Company did not elect the

fair value option for any of such eligible financial assets or financial

At December 31 2009 the Company had open standby letters of
liabilities as of the adoption date
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credit of $43.6 million issued pursuant to $6o million

uncommitted Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement and Note Derivative Instruments and Hedging
certain other credit lines substantially all of which expire in oio

Activities

Note Fair Value of Financial Instruments
In March 2009 the Company adoptedthe provisions

underASC

The Company adopted the provisions under ASC Topic 82o Fair Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging ASC 8i5 as it relates to

Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 as of January
disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities

2oo8 with the exception of the application to non-recurring non- The provisions under ASC 8i5 are intended to improve trans

financial assets and nonfinancial liabilities which was delayed and parency
in financial reporting by requiring enhanced disclosures of

therefore adopted as of January 2009 The provisions
under ASC an entitys derivative instruments and hedging activities and their

8o define fair value establish framework for measuring fair effects on the entitys financial position financial performance

value and generally accepted accounting principles and expand and cash flows

disclosures about fair value measurements
The Company is exposed to certain risks related to its ongoing

Fair value is defined in ASC 820 as the price that would be received business operations including market risks related to fluctuation

to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly trans- in currency exchange The Company uses foreign exchange con-

action between market participants at the measurement date Fair tracts to manage the risk of certain cross-currency business rela

value measurements are to be considered from the perspective of tionships to minimize the impact of currency exchange fluctuations

market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability The on the Companys earnings and cash flows The Company does not

provisions under ASC 820 also establish fair value hierarchy hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or spec-

which requires an entity to maximizethe use of observable inputs ulative purposes As of December 31 2009 the foreign exchange

and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuringfair contracts designated as hedging instruments and the foreign

value exchange contracts not designated as hedging instruments did not

ASC 8o describes three levels of inputs
that may be used to meas-

have material impact on the Companys statement of operations

ure fair value
balance sheet or statement of cash flows

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical or similar

assets and liabilities

Level Quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities

in markets that are not active or observable inputs other than

quoted prices
in active markets for identical or similar assets and

liabilities
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Note ii Commitments and Contingencies Substantially all of the claims the Company resolves are either

dismissed or concluded through settlements To date the CompanyLeases
has paid two judgments arising from adverse july verdicts in an

The Company leases certain facilities vehicles and equipment asbestos matter The first payment in the amount of $2.54 million

Future minimum payments byyear and in the
aggregate

under was made on July14 2oo8 approximately two years after the

leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more consisted adverse verdict in the Joseph Norris matter in California after the

of the following at December 31 2009 Company had exhausted all post-trial and appellate remedies The

second payment in the amount of $o.o2 million was made in June

Minimum
2009 after an adverse verdict in the Earl Haupt case in Los Angeles

Operating Sublease California on April 21 2009 Such judgment amounts are not

in thousands Leases Income Net included in the Companys incurred costs until all available appeals

are exhausted and the final payment amount is determined
2olo $13672 $102 $13570

2011 10612 76 10536 During the fourth quarter of oo and the first quarter of 2oo8 the

2012 7131 7131 Company tried several cases resulting in defense verdicts by the

2013 5449 juryor directed verdicts for the defense by the court one of which

the Patrick ONeil claim in Los Angeles was reversed on appeal and
2014 2933 2933

Thereafter 7698 7698
is currently the subject of further appellate proceedings before the

Supreme Court of California which accepted review of the matter

Total minimum lease
by order dated December 23 2009 However on March 14 2008

payments $47495 $178 $47317 the Company received an adverse verdict in the James Baccus claim

in Philadelphia Pennsylvania with compensatory damages of $2.45
Rental

expense was $25.8 million $28.4 million and $25.5 million
million and additional damages of $11.9 million The Companys

for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
post-trial motions were denied by order dated January 2009 The

The Company entered into seven year operating lease for an air- Company intends to pursue all available rights to appeal the verdict

plane in the first quarter of 2007 which includes $14 million
On May i6 2008 the Company received an adverse verdict in the

residual value guarantee by the Company This commitment is

Chief Brewer claim in Los Angeles California The amount of the
secured by the leased airplane and the fair value of the residual

judgment entered was $o.68 million plus interest and costs The
value guarantee was recorded as $o.6 million liability as of

52 March 31 2007
Company is pursuing an appeal in this matter

On February 2009 the Company received an adverse verdict in

Asbestos Liability the Dennis Woodard claim in Los Angeles California The jury

found that the Company was responsible for one -half of one per-Information Regarding Claims and Costs in the Tort System
cent o.% of plaintiffs damages of $16.93 million however

As of December 31 2009 the Companywas defendant in cases based on California court rules regarding allocation and damages
filed in various state and federal courts alleging injury or death as

judgment was entered against the Company in the amount of

result of exposure to asbestos Activity related to asbestos claims
million plus costs Following entry of judgment the Company filed

during the periods indicated was as follows motion with the trial court requesting judgment in the Companys

favor notwithstanding the jurys verdict and on June 30 2009 the
Year Ended December3s

court advised that the Companys motion was granted and judgment

2009 2008 2007 was entered in favor of the Company The plaintiffs have appealed

Beginning claims 74872 80999 85941
that ruling

New claims 3664 4671 3417 The gross settlement and defense costs incurred before insurance

Settlements 1024 1236 1441 recoveries and tax effects for the Company for the years ended

Dismissals 11171 9562 6918 December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 totaled $o.i million $97.1

million and $87.5 million respectively In contrast to the recog
Ending claims 66341 74872 80999

nition of settlement and defense costs that reflect the current level

Includes Joseph Norris and Earl Haupt udgments of activity in the tort system cash payments and receipts generally
Does not include 36447 maritime actions that were filed in the United States District

Court for the Northern District of Ohio and transferred to the Eastern District of lag the tort system activity by several months or more and may
Pennsylvania pursuant to an order by the Federal Judicial Panel on Multi-District show some fluctuation from quarter to quarter Cash payments of
Litigation MDL These claims have been placed on the inactive docket of cases

settlement amounts are not made until all releases and other
that are administratively dismissed without prejudice in the MDL The court has

initiated process to reinstate certain of these claims but it is has not ruled upon how
required documentation are received by the Company and

many if any of these claims will be activated

reimbursements of both settlement amounts and defense costs by

Of the 66341 pending claims as of December 31 2009 approx- insurers may be uneven due to insurer payment practices tran

imately 25100 claims were pending in New York approximately sitions from one insurance layer to the next excess layer and the

14200 claims were pending in Mississippi approximately 9900 payment terms of certain reimbursement agreements The

claims were pending in Texas and approximately 2100 claims were Companys total pre-tax payments for settlement and defense costs

pending in Ohio all jurisdictions inwhich legislation or judicial net of funds received from insurers for the years ended

orders restrict the types of claims that can proceed to trial on the December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 totaled million pay
merits ment reflecting the receipt of $14.5 million for full policy buyout
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from Highlands Insurance Company Highlands $58.1 mu- Company HRA augments its liability estimate for the costs of

lion payment and $10.2 million payment respectively Detailed defending asbestos claims in the tort system using forecast from

below are the comparable amounts for the periods indicated the Company which is based upon discussions with its defense

counsel Based on this information HRA compiles an estimate of

Fortheyear ended December
the Companys asbestos liability for pending and future claims

in millions 2009 2oo8 2007
based on claim experience over the past two to three years and

covering claims expected to be filed through the indicated period
Settlement indemnity costs

The most significant factors affecting the liability estimate are

incurredi 58.3 45.2 41.6
the number of new mesothelioma claims filed against the

Defense costs incurredi 51.8 51.9 45.9 Company the
average

settlement costs for mesothelioma

Total costs incurred $110.1 97.1 87.5 claims the percentage of mesothelioma claims dismissed

Settlement indemnity payments 57.3 40.8 42.5
against the Company and the aggregate defense costs incurred

by the Company These factors are interdependent and no one
Defense payments 52.2 55.5 46.2

factor predominates in determining the liability estimate Although
Insurance receipts2 53.7 38.2 78.5

the methodology used by HRAwill also show claims and costs for

Pre-tax cash payments2 55.8 58.1 10.2 periods subsequent to the indicated period up to and includingthe

endpoint of the asbestos studies referred to above management
Before insurance recoveries and tax effects

The year ended December31 2009 includes $14.5 million payment from Highlands believes that the level of uncertainty regarding the various factors

in January 2009 There were no comparable policy
settlements in the 2008 period The

used in estimating future asbestos costs is too great to provide for
year ended December31 2007includes $31.5 million payment from

Equitas
in

January 2007 and $10.0 million from ERC in
April 2007 reasonable estimation of the number of future claims the nature of

such claims or the cost to resolve them for years beyond the
The amounts shown for settlement and defense costs incurred and

indicated estimate
cash payments are not necessarily indicative of future period

amounts which may be higher or lower than those reported In the Companys view the forecast period used to provide the best

estimate for asbestos claims and related liabilities and costs is

Cumulatively to date through December3i 2009 the Company has
judgment based upon number of trend factors including the

resolved by settlement or dismissal approximately 62300 claims
number and type of claims being filed each year the jurisdictions

The related settlement cost incurred by the Company and its

where such claims are filed and the effect of any legislation or judi
insurance carriers is approximately $228 million for an average

cial orders in such jurisdictions restricting the types of claims that

cost per
resolved claim of $3654 The

average
cost

per
claim

can proceed to trial on the merits and the likelihood of
any
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resolved during the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was
comprehensive asbestos legislation at the federal level In addition

$4781 and $4186 respectively Because claims are sometimes
the dynamics of asbestos litigation in the tort system have been

dismissed in large groups the
average

cost
per

resolved claim as

significantly affected over the past five to ten years by the sub
well as the number of open claims can fluctuate significantly from

stantial number of companies that have filed for bankruptcy pro-
period to period

tection thereby staying any asbestos claims against them until the

conclusion of such proceedings and the establishment of number
Effects on the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company has retained the firm of Hamilton Rabinovitz
of post-bankruptcy trusts for asbestos claimants which are esti

mated to provide $25 billion for payments to current and future
Associates Inc HRA nationally recognized expert in the

claimants These trend factors have both positive and negative
field to assist management in estimating the Companys asbestos

effects on the dynamics of asbestos litigation in the tort system and
liability in the tort system HRA reviews information provided by

the related best estimate of the Companys asbestos liability and
the Company concerning claims filed settled and dismissed

these effects do not move in linear fashion but rather change over
amounts paid in settlements and relevant claim information such as

multi-year periods Accordingly the Companys management
the nature of the asbestos-related disease asserted by the claimant

monitors these trend factors over time and periodically assesses
the jurisdiction where filed and the time lag from filing to dis

whether an alternative forecast period is appropriate
position of the claim The methodology used by HRA to project

future asbestos costs is based largely on the Companys experience Liability Estimate With the assistance of HRA effective as of

during base reference period consisting of the two full preceding September 30 2007 the Company updated and extended its esti

calendar
years

and additional quarterly periods to the estimate mate of the asbestos liability including the costs of settlement or

date for claims filed settled and dismissed The Companys indemnity payments and defense costs relating to currently pend

experience is then compared to the results of previously conducted ing claims and future claims projected to be filed against the Corn

epidemiological studies estimating the number of individuals likely pany through 2017 The Companys previous estimate was for

to develop asbestos-related diseases Those studies were under- asbestos claims filed through 2011 As result of this updated

taken in connection with national analyses of the population of estimate the Company recorded an additional liability of $586 mil

workers believed to have been exposed to asbestos Using that lion as of September 30 2007 The Companys decision to take this

information HRA estimates the number of future claims that action at such date was based on several factors First the number

would be filed against the Company and estimates the aggregate of asbestos claims being filed against the Company has moderated

settlement or indemnity costs that would be incurred to resolve substantially over the past several years and in the Companys

both pending and future claims based upon the average settlement opinion the outlook for asbestos claims expected to be filed and

costs by disease during the reference period This methodology has resolved in the forecast period is reasonably stable Second these

been accepted by numerous courts After discussions with the claim trends are particularly true for mesotheliorna claims which
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although constituting only 5% of the Companystotal pending to present value due to the inability to reliably forecast the timing of

asbestos claims have accounted for approximately 9o% of the payments The current portion of the total estimated liability at

Companys aggregate settlement and defense costs over the past
five December 31 2009 was $ioo million and represents the Compa

years Third federal legislation that would significantly change the nys best estimate of total asbestos costs expected to be paid during

nature of asbestos litigation failed to pass in 2oo6 and in the the twelve-month period Such amount is based upon the HRA

Companys opinion the prospects for such legislation at the federal model together with the Companys prior year payment experience

level are remote Fourth there have been significant actions taken for both settlement and defense costs

by certain state legislatures and courts over the past several years
Insurance Coverage and Receivables Prior to 2005 significant

that have reduced the number and types of claims that can proceed
portion of the Companys settlement and defense costs were paid by

to trial which has been significant factor in stabilizing the asbes

tos claim activity Fifth the Company has now entered into

its primary insurers With the exhaustion of that primary coverage

the Company began negotiations with its excess insurers to

coverage-in-place agreements
with majority of its excess

reimburse the Company for portion of its settlement and defense

insurers which enables the Company to project more stable rela
costs as incurred To date the Company has entered into agree

tionship between settlement and defense costs paid by the Com

pany and reimbursements from its insurers Taking all of these
ments providing for such reimbursements known as

factors into account the Company believes that it can reasonably
coverage-in-place with ten of its excess insurer groups Under

such coverage-in-place agreements an insurers policies remain in

estimate the asbestos liability for pending claims and future claims
force and the insurer undertakes to provide coverage

for the

to be filed through 2017 While it is probable that the Company will

Companys present and future asbestos claims on specified terms

incur additional charges for asbestos liabilities and defense costs in
and conditions that address among other things the share of

excess of the amounts currently provided the Company does not
asbestos claims costs to be paid by the insurer payment terms

believe that any such amount can be reasonably estimated beyond
claims handling procedures and the expiration

of the insurers

2017 Accordingly no accrual has been recorded for any costs which
obligations The most recent such agreement became effective

may be incurred for claims made subsequent to 2017
April 21 2009 between the Company and Employers Mutual Casu

Management has made its best estimate of the costs through 2017 alty Company by and through its managing general agent
and

based on the analysis by HRA completed in October 2007 Each attorney-in-fact
Mutual Marine Office Inc On March 2008 the

quarter HRA compiles an update based upon the Companys Company reached agreement with certain London Market

experience in claims filed settled and dismissed during the Insurance Companies North River Insurance Company and TIG

updated reference period as well as average
settlement costs by Insurance Company confirming the aggregate amount of available

54 disease category mesothelioma lung cancer other cancer asbes- coverage under certain London policies and setting forth schedule

tosis and other non-malignant conditions during that period for future reimbursement payments to the Company based on

Management discusses these trends and their effect on the liability aggregate indemnity and defense payments made In addition with

estimate with HRA and determines whether change in the esti- four of its excess insurer groups the Company entered into policy

mate is warranted As part of this process the Company also takes buyout agreements settling all asbestos and other coverage obliga

into account trends in the tort system such as those enumerated tions for an agreed sum totaling $61.3 million in aggregate The

above As of December 31 2009 the Companys actual experience most recent of these buyouts was reached in October 2008 with

during the updated reference period for mesothelioma claims filed Highlands Insurance Company which currently is in receivership

and dismissed approximated the assumptions
in the Companys in the State of Texas The settlement agreement with Highlands was

liability estimate while the average settlement costs for meso formally approved by the Texas receivership court on December

thelioma claims were somewhat higher but generally consistent 2008 and Highlands paid the full settlement amount $14.5 roil-

with the prior four quarters In addition to this claims experience lion to the Company on January 12 2009 Reimbursements from

the Company considered additional quantitative
and qualitative insurers for past and ongoing

settlement and defense costs allo

factors such as the nature of the aging of pending claims significant cable to their policies have been made as coverage-in-place and

appellate rulings and legislative developments and their respective other agreements are reached with such insurers All of these

effects on expected future settlement values Based on this evalua- agreements include provisions for mutual releases

tion the Company determined that no change in the estimate was indemnification of the insurer and for coverage-in-place claims

warranted for the period ended December3l 2009 liability of handling procedures The Company is in discussions with or

$ì million was recorded as of September 30 2007 to cover the expects to enter into additional coverage-in-place or other agree-

estimated cost of asbestos claims now pending or subsequently ments with other of its solvent excess insurers not currently subject

asserted through 2017 The liability is reduced when cash payments to settlement agreement whose policies are expected to respond to

are made in respect of settled claims and defense costs The liability the aggregate costs included in the updated liability estimate If it is

was $821 million as of December 31 2009 approximately 68% of not successful in concluding such coverage-in-place or other

which is attributable to settlement and defense costs for future agreements
with such insurers then the Company anticipates

that

claims projected to be filed through 2017 It is not possible to fore- it would pursue litigation to enforce its rights under such insurers

cast when cash payments related to the asbestos liability will be policies There are no pending legal proceedings between the

fully expended however it is expected such cash payments will Company and any insurer contesting the Companys asbestos

continue for number of years past 2017 due to the significant claims under its insurance policies

proportion of future claims included in the estimated asbestos
In conjunction with developing the aggregate liability estimate

liability and the lag time between the date claim is filed and when
referenced above the Company also developed an estimate of

it is resolved None of these estimated costs have been discounted

probable insurance recoveries for its asbestos liabilities In
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developing this estimate the Company considered its coverage-in- downward trend in the costs of defending claims could change the

place and other settlement
agreements described above as well as estimated liability as would substantial adverse verdicts at trial

number of additional factors These additional factors include the legislative solution or revised structured settlement transaction

financial viability of the insurance companies the method by which could also change the estimated liability

losses will be allocated to the various insurance policies and the
The same factors that affect developing estimates of probable

years covered by those policies how settlement and defense costs

settlement and defense costs for asbestos-related liabilities also

will be covered by the insurance policies and interpretation of the
affect estimates of the probable insurance payments as do num

effect on coverage of various policy terms and limits and their
ber of additional factors These additional factors include the

interrelationships In addition the timing and amount of
financial viability of the insurance companies the method by which

reimbursements will vary because the Companys insurance
losses will be allocated to the various insurance policies and the

coverage for asbestos claims involves multiple insurers with

years covered by those policies how settlement and defense costs

different policy terms and certain gaps in coverage In addition to

will be covered by the insurance policies and interpretation of the

consulting with legal counsel on these insurance matters the
effect on coverage of various policy terms and limits and their

Company retained insurance consultants to assist management in
interrelationships In addition due to the uncertainties inherent in

the estimation of probable insurance recoveries based upon the
litigation matters no assurances can be given regarding the out-

aggregate liability estimate described above and assuming the
come of any litigation if necessary to enforce the Companys rights

continued viability of all solvent insurance carriers Based upon the
under its insurance policies

analysis of policy terms and other factors noted above by the

Companys legal counsel and incorporating risk mitigation Many uncertainties exist surrounding asbestos litigation and the

judgments by the Company where policy terms or other factors Company will continue to evaluate its estimated asbestos-related

were not certain the Companys insurance consultants compiled liability and corresponding estimated insurance reimbursement as

model indicating how the Companys historical insurance policies well as the underlying assumptions and process used to derive these

would respond to varying levels of asbestos settlement and defense amounts These uncertainties may result in the Company incurring

costs and the allocation of such costs between such insurers and the future charges or increases to income to adjust the carrying value of

Company Using the estimated liability as of September 30 2007 recorded liabilities and assets particularly if the number of claims

for claims filed through 2017 the insurance consultants model and settlement and defense costs change significantly or if legis

forecasted that approximately 33% of the liability would be lation or another alternative solution is implemented however the

reimbursed by the Companys insurers An asset of $351 million Company is currently unable to estimate such future changes and

was recorded as of September 30 oo representing the probable accordingly while it is probable that the Company will incur addi

insurance reimbursement for such claims The asset is reduced as tional charges for asbestos liabilities and defense costs in excess of

reimbursements and other payments from insurers are received the amounts currently provided the Company does not believe that

The asset was $248 million as of December 31 2009 any
such amount can be reasonably determined Although the reso

lution of these claims may take many years the effect on the results

The Company reviews the aforementioned estimated reimburse-
of operations financial position and cash flow in

any given period
ment rate with its insurance consultants on periodic basis in

from revision to these estimates could be material
order to confirm its overall consistency with the Companys estab

lished reserves Since September there have been no Other Contingencies
developments that have caused the Company to change the esti

mated 33% rate although actual insurance reimbursements
vary

For environmental matters the Company records liability for esti

from period to period for the reasons cited above While there are mated remediation costs when it is probable that the Company will be

overall limits on the aggregate amount of insurance available to the responsible for such costs and they can be reasonably estimated

Company with respect to asbestos claims those overall limits were Generally third party specialists assist in the estimation of

not reached by the total estimated liability currently recorded by the remediation costs The environmental remediation liability at

Company and such overall limits did not influence the Company in December 31 2009 is substantially all for the former manufacturing

its determination of the asset amount to record The proportion of site in Goodyear Arizona the Goodyear Site discussed below

the asbestos liability that is allocated to certain insurance
coverage

Estimates of the Companys environmental liabilities at the Goodyear
years however exceeds the limits of available insurance in those

Site are based on currently available facts present laws and regu
years

The Company allocates to itself the amount of the asbestos
lations and current technology available for remediation and are

liability for claims filed through 2017 that is in excess of available

recorded on an undiscounted basis These estimates consider the
insurance

coverage
allocated to such

years
Companys prior experience in the Goodyear Site investigation and

Uncertainties Estimation of the Companys ultimate
exposure

for remediation as well as available data from and in consultation with

asbestos-related claims is subject to significant uncertainties as the Companys environmental specialists Estimates at the Goodyear

there are multiple variables that can affect the timing severity and Site are subject to significant uncertainties caused primarily by the

quantity of claims The Company cautions that its estimated liability dynamic nature of the Goodyear Site conditions the
range

of

is based on assumptions with respect to future claims settlement remediation alternatives available together with the corresponding

and defense costs based on recent experience during the last few estimates of cleanup methodology and costs as well as ongoing

years
that may not prove

reliable as predictors significant upward required regulatory approvals primarily from the EPA Accordingly

or downward trend in the number of claims filed depending on the it is likely that adjustments to the Companys liability estimate will be

nature of the alleged injury the jurisdiction where filed and the
necessary as further information and circumstances regarding the

quality of the product identification or significant upward or Goodyear Site characterization develop While actual remediation
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cost therefore may be more than amounts accrued the Company Defense and the Department of Energy pursuant to which among

believes it has established adequate reserves for all probable and other things the U.S Government reimburses the Company for

reasonably estimable costs percent of qualifying costs of investigation and remediation activ

The Goodyear Site was operated by UniDynamics/Phoenix Inc
ities at the Goodyear Site As of December 31 2009 the Company

UPI which became an indirect subsidiary of the Company in
has recorded receivable of $11.3 million for the expected

1985 when the Company acquired UPIs parent company Uni-
reimbursements from the U.S Government in respect

of the

Dynamics Corporation UPI manufactured explosive and aggregate liability as at that date In the first quarter of 2OO9 the

pyrotechnic compounds including components for critical military
Company issued $35 million letter of credit to support require-

programs for the U.S government at the Goodyear Site from 1962
ments of the consent decree for the Goodyear Site

to 1993 under contracts with the Department of Defense and other The Company has been identified as potentially responsible party

government agencies
and certain of their prime contractors No PRP with respect to environmental contamination at the Crab

manufacturing operations have been conducted at the Goodyear Orchard National Wildlife Refuge Superfund Site the Crab Orchard

Site since 1994 The Goodyear Site was placed on the National Site The Crab Orchard Site is located about five miles west of

Priorities List in 1983 and is now part of the Phoenix-Goodyear Marion Illinois and consists of approximately 55000 acres Begin-

Airport North Superfund Goodyear Site In 1990 the EPA issued fling in 94 the United States used the Crab Orchard Site for the

administrative orders requiring UPI to design and carry out certain production of ordnance and other related products for use in World

remedial actions which UPI has done Groundwater extraction and War II In 947 the Crab Orchard Site was transferred to the United

treatment systems
have been in operation at the Goodyear Site States Fish and Wildlife Service and about 30000 acres of the Crab

since 1994 soil
vapor

extraction system was in operation
from Orchard Site were leased to variety

of industrial tenants whose

1994 to 1998 was restarted in 2004 and is currently in operation activities which continue to this day included manufacturing ord

On July 26 2006 the Company entered into consent decree with nance and explosives Apredecessorto the Company formerly leased

the EPA with respect to the Goodyear Site providing for among portions of the Crab Orchard Site and conducted manufacturing

other things work plan for further investigation and remediation operations at the Crab Orchard Site from 1952
until 1964 General

activities at the Goodyear Site The Company recorded liability in Dynamics Ordnance and Tactical Systems Inc GD-OTS is in the

2004 for estimated costs through 2014 after reaching substantial process
of conducting the remedial investigation

and feasibility study

agreement on the scope
of work with the EPA At the end of Sep- at the Crab Orchard Site pursuant to an Administrative Order on

tember 2007 the liability totaled $15.4 million During the fourth Consent between GD-OTS and the U.S Fish and Wildlife Service the

quarter of 2007 the Company and its technical advisors U.S Environmental ProtectionAgency EPA and the Illinois

56 determined that changing groundwater flow rates and contaminant Environmental Protection Agency The Company is not party to that

plume direction at the Goodyear Site required additional extraction agreement and has not been asked by any agency of the United States

systems as well as modifications and upgrades of the existing sys- Government to participate in any activity relative to the Crab Orchard

tems In consultation with its technical advisors the Company Site The Company is informed that GD-OTS completed Phase

prepared forecast of the expenditures required for these new and remedial investigation in 2008 that GD -OTS is performing Phase

upgraded systems as well as the costs of operation over the forecast II remedial investigation scheduled for completion in 2010 and that

period through 2014 Taking these additional costs into consid- the feasibility study is projected to be complete in mid to late 2012

eration the Company estimated its liability for the costs of such GD-OTS has asked the Company to participate in voluntary cost

activities through 2014 to be $41.5 million as of December 31 oo allocation exercise but the Company alongwith number of other

During the fourth quarter
of 2008 based on further consultation PRPs that were contacted declined citing the absence of certain

with our advisors and the EPA and in
response

to groundwater necessary parties as well as an undeveloped environmental record

monitoring results that reflected continuing migration in con- The Company does not believe that it is likely that
any

discussion

taminant plume direction during the year the Company revised its about the allocable share of the various PRPs including the U.S

forecast of remedial activities to increase the level of extraction Government will take place before the end of 2010 Although loss is

systems and the number of monitoring wells in and around the probable it is not possible at this time to reasonably estimate the

Goodyear Site among other things As of December 31 2008 the amount of
any obligation for remediation of the Crab Orchard Site

revised liability estimate was $65.2 million which resulted in an because the extent of the environmental impact allocation among

additional charge of $24.3 million during the fourth quarter of PRPs remediation alternatives and concurrence of regulatory

2008 The total estimated
gross liability was $53.8 million as of authorities have notyet advanced to the stage

where reasonable

December 31 2009 as described below portion is reimbursable estimate can be made The Company has notified its insurers of this

by the U.S Government The current portion was approximately potential liability and will seek coverage
under its insurance policies

$12.8 million and represents the Companys best estimate in con

sultation with its technical advisors of total remediation costs
Other Proceedings

expected to be paid during the twelve-month period
The Company has defended two separate

lawsuits brought by custom

ers alleging failure of the Companys fiberglass-reinforced plastic

It is not possible at this point to reasonably estimate the amount of
material in RV sidewalls manufactured by such customers The first

any obligation
in excess of the Companys current accruals through lawsuit went to trial in January2008 resulting in an award of $3.2 mil

the 2014 forecast period because of the aforementioned
lion in compensatory damages on two out of seven claims The Court

uncertainties in particular the continued significant changes in
denied the plaintiffs claim for additional post-

trial equitable relief

the Goodyear Site conditions experienced in recent years and entered final judgment which included prejudgment interest of

On July31 2006 the Company entered into consent decree with approximately $o.6 million The total award of $3.8 rnillionwas paid in

the U.S Department of Justice on behalf of the Department of mid-2008 and the plaintiff has waived its right to an appeal
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The other lawsuit went to trial in mid-January of 2009 solely on the False Claims Proceeding

issue of liability and on January the jury returned verdict of The Company engaged in discussions with attorneys from the Civil

liability against the Company The aggregate damages sought in this Division of the DOJ for over year regarding allegations that certain

lawsuit included approximately $9.5 million in repair costs alleg- valves sold by the Companys Crane Valves NorthAtuerica unit

edly incurred by the plaintiffs as well as approximately $55 million CVNA to private customers that ultimately were delivered to U.S

in other consequential losses such as discounts and other military agencies did not conform to contractual specifications relat

incentives paid to induce sales lost market share and lost profits ing to the place of manufacture and the origin of component parts

On April 17 2009 the Company reached agreement to settle this The DOJs allegations originated with qui tam complaint filed under

lawsuit In mediation the Company agreed to settlement seal by former C\/NA employee The DOJ ultimately intervened in

aggregating $17.75 million payable in several installments through that case and on March3i 2OO7 filed complaint against the Com
July 2009 all of which have been paid Based upon both insurer pany in the United States District Court for the Southern District of

commitments and liability estimates previously recorded in 2oo8 Texas seekingunspecified damages forviolations of the False Claims

the Company recorded pre-tax charge of $7.25 million in con- Act and other common law claims The complaint alleged that CVNA

nection with this settlement in 2009 failed to notify the correct U.S military agency when its manufactur

The Company is also defending series of five separate lawsuits
ing location for Mil-Spec valves listed on the Qualified Products List

was moved from Long Beach California to Conroe Texas in 2003 As
which have now been consolidated revolving around fire that

result the complaint alleged that the valves manufactured in Texas
occurred in May 2003 at chicken processing plant located near

Atlanta Georgia that destroyed the plant The aggregate damages
were not properly listed on the Qualified Product List as required by

the contract specifications
demanded by the plaintiff consisting largely of an estimate of lost

profits which continues to grow with the passage of time are cur- The Company received letter from the Department of the Navy on

rently in excess of $260 million These lawsuits contend that cer- February 14 2007 conveying the Navys concerns about the Quali

tam fiberglass-reinforced plastic material manufactured by the fied Products List allegations raised by the DOJ The Department of

Company that was installed inside the plant was unsafe in that it
the Navy advised the Company that if true these allegations could

acted as an accelerant causing the fire to spread rapidly resulting potentially result in the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates

in the total loss of the plant and property In September 2009 the being suspended and/or debarred from doing business with the

trial court entertained motions for summary judgment from all
U.S Government

parties and subsequently denied those motions In November The Company cooperated with the Governments investigation of

2009 the Company sought and was granted permission to appeal these matters and negotiated settlement agreement with the DOJ

the trial courts denial of its motions The Company expects the
providing for among other things the payment of $7.5 million to the

appeal process to conclude in six to nine months The trial will be United States and $125000 to pay
the legal fees of the former

stayed pending resolution of the appeal The Company believes that
employee who filed the qui tam complaint In addition the Company

it has valid defenses to the underlying claims raised in these law-
negotiated an administrative

agreement
with the Department of the

suits The Company has given notice of these lawsuits to its
Navy for term of three

years pursuant to which the Company will

insurance carriers and will seek coverage for any resulting losses
implement certain changes to its compliance programs and

report to

The Companys carriers have issued standard reservation of rights the Navy on quarterlybasis These
agreements were executed and

letters but are engaged with the Companys trial counsel to monitor became effective on July 27 2007 The Company acknowledged the

the defense of these claims If the plaintiffs in these lawsuits were failure to notify the Navy and update the Qualified Products List but

to prevail at trial and be awarded the full extent of their claimed denies that this omission violated the False Claims Act The failure to

damages and insurance coverage were not fully available the
notify the Navy was unintentional and there was no misconduct by

resulting liability could have significant effect on the Companys Company personnel The Company determined to settle this matter

results of operations and cash flows in the periods affected As of to avoid the risks of costly and protracted legal proceedings

December 31 2009 no loss amount has been accrued in con

nection with these suits because loss is not considered probable
Other Commitments

nor can an amount be reasonably estimated The Company entered into seven year operating lease for an air

plane in the first quarter of 2007 which includes $14.1 million
number of other lawsuits claims and proceedings have been or

residual value guarantee by the Company
may be asserted against the Company relating to the conduct of its

business includingthose pertainingto product liability patent Note 12 Acquisitions and Divestitures

infringement commercial employment employee benefits envi

ronmental and stockholder matters While the outcome of litigation

In December 2009 the Company sold General Technology Corpo

cannot be predicted with certainty and some of these other law-
ration GTC generating proceeds of $14.2 million and an after

suits claims or proceedings may be determined adversely to the
tax gain of $5.2 million GTC also known as Crane Electronic

Company the Company does not believe that the disposition of
any

Manufacturing Services was included in the CompanysAero

such other pending matters is likely to have significant impact on space Electronics segment as part of the Electronics Group GTC

its financial condition or liquidity although the resolution in
any

had $26 million in sales in 2009 and is located inAlbuc1uerque

New Mexico
reporting period of one or more of these matters could have sig

nificant impact on the Companys results of operations and cash During 2008 the Company completed two acquisitions at total

flow for that period cost of $79 million in cash and the assumption of $17 million of net

debt The final purchase price allocations were completed in 2009
and goodwill for the 2008 acquisitions amounted to $14.4 million
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In December 2oo8 the Company acquired all of the capital stock of become exercisable at rate of 50% after the first year 75%

Krombach manufacturer of specialty valve flow solutions for the after the second
year

and i00% after the third year The Stock

power oil and gas and chemical markets The purchase price was Incentive Plan also provides for awards of restricted common stock

$i million in cash and the assumption of $17 million of net debt to officers and other key employees subject to forfeiture

Kromhachs 2oo8 full
year

sales were approximately $100 million restrictions which lapse over time

and has been integrated into the Companys Fluid Handling seg
The Company determines the fair value of each grant using the

ment Goodwill for this acquisition amounted to $4.9 million
Black-Scholes option pricing model The following weighted-

In September 2oo8 the Company acquired Delta designer and average assumptions for grants made during the years ended

manufacturer of regulators and fire safe valves for the gas industry December 3i 2009 2oo8 and 2007 are as follows

and safety valves and air vent valves for the building services mar
.4 2009 oo8 2007

ket for 28 million in cash Delta had full
year

sales of approx

imately $39 million in 2oo8 and has been integrated into the Dividend yield 84Io 09/o 85/o

Company Fluid Handling segment Goodwill for this acquisition Volatility 34 74% 23 710/0 25 600/0

amounted to $9 million
Risk-free interest rate 79% 71/o 76Io

During 2007 the Company completed two acquisitions at total Expected lives in
years

4.20 4.20 4.20

cost of $6 million The allocation of goodwill for these acquisitions

amounted to $29 million The final purchase price allocations were Expected dividend yield is based on the Companys dividend policy

completed during 2008 Expected stock volatility was determined based upon the historical

volatility for the fouryear-period preceding the date of grant The

In September 2007 the Company acquired the composite panel risk-free interest rate was based on the yield curve in effect at the

business of Owens Corning which produces among other prod- time the options were granted using U.S constant maturities over

ucts high gloss fiberglass reinforced plastic panels used in the the expected life of the option The expected term of the awards

manufacture of RVs The purchase price was $38 million in cash
represents the period of time that options granted are expected to

The acquired business had $40 million of sales in 2006 and is being be outstanding

integrated into the Noble Composites business within the

Engineered Materials segment Goodwill for this acquisition
Activity in the Companys stock option plans for the

year
ended

amounted to $i8 million
December 31 2009 was as follows

In August 2007 the Company acquired the Mobile Rugged Business Weighted

of Kontron America Inc which produces computers electronics
Number of Weighted Average

and flat panel displays for harsh environment applications The Shares Average Remaining

purchase price was $26.6 million The acquired business had sales OptionActivity in ooos Exercise Price Life Years

of $25 million in 2006 and is being integrated into the Azonix
Options outstanding

business within the Controls segment Goodwill for this acquisition
at beginning of

amounted to i2 million

period 4856 $31.83

In December 2007 together with the Companys partner
Emerson

Granted 954 16.55

Electric Co the Industrial Motion Control LLC IMC joint Exercised 110 22.23

venture was sold generating proceeds to the Company of $33 mil-
Canceled 461 33 45

_____________
lion The investment in IMC was $29 million and the Company

recorded income in 2007 2006 and 2005 of $5.3 million $5.6 mil- Options outstanding

lion and $6.o million respectively
at end of period 5239 29.13 2.85

Options exercisable

Note 13
StockBased Compensation Plans

at end of period 3289 $30.33 1.89

The Company has two stock-based compensation plans the Stock
The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2009

Incentive Plan and the Non-Employee Director Stock Compensa
2008 and 2007 was $3.45 $6.74 and $9.55 respectively The total

tion Plan Options are granted under the Stock Incentive Plan to

fair value of shares vested during 2000 2008 and 2007 was $4.9
officers and other key employees and directors at an exercise price

million $6.6 million and $8 million respectively The total

equal to the closing price on the date of grant For grants prior to

intrinsic value of options exercised during 2000 2008 and 2007
April 23 2007 the exercise price is equal to the fair market value of

was $0.5 million $6.4 million and $19.5 million respectively The
the shares on the date of grant which is defined for purposes

of the
total cash received from these option exercises was $2.4 million

plans as the average of the high and low prices for the Company
$14.4 million and $27.4 million respectively and the tax

common stock on the io trading days ending on the date of grant
shortfall/benefit realized for the tax deductions from option

Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee
exercises and vesting of restricted stock was $o .4 million $0.7

which administers the plan options become exercisable at rate of
million and $7.0 million respectively The aggregate intrinsic value

25
/o after the first year 50 /o after the second year 75 /o after the

of exercisable options was $9.1 million $o and $56.7 million as of
third

year
and 00 after the fourth year from the date of grant and

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
expire six years

after the date of grant ten years for all options

granted to directors and for options granted to officers and

employees prior to 2004 Options granted prior to January29
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Included in the Companys share-based compensation was expense

recognized for its restricted stock awards of $4.8 million $8.3 mil

lion and $8.5 million in oo9 2oo8 and oo7 respectively

Changes in the Companys restricted stock for the
year ended

December 31 oo9 were as follows

Restricted Shares Weighted

and Restricted Average

Stock Units Grant-Date

Restricted StockActivity in ooos Fair Value

Restricted

Stock and Restricted

Stock Units at January Oo9 569 $35.66

Restricted

Stock vested 191 35.72

Restricted

Stockforfeited 13 37.19

Restricted

StockUnitsgranted 195 16.51

Restricted

StockUnitsforfeited 15.94

Restricted

stock and Restricted

Stock Units at December 31 OO9 558 $28.99

59
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Note 14 Segment Information

The Companys segments are reported on the same basis used internally for evaluating performance and for allocating resources The

Company has five reporting segments Aerospace Electronics Engineered Materials Merchandising Systems Fluid Handling and Con

trols Furthermore Corporate consists of corporate office expenses including compensation benefits occupancy depreciation and other

administrative costs Assets of the business segments exclude general corporate assets which principally consist of cash deferred tax

assets insurance receivables certain
property plant and equipment and certain other assets

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies The Company

accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current market prices

Financial information by reportable segment is set forth below

inthousands 2009 2o08

Aerospace Electronics
_____________ _____________

Net salesoutsidea 590118 638658 628676

Net sales intersegment 184

Operating profitb 95916 54097 86176

Assets 435807 471768 466673

Goodwill 185975 189613 189990

Capital expenditures 6717 9625 11723

Depreciation and amortization 11299 11809 13432

Engineered Materials
_____________ _____________

Netsalesoutside 172080 255434 331029

Operating profitc 19657 4242 58339

Assets 261796 270719 305384

Goodwill 171528 171429 171591

Capital expenditures 1137 8627 13773

6o Depreciation and amortization 8104 9723 9254

Merchandising Systems ___________ ____________

Net sales outside 292636 401577 388227

Operating profitd 21122 32028 39684

Assets 296856 302361 348914

Goodwill 164306 153177 173692

Capital expenditures 5631 7051 7883

Depreciation and amortization 12929 13593 16554

Fluid Handling ___________ ___________

Net sales outside $1n049960 $1161887 $1136589

Net sales intersegment
68 196

Operating profite 132211 159363 159251

Assets 832176 889067 868873

Goodwill 212012 238880 203337

Capital expenditures 14225 13643 12170

Depreciation and amortization 19751 16292 16832

Controls
_____________ _____________

Net sales outside 91549 146751 134651

Net sales intersegment
380 394 561

Operating profit lossf 4391 11237 9901

Assets 70073 83482 84390

Goodwill 28157 28133 27940

Capital expenditures 449 4661 1273

Depreciation and amortization 4134 4010 2976

Includes $18880 in 2009 from settlement claim with Boeing and GE Aviation LLC related to the Companys brake control system

Includes $16360 in 2009 from the above mentioned settlement claim and restructuring charges of $2723 and $2041 in 2009 and 2008 respectively

Includes
restructuring charges

of $77 and $19096 in 2009 and 2008 respectively

Includes restructuring gain
of $2569 in 2009 and restructuring charge of $13.1 18 in 2008

Includes
restructuring charges of $4646 and $5679 in 2009 and 2008 respectively and restructuring gain of $19083 in 2007

Includes restructuring charges of $367 and $768 in 2009 and 2008 respectively
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Information by industiy segment continued

in thousands OO9 oo8 OO7

Consolidated net sales

Reporting segments $2196726 $2604768 $2620112

Intersegment elimination 383 461 941

TOTALNET5ALES $2196343 $2604307 $2619171

Operating profit loss

Reporting segments 264515 260967 353351

Corporate before asbestos and environmental charges 56246 39136 51945

Corporate expense asbestos charge 390150

Corporate expense environmental charge 24342 18912

TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT Loss 208269 197489 107656

Interest income 2820 10263 6259

Interest
expense 27139 25799 27404

Miscellaneousnet 976 1694 10013

Income loss before income taxes 184926 183647 118788

Assets

Reportingsegments $1896708 $2017397 $2074234

Corporate 816190 757091 803058

TOTALASSETS $2712898 $2774488 $2877292

Goodwill

Reportingsegments 761978 781232 766550

Capital expenditures

Reporting segments 28159 43607 46822 6i

Corporate 187 1529 347

TOTALCAPITALEXPENDITtJRES 28346 45136 47169

Depreciation and amortization

Reporting segments 56217 55427 59048

Corporate 1987 1735 2262

TOTALDEPRECIATIONANDAMORTIZATION 58204 57162 61310

Information by geographic segments follows

inthousands OO9 oo8

Net sales

United States $1322433 $1567002 $1627980

Canada 227091 306886 309467

Europe 544561 596785 554985

Other international 102258 133634 126739

TOTAL NET SALES $2196343 $2604307 $2619171

Assets

United States 998827 1122561 1115368

Canada 288793 189229 233321

Europe 422844 626297 693141

Other international 186244 79310 32404

Corporate 816190 757091 803058

TOTALASSETS $2n2898 $2774488 $2877292

Net sales and Assets by geographic region are based on the location of the business unit
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Note Quarterly Results For The Year Unaudited

in thousands except per share data

ForyearendedDecember3s
First Second Third Fourth Year

OO9
Netsales $555139 $545491 $550710 $545004 $2196343

Cost of sales 382010 369537 365482 349001 1466030

Gross profit 173129 175954 185228 196003 730314

Operating profit 37884 45492 5453 69440 208269

Net income attributable to common shareholders 23311 27767 35108 47671 133856

Earnings per
basic share 0.40 0.47 0.60 0.82 2.29

Earningsperdilutedshare 0.40 047 0.60 0.81 2.28

2oo8

Netsales $678868 $693482 $642678 $589279 $2604307

Cost of sales 452531 455647 434382 408476 1751036

Gross profit 226337 237835 208296 180803 853271

Operating profit loss 75349 86271 54618 18749 197489

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders 48378 59009 36082 8311 135158

Earnings loss perbasic share 0.81 0.99 0.60 0.14 2.27

Earnings loss per
diluted share 0.79 0.97 0.60 0.14 2.24

Includes net charge of $7750 related to lawsuit settlement in connection with the Companys fiberglass-reinforced plastic material and $448 of restructuring gains

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Includes $2295 restructuring charge and $500 insurance reimbursement related to the lawsuit settlement of cited above

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Includes $513 restructuring charge

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Includes $18880 from the Boeing and GE Aviation LLC settlement related to the Companys brake control system

Includes $16360 from the above mentioned settlement related to the Companys brake control systems and $2883 of restructuring charges

Includes the impact of cited above net of tax and $5238 tax benefit related to divestiture

Includes $2044 reimbursement from the U.S Government and $2400 reimbursement from service provider both related to the environmental clean-up activities

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Includes $40703 restructuring charge and $24342 environmental provision

Includes the impact of item cited above net of tax

Note Restructuring The following table summarizes the accrual balances related to the

Restructuring Program
poo8 Actions During the fourth quarter

of 2oo8 in response
to

disruptions in the credit markets and substantially weakening December 31 December 31

global economy the Company initiated broad-based restructuring in millions 2oo8 Expense Utilization oo9
actions in order to align its cost base to lower levels of demand

Severance $17.8 5.1 $15.1 $7.8
These actions include headcount reductions and select facility

consolidations the Restructuring Program Inthe fourth
Other 7.2 2.0 3.3 1.9

quarter of 2008 the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring and Total $25.0 3.1 $18.4 $9.7

related charges in the business segments totaling $40.7 million

and in 2009 the Company recorded additional net restructuring
During 2009 and 2oo8 the Company recorded asset impairment

charges of approximately $3.3 million during 2009 to complete
charges of $o million and $15.7 million respectively related to

these actions total pre-tax charges upon program completion of
the Restructuring Program

approximately $44.0 million These actions will result in net In addition the Company recorded $1.9 million of integration

workforce reductions of approximately 850 employees the exiting related expenses during 2009 111 connection with the December

of five facilities and the disposal of assets associated with the 2oo8 acquisition of Krombach The Company estimates that it will

exited facilities The Company has completed the majority of all incur an additional $2.o million of integration-related expenses

workforce and facility related cost reduction actions during 2009 during 2010 in connection with the aforementioned acquisition

Approximately 64% of the total expected charges or $28 million

were cash costs Note 17 Subsequent Events

On Februaiy oio the Company completed its acquisition of

Merrimac Industries Inc Merrimac designer and manu

facturer of RF Microwave components subsystem assemblies and

micro-multifunction modules for purchase price of approx

imately $56 million Merrimac will be integrated into the Elec

tronics Group within the Companys Aerospace Electronics

segment
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Design and Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Report-

Accountants on Accounting and Financial ing Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxleyAct ofoo we

Disclosure
included report

of our managements assessment of the design

and effectiveness of our internal controls as part
of this Annual

None Report on Form io-K for the year ended December 31 oo9 Our

independent registered public accounting
firm also attested to and

Item 9A Controls and Procedures reported on our managements assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting Our managements report
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures The Companys and our independent registered public accounting firms attes

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated the
tation report are set forth in Part II Item of this Annual Report on

effectiveness of the design and operation of the Companys dis-
Form io-Kunder the captions entitled Managements Responsi

closure controls and procedures as of the end of the year covered by
bility for Financial Reporting and Report of Independent Regis-

this annual report The Companys disclosure controls and proce- tered Public Accounting Firm
dures are designed to ensure that information required to be dis

closed by the Company in the reports that are filed or submitted
Item 9B Other Information

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded processed

summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the None

Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms and the

information is accumulated and communicated to the Companys

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure Based on this evaluation

the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

have concluded that these controls are effective as of the end of the

year covered by this annual report

Change in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting During the

fiscal quarter ended December 31 009 there have been no

changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting

identified in connection with our evaluation thereof that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect its 63

internal control over financial reporting
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art III Management Organization and Compensation Committee its

Nominating and Governance Committee and its Audit Committee

and its Code of Ethics are available at www.craneco.com
Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and

investors/corporate_governance.cfm The information on our

Corporate Governance
website is not part of this report

The information required by Item io is incorporated by reference

to the definitive proxy statement with respect to the 2009 Annual Item 11 Executive Compensation
Meeting of Shareholders which the Company expects to file with

the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A on or about March The information required by Item ii is incorporated by reference

2olo except that such information with respect to Executive Offi- to the definitive proxy statement with respect to the oO9 Annual

cers of the Registrant is included pursuant to Instruction Meeting of Shareholders which the Company expects to file with

paragraph of Item 401 of Regulation S-K under Part The the Commission pursuant to Regulation i4A on or about March

Companys Corporate Governance Guidelines its charters for its 2010

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Except the information required by Section 201d of Regulation S-Kwhich is set forth below the information required by Item 12 18

incorporated by reference to the definitive
proxy

statement with respect to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which the Company

has filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation i4A on or about March 2010

Number of securities

Number of securities Weighted average remaining available

to be issued upon exercise price of for future issuance

exercise of outstanding under equity

outstanding options options compensation plans

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

2009 Stocklncentive Plan 5023713 $29.13 5755609

64 2009 Non-employee Director Stock Compensation Plan 215433 29.06 555091

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders

Total 5239146 $29.13 6310700

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Transactions and Director Independence The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference

The information required by Item
13 incorporated by reference to the definitive

proxy statement with respect to the 2009 Annual

to the definitive
proxy

statement with respect to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which the Company expects to file with

Meeting of Shareholders which the Company has filed with the the Commission
pursuant to Regulation i4.A on or about March

Commission pursuant to Regulation i4A on or about March 2010

2010
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PartW

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Number

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 35

Consolidated Statements of Operations 36

Consolidated Balance Sheets 37

Cons olidated Statements of Cash Flows 38

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 39

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 40

Exhibits

Exhibit No Description

Exhibit io.i Time SharingAgreement dated as of December 2009 between the Company and R.S Evans

Exhibit 11 Computation of net income per share

Exhibit 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Exhibit
23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Exhibit 23 Consent of Hamilton Rabinovitz Associates Inc

Exhibit 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14a or i5d- 14a
Exhibit 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule isa-14a or 15d- 14a
Exhibit 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rulel3a- i4b or s5d- 14b
Exhibit

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule isa- i4b or 15d- i4b
65

Exhibits to Form io-K Documents incorporated by reference

The Companys Certificate of Incorporation as amended on May 25 999 contained in Exhibit 3A to the CompanysAnnual

Report on Form io-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 1999

Companys bylaws as amended on Januaxy 26 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.b to the CompanysAnnual

Report on Form so-K for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2009

Instruments Defining the Bights of Security Holders

Note dated September 2003 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

September 2003

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 26 2007 among Crane Co the borrowing

subsidiaries party thereto JP Morgan Chase Bank National Association as Administrative Agent Bank of America

N.A as Syndication Agent and Citibank N.A and The Bank of New York as Documentation Agents incorporated by

reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-Kfiled September 26 2007

Amendment No ito Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December i6 2008 incorporated by

reference to exhibit so to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-Kfiled December i9 2008

4b Indenture dated as of April 1991 between the Registrant and the Bank of NewYork incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2

to the CompanysAnnual Report on Form io-K for the year ended December3i 2005

10 Material Contracts

iii Compensatosy Plans

The Crane Co 1998 Non-Employee Director Restricted StockAward Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

the Companys Registration Statement No 333-50495 on Form S-8 filed with the Commission onApril 20 1998

The Crane Co 2000 Non-Employee Director Stock Compensation Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit ioa to

the Companys Quarterly Report on Form ioQ for the
quarter

ended March 31 2000

The employment agreement with Eric Fast incorporated by reference to Exhibit ioj to the Companys Annual

Report on Form io-K for the year ended December 31 2000
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The Crane Co ooi Stock Incentive Plan contained in Exhibit iob to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form io-Q

for the quarter ended March3i ooi

The employment agreement as amended with Robert Evans contained in Exhibit
10.3

to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form io-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2004

The Crane Co 2004 Stock Incentive Plan contained in Exhibit io.i to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form io-Q

for the quarter ended March 31 2004

The Crane Co Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors as amended December 2005 contained in Exhibit io.i

to the Companys Form 8-K filed January 2oo6

Form of Employment/Severance Agreement between the Company and certain executive officers which provides for

the continuation of certain employee benefits upon change in control incorporated by reference to Exhibit io.i to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10- for the
year

ended December 31 2oo6 Agreements in this form have been

entered into with the following executive officers Messrs duPont Fast Krawitt MacCarrick Maue Mitchell Noonan

and Perlitz and Ms Kopczick

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and certain executive officers incorporated by reference to

Exhibit io .z to the CompanysAnnual Report on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December3i 2006 Agreements in this

form have been entered into with each director and executive officer of the Company

Time SharingAgreement effective as of January 30 2007 between the Company and Fast incorporated by

reference to Exhibit
10.3

to the Companys Annual Report on Form io-K for the
year ended December 31 2006

2007 Stock Incentive Plan contained inAppendixAto the Companys Proxy Statement filed on March 2007

2007 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan contained inAppendix to the Companys Proxy Statement filed on

March 2007

The Crane Co Benefit Equalization Plan effective February 25 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form io-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008

66 EVA Incentive Compensation Plan for Operating Units incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys

Quarterly Report on Form io-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008

The Crane Co 2009 Stock Incentive Plan contained inAppendixAto the Companys Proxy Statement filed on March

2009

The Crane Co 2009 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan contained inAppendix to the Companys Proxy

Statement filed on March 2009

The 2009 Crane Co Corporate EVA Incentive Compensation Plan contained inAppendix to the Companys Proxy

Statement filed on March 2009



Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CRANE CO

Registrant

By Is E.C.FAST

E.G Fast

President Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf

of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Officers

By Is E.C FAsT By Is T.J MACCARRICK By Is R.A MAnE

E.G Fast T.J MacCarrick RA Maue

President and Vice President Vice President Controller

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Principal Accounting Officer

Date a/az/jo Principal Financial Officer Date a/az/b

Date a/za/io

Directors

By Is R.S EVANS By Is E.T BIGELOW By Is D.G CooK
67

R.S Evans Chairman of the Board E.T Bigelow D.G Cook

Date a/az/so Date a/az/o Date z/zz/lo

By /s/ K.E DYKSTRA By /s/ E.C FAsT By Is R.S FORTE

Dykstra E.G Fast R.S Forte

Date a/az/jo Date a/az/b Date 2/az/so

By Is D.R GARDNER By ____________________________ By Is P.R LOCHNER JR

DR Gardner W.E Lipner P.R Lochner Jr

Date z/zz/io Date a/az/so

By /s/ R.F MCKENNA By Is C.J QUEENAN JR By Is J.L.L TULLIS

R.F McKenna C.J Queenan Jr J.L.L Tullis

Date /az/io Date a/az/ic Date z/aa/o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

The Boards Goal Board Compensation
The Boards goal is to build long-term value for our shareholders director who is also our officer does not receive additional corn-

and to assure the vitality of the Company for its customers pensation for such service as director We believe that compensa

employees and the other individuals and organizations who depend tion for non-employee directors should be competitive and should

on us
encourage

increased ownership of our stock through the payment of

portion of director compensation in Company stock options to

Size of the Board purchase our stock or similarcompensation Directors fees

The Board believes that it should generally have no fewer than nine including any
additional amounts paid to the chairs of committees

and no more than twelve directors and to members of committees of the Board are the only

compensation member of the Audit Committee may receive from

Selection of New Directors us Any charitable contribution in excess of $10000 to charity or

The guidelines req-uire that nominees for director be those people other tax exempt organization in which director or executive offi

who after taking into account their skills expertise integrity cer of the Company is trustee or director or which under the rules

diversity and other qualities are believed to enhance the Boards established by the NYSE would cause director to be deemed not to

ability to manage and direct in an effective manner our business be independent requires the prior approval of the Nominating and

and affairs Governance Committee

The Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for
Board Operations

assessing the appropriate balance of criteria required of Board
The Board holds eight regularly scheduled meetings each year At

members
least one regularly scheduled meeting of the Board is held each

Each director is expected within five
years following his or her calendar quarter

election to the Board to own our stock in an amount that is equal in
Our non-management directors meet in executive session without

value to five times the directors annual retainer fee

management on regularly scheduled basis but not fewer than two

Other Public Company Directorships
times year The Chairman of the Board presides at such executive

sessions unless such person is member of our management If
Directors who also serve as chief executive officers should not serve

the Chairman is member of our management the presiding per-
on more than two public company boards in addition to the Board

son at executive sessions rotates on an annual basis among the
and other directors should not sit on more than four public com-

chairs of the Nominating and Governance Committee Audit

68 pany boards in addition to the Board The members of the Audit
Committee and Management Organization and CompensationCommittee should not serve on more than two other audit commit-
Committee

tees of public companies

Independence of the Board Strategic Direction of the Company
It is managements job under the direction of our Chief Executive

The Board shall be comprised of substantial
majority of directors

Officer to formalize propose and establish strategic direction
who quali as independent directors Independent Directors

subject to review and input by the Board It is also the primaryunder the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange the

NYSE The Board has adopted Standards for Director
responsibility of management under the direction of our Chief

Executive Officer to implement our business plans in accordance
Independence the text of which

appears on our website
with such strategic direction and for the Board to monitor and

evaluate with the assistance of our Chief Executive Officer strate
Retirement Policy for Directors

gic results
The Board does not believe that there should be fixed criteria requir

ingautomatic retirement fromthe Board However the Board
Board Access to Management

recognizes that there are certain events that could have an effect on
Board members have access to our management and as appro

persons ability to be an effective contributor to the Board proc
priate to our outside advisors

ess Accordingly each director who has attained the age of

served on the Board for fifteen
years or changed the position he or

Attendance of Management Person nel at Board
she held when he or she became member of the Board is expected

Meetings
to so noti1r the Nominating and Governance Committee and offer

The Board encourages the Chief Executive Officer to bring mem
to submit his or her resignation as director effective at such time

bers of management who are not directors into Board meetingsThe Nominating and Governance Committee will review the con-
from time to time to provide managements insight into items

tinued appropriateness of the affected director remaining on the

being discussed by the Board which involve the manager iimake
Board under the circumstances

presentations to the Board on matters which involve the manager

and iiibring managers with significant potential into contact with

the Board Attendance of such management personnel at Board

meetings is at the discretion of the Board
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